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Note to Reader: 

 

This Listing Statement contains the Non Offering Prospectus of Enertopia Corp. 
dated July 31, 2010, (the “Prospectus”). Certain sectors of the CNSX form of 
listing Statement have been included following the Prospectus to provide 
additional disclosure on the Company, as required by the CNSX, as well as 
updating certain information contained in the Prospectus. 
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No securities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about these securities and it is an 
offence to claim otherwise. 

NON-OFFERING PROSPECTUS 

Non-Offering Prospectus July 31, 2010 
 

 

ENERTOPIA CORP. 
Suite 950 – 1130 West Pender Street 

Vancouver, BC V6E 4A4 
Tel: (604) 602-1633 
Fax: (604) 685-1602 

No securities are being offered pursuant to this prospectus. This prospectus is being filed with the British Columbia 
Securities Commission for the purpose of allowing Enertopia Corp. (the “Company” or “Enertopia”) to become a 
reporting issuer in that jurisdiction and to enable the Company develop an organized market for its common shares. 

Since no securities are being offered pursuant to this prospectus, no proceeds will be raised and all expenses 
incurred in connection with the preparation and filing of this prospectus will be paid by the Company. 

There is currently limited availability on the Over the Counter Bulletin Board (“OTCBB”) through which the 
Company’s securities may be sold and shareholders may not be able to resell the securities of the Company 
owned by them.  The closing price of our common shares as quoted on the OTCBB on July 28, 2010 was 
$0.18.  

An investment in securities of the Company is speculative and involves a high degree of risk. In reviewing this 
prospectus, you should carefully consider the matters described under the heading “Risk Factors”. 

The Company is hereby qualifying for distribution in the Province of British Columbia all of its currently issued and 
outstanding shares of common stock. 

As at the date of this prospectus, the Company does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not applied to 
list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the Toronto 
Stock Exchange, a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the United States of America other than 
the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange or the PLUS markets operated by PLUS Markets 
Group plc. 

The Canadian National Stock Exchange (the “CNSX”) has conditionally accepted the listing of the Company’s 
common shares.  Listing will be subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the CNSX.  

No underwriters or selling agents have been involved in the preparation of this prospectus or performed any 
review or independent due diligence of the contents of this prospectus. 

The Company has a limited operating history with losses and the Company expects the losses to continue, 
which raises concerns about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

The Company is incorporated under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction. Although the Company has appointed 
Macdonald Tuskey of 1210, 777 Hornby Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6Z 1S4 as its agent for service of 
process in British Columbia, it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgements obtained in Canada against 
the Company.  
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Mr. Snyder resides outside of Canada. Although Mr. Snyder has appointed Macdonald Tuskey of 1210, 777 Hornby 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6Z 1S4 as its agent for service of process in British Columbia, it may not be 
possible for investors to enforce judgements obtained in Canada against Mr. Snyder.  

In this Prospectus, “we”, “us”, “our”, “Enertopia” and the “Company” refers to Enertopia Corp., a corporation 
incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Prospectus contains forward-looking statements and forward-looking information within the 
meaning of applicable securities legislation.  The use of any of the words "expect", "anticipate", 
"continue", "estimate", "may", "will", "should", "believe", "intend", "forecast", "plans", "guidance" and 
similar expressions is intended to identify forward-looking statements or information.  

More particularly and without limitation, this Prospectus contains forward-looking statements and 
information relating to the following:  

 the performance characteristics of the Company's proposed alternative energy projects;  

 projections of energy market prices and costs;  

 supply and demand for renewable energy;  

 expectations regarding the ability to raise capital;  

 future funds from operations;  

 capital programs;  

 debt levels;  

 treatment under governmental regulatory regimes and tax laws; and  

 capital expenditure programs.  

The forward-looking statements and information contained in this Prospectus are based on certain key 
expectations and assumptions made by the Company, including expectations and assumptions relating to 
prevailing commodity prices and exchange rates, applicable tax laws, the availability of capital to 
undertake planned expenditures and the availability and cost of labour and services.  

Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements and 
information in this Prospectus are reasonable, it can give no assurance that such expectations will prove to 
be correct. Since forward-looking statements and information address future events and conditions, by 
their very nature they involve inherent risks and uncertainties.  Actual results may differ materially from 
those currently anticipated due to a number of factors and risks.  These include, but are not limited to, the 
risks associated with the renewable energy industry in general, such as operational risks in design and 
construction, delays or changes in plans with respect to development or capital expenditures, the 
uncertainty of estimates and projections relating to production of solar, heat, wind, geothermal or other 
renewable energy rates, costs and expenses, competing energy price and exchange rate fluctuations, 
marketing and transportation, environmental risks, competition, the ability to access sufficient capital 
from internal and external sources and changes in tax, royalty and environmental legislation.  Statements 
relating to "reserves" or "resources" are deemed to be forward-looking statements, as they involve the 
implied assessment, based on certain estimates and assumptions, that the reserves described exist in the 
quantities predicted or estimated, and can be profitably produced in the future. Readers are cautioned that 
the foregoing list of factors and risks is not exhaustive.   

The forward-looking statements and information contained in this Prospectus are made as of the date 
hereof and, unless so required by applicable law, the Company undertakes no obligation to update 
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publicly or revise any forward-looking statements or information, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise.  The forward-looking statements and information contained in this Prospectus 
are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. 

Unless otherwise specified, all dollar amounts in this prospectus are expressed in United States 
dollars. 
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GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS 

Unless the context indicates otherwise, the following terms when used in this prospectus have the 
following meanings:  

 

 
Alternating Current (AC): Electric current from the power utility, a generator or inverter which changes 
direction of flow at frequent intervals. In the Western Hemisphere this is 120 times per second (60 cycles 
or hz). Most of the rest of the world operates on 50 cycle 
 
Alternative fuel: As defined in the Energy Policy Act of 1992 (EPACT): 

 Methanol, denatured ethanol and other alcohols, separately or in blends of at least 10 percent by 
volume with gasoline or other fuels 

 Compressed natural gas 
 Liquefied natural gas 
 Liquefied propane gas 
 Hydrogen 
 Coal derived liquid fuels 
 Fuels other than alcohols derived from biological materials 
 Electricity 
 Biodiesel 
 Any other fuel determined to be substantially not petroleum and yielding potential energy 

security benefits and substantial environmental benefits. 
 

Amorphous: Any Silicon PV module type that is non-crystalline and not based on individual cells; often 
used interchangeably with THIN-FILM. Though less efficient than crystalline cellular technologies, 
amorphous types use potentially less expensive manufacturing techniques and can be made into non-flat, 
or even flexible, modules. See also SOLAR CELL, THIN-FILM. 

 
Ampere (A) or Amp: The unit for electric current as in the flow of electrons. Describes the quantity of 
electrons passing a point in one second. It will often be shown on a photovoltaic module label as "I" for 
intensity 
 
Ballast mount: A type of PV ARRAY MOUNT that does not use penetration anchors for attachment to 
the mounting surface, but instead relies on weights (ballast) to hold the structure in place against wind 
load forces. Ballast mounts are often used on flat-roof commercial installations; common ballast materials 
include cement blocks or pavers. See also GROUND/ROOF MOUNT. 

 
Barrel of oil equivalent: A unit of energy equal to the amount of energy contained in a barrel of crude 
oil. Approximately 5.78 million Btu or 1,700 kWh. A barrel is a liquid measure equal to 42 gallons. 
 
Biodegradable: Capable of decomposing rapidly under natural conditions. 
 
 Biodiesel: A biofuel produced through transesterification, a process in which organically-derived oils are 
combined with alcohol (ethanol or methanol) in the presence of a catalyst to form ethyl or methyl ester. 
The biomass-derived ethyl or methyl esters can be blended with conventional diesel fuel or used as a neat 
fuel (100% biodiesel). Biodiesel can be made from soybean or rapeseed oils, animal fats, waste vegetable 
oils or microalgae oils. 
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British thermal unit: (Btu) A unit of heat energy equal to the heat needed to raise the temperature of one 
pound of water one degree Fahrenheit at one atmosphere pressure (sea level). 
 
Cell: The basic unit of a pv module or battery. In a pv module the cell produces around 0.45 to 0.5 volt, 
the more cells the higher the voltage. A lead acid battery cell produces about 2.0 volts (a 12 volt battery 
will have 6 cells.) 
 
Cell Techology 

e.g. Monocrystalline, Polycrystalline, Thin-film 
Monocrystalline: These modules' cells are made from very thin wafers of purified silicon grown 
in single-crystal boules. They offer the highest efficiency of crystalline silicon module types. 
Polycrystalline: These modules' cells are made from very thin wafers of purified silicon grown 
in multi-crystal ingots. They have similar characteristics to monocrystalline modules, at slightly 
lower efficiency and (usually) price. 
String Ribbon: This propriety cell technology, developed by Evergreen Solar of Massachusetts, 
is nearest in specification to polycrystalline technology, though slightly lower in efficiency. 
Production of these cells involves pulling two "strings" (wires) up from a vat of molten silicon, 
between which a film of the molten material rises, suspended, in a manner similar to drawing out 
a soap bubble from a bottle of soap solution with a bubble wand. String ribbon cells contain less 
silicon than crystalline cells, so tend to be slightly less expensive and to require less total energy 
for production, meaning more rapid payback of their embodied energy. 
Amorphous-Si (also A-Si, where Si stands for Silicon): The term "thin-film" is often loosely 
applied to these modules but can also include elements other than. A-Si modules are not 
necessarily based on discrete cells wired in series, as in crystalline modules. The efficiencies of 
A-Si, and of thin-film in general, are significantly lower than for crystalline silicon modules; this 
means it will take more surface area of A-Si modules to produce the same amount of power as 
with crystalline modules. 
C.I.G.S.: Copper Indium Gallium di-Selenide; an example of a thin-film PV technology that does 
not use silicon to produce the photovoltaic effect and electric current. 
 

Condenser: A heat-transfer device that reduces a fluid from a vapor phase to a liquid phase. 
 
Current: The flow of electricity (electrons) between two points having a difference in potential (voltage.) 
 
Diode: A one-way electrical gate which allows current to travel in one direction only. 
 
Direct Current: Electric current which travels in one direction only, such as that produced by a pv 
module or storage battery. 
 
Fixed tilt 

e.g. Fixed tilt PV array 
also known as: Fixed array 
Refers to the tilt angle of a flat-plate solar ARRAY, in relation to the ground, being static and not 
adjustable. Some mounts, such as pole-top mounts and roof/ground mounts with adjustable legs, 
allow seasonal tilt adjustment. The rest are installed at a fixed tilt angle, usually equal to the 
location latitude, in degrees from horizontal. 

 
Gasification: A chemical or heat process to convert a solid fuel to a gaseous form. 
 
Geothermal energy: Energy derived from the natural heat of the Earth contained in hot rocks, hot water, 
hot brines or steam. 
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Grid-Tie: An alternative energy system that output alternating current into the building's wiring. Any 
power not used will feed into the electrical grid. 
 
Head:  e.g. 10' head. In hydropower systems, the vertical distance the water falls between capture (inlet) 
and the turbine itself. In conjunction with flow rate, head is used to determine the power and energy 
output potential of a given hydro turbine installation. Most turbines have specific operating ranges for 
head and flow values. 
 
Hybrid System: A power generating system that has more than one power source such as: photovoltaic, 
wind, hydro or an auxillary generator. 
 
Insolation: Sunlight, either direct or reflected which is usually measured in watts per square meter. Used 
to determine the available sunshine in a given location for sizing a photovolatic system. 
 
Inverter: A device which converts direct current from a battery (or photovoltaic modules in a grid-tie 
system) into 120 or 240 volt a.c. 
 
Module: A single photovoltaic module (solar panel). 
 
Mulitcrystalline: Photovoltaic cells that have semi-random orientation of the structure. They look like 
broken sheets of colored glass. 
 
Photovoltaic (PV): Referring to the direct conversion of light into electricity. 
 
Photovoltaic Array: Connecting of one or more pv module(s) so they act as one electricity producing 
unit. 
 
Photovoltaic Cell: The smallest semi-conductor part in a pv module, the building block of the module. 
 
Photovoltaic Module: A series of photovoltaic cells mounted in a self-contained package, also known as 
a solar panel. 
 
Photovoltaic System: A complete assembly from the pv module(s) to the power consuming loads. 
 
Pyrolysis: The thermal decomposition of biomass at high temperatures (greater than 400 degrees 
Fahrenheit, or 200 degrees Celcius) in the absence of air. Also called destructive distillation. The end 
product of pyrolysis is a mixture of solids (char), liquids (oxygenated oils), and gases (methane, carbon 
monoxide, and carbon dioxide) with proportions determined by operating temperature, pressure, oxygen 
content, and other conditions. 
 
Retrofitting: The application of conservation, efficiency, or renewable energy technologies to existing 
structures. 
 
Series Connection: Connecting two or more electrical producing devices, such as pv modules, or storage 
devices, such as batteries, so the voltage increases but the capacity (amperage or amp/hours) remains the 
same. This is done by connecting positive to negative and so on. 
 
Solar Constant: The strength of sunlight which is about 1000 watts per square meter at sea level at the 
equator. 
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Solar Energy: Energy from the sun. Solar radiation exploited for hot water production and electricity 
generation. Concentrating solar power (CSP) technologies use reflective materials to concentrate the 
sun's heat energy, which ultimately drives a generator to produce electricity. These technologies include 
dish/engine systems, parabolic troughs, and central power towers. Low-temperature solar 
collectors also absorb the sun's heat energy, but the heat is used directly for hot water or space heating for 
residential, commercial, and industrial facilities 
 
Tilt-Angle: This is the angle of a pv module in relation to level which will orient it as close as possible to 
being perpendicular to the sun for maximum power production. 
 
Tracking PV Array: A photovoltaic array that follows the path of the sun to maximize the solar 
radiation incident to the pv surface. The two most common orientations are a one axis where the array 
tracks the sun east to west and a two axis where the array points directly at the sun at all times. Tracking 
arrays use both the direct and diffused sunlight. The most common drive mechanisms are electric, using 
pv modules at each end of the array to keep it centered on the sun and a freon driven which uses the heat 
differential between each end of the array. 
 
Transformer: An electromagnetic device which steps up or steps down an alternating current. 
 
Watt (W)(James Watt): The unit of electrical power or amount of work done. One ampere of current 
flowing at a potential of one volta produces one watt of power. 
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SUMMARY OF PROSPECTUS 

The following is a summary of the information contained in this prospectus and should be read together 
with the more detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this 
prospectus. 

Capitalized terms used in this summary, which are not defined in the summary, have the meanings 
ascribed to them elsewhere in this prospectus. Unless otherwise indicated, references to the “Company”, 
“Enertopia”, “we”, “us” and similar terms are to Enertopia Corp.  

Principal Business of the Company 

Enertopia Corp. was formed on November 24, 2004 under the laws of the State of Nevada and 
commenced operations on November 24, 2004.  From inception until April 2008, the Company was 
primarily engaged in the acquisition and exploration of natural resource properties. Beginning in April 
2008, the Company began its entry into the clean energy sector by purchasing an interest in a solar 
thermal design and installation company. 

The Company is a renewable energy company that is pursuing business opportunities in several cleantech 
sectors, including: Solar PV (Photovoltaic), Solar Thermal (Hot Water), Energy Retrofits and Recovery, 
Solar powered Filtered Drinking Water. The Company currently has oil and gas resources properties and 
the Company intends to dispose of those assets in the near future.  

The Company has offices in Vancouver, BC, Canada and in Kelowna, BC, Canada. 

The Company’s common stock is currently quoted on the PINK OTC under the symbol 
“ENRT”.  The Company began trading on the Over The Counter Bulletin Board (“OTCBB”) on 
March 29, 2006 and was subsequently removed from quotation on the OTCBB on March 26, 
2010 due to a lack of market makers covering the Company’s common stock. Market makers 
decided, for reasons that are not known to the Company, that it was to their advantage to quote 
the Company’s stock on the Pink Market only, as of March 26, 2010. The Company was not 
aware of and was not informed of this change until after the fact. In June 2010, Pennaluna & 
Company submitted an application pursuant to FINRA Rule 6440 and Rule 15c2-11 to have our 
shares re-quoted on the OTCBB. Effective July 22, 2010, we received notice that our shares were 
cleared for trading and would be re-quoted under the symbol "ENRT" on the OTC Bulletin 
Board.  

 

The Company has an 8.25% equity investment in Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd., a clean technology energy 
company involved in designing, developing and installing solar energy solutions for commercial and 
residential customers.  Approximately 41% of the equity securities of Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd. is owned 
and controlled by our Chief Executive Officer, Christopher Bunka. 

Effective January 31, 2010, the Company entered into a Independent Sales and Marketing Representative 
Agreement with Global Solar Water Power Systems Inc. ("GSWPS"), a private company beneficially 
owned by Mark Snyder, the Company’s Chief Technical Officer. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, 
GSWPS agreed to appoint the Company as its independent sales representative to solicit orders for those 
solar and/or wind turbine powered water filtration products marked from time to time by GSWPS and/or 
the Company on an exclusive basis in Africa and non-exclusive basis throughout the rest of the world, 
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with the exception of Iraq. In consideration for services to be rendered by the Company under the 
agreement, the Company will receive a minimum of 5% of the net invoice price from any product orders 
and not more than 12% of the net invoice price. The Company and GSWPS have the right to jointly 
determine specific sales cases individually to generate unique commissions by their joint agreement on a 
case by case basis. The agreement expires on January 31, 2015. 

 

The Company also has a 6.04% equity investment in GSWPS.  Under the terms of the agreement, the 
Company may acquire up to a 20% equitable ownership interest in GSWPS. GSWPS is a clean 
technology company involved in designing, developing and installing solar PV and thermal energy 
solutions, water filtration systems, and energy recovery design. 

The Company still has an interest in two exploration oil and gas properties: The first is Coteau Lake, 
Saskatchewan. The Company has no producing oil or gas wells on this property. Coteau Lake covers 
2,080 acres of land. The Company’s gross and net interest in this project is 50%.  The second property is 
Glen Park, Alberta, which covers three 160 acre parcels of land that are believed to be prospective for reef 
development and the potential accumulation of oil deposits. The Company currently has a 50% interest on 
one parcel, and a 100% interest in two parcels of land in the Glen Park prospect area.  

The Company previously held interests in a single well to be drilled in Mississippi, USA, through 
assignments from Cheetah Oil & Gas Ltd. and Lexaria Corp but each of these interests have since been 
converted into common shares of Cheetah Oil & Gas Ltd. and of Lexaria Corp. 

The Company is in the process of attempting to dispose and monetize its oil and gas assets and expects to 
complete the process as soon as practical, while maximizing shareholder value.  

The Company is a reporting issuer in the Province of British Columbia. The Company is filing this 
prospectus to allow our previously issued shares to be re-sold in certain jurisdictions without an 
exemption from the prospectus and registration requirements of certain securities legislation.  

The Canadian National Stock Exchange (the “CNSX”) has conditionally accepted the listing of the 
Company’s common shares.  Listing will be subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing 
requirements of the CNSX.  

 

See “Narrative Description of the Business”. 

Use of Funds Available 

We intend to fund our business using the proceeds of prior private placement financings. As at May 31, 
2010, we had a working capital surplus of $275,541.  Our estimated working capital as at the most recent 
month end prior to filing the prospectus was a surplus of $235,185 (June 30, 2010). We intend to carry 
out equity financings by way of private placements once our common shares are listed on the CNSX, 
although there is no assurance that such financing will be available or that our common shares will be 
listed on the CNSX. 

We intend to spend the funds available to us as stated in this prospectus. There may be circumstances, 
however, where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of the funds available may be necessary. 
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Risk Factors 

An investment in an alternative energy company involves a significant degree of risk, including risks 
related to cash flow and liquidity, the ongoing need for financing, a volatile stock price, operational risks 
and costs, regulatory matters and environmental legislation, risks related to property contracts, regulatory 
and permitting delays, fluctuation of key indicators such as interest and exchange rates, and competition 
for key personnel. The above list of risk factors is not intended to be a definitive list of all risks associated 
with the Company. See “Risk Factors”. 

Summary Financial Information 

The following selected financial information is subject to the detailed information contained in the 
financial statements of the Company and related notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. The 
selected financial information is derived from the unaudited financial statements for the Company as at 
May 31, 2010 and the audited financial statements for the Company as at August 31, 2009 and August 31, 
2008.  
 

 Nine months ended 
May 31, 2010 

$ 

Year ended  
August 31, 2009 

$ 

Year ended  
August 31, 2008 

$ 

Revenue 11,861 97,417 194,465 

Net Income (Loss) (2,284,736) 84,233 (372,535) 

Earnings (Loss) per Common 
Share 

(0.15) 0.01 (0.03) 

Total Assets 1,316,667 3,952,771 3,837,856 

Long-term debt 216,317 762,704 762,704 

Number of Common Shares 15,710,240 14,652,740 14,652,740 

Total Liabilities 257,991 892,224 901,732 

See “Selected Financial Information and Management’s Discussion and Analysis”. 

Currency 

Unless otherwise indicated, all currency amounts herein are stated in US Dollars.  
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

Name, Incorporation and Overview 

The Company’s corporate name is “Enertopia Corp.”.  The Company was formed on November 24, 2004 
under the laws of the State of Nevada pursuant to Chapter 78 of the Nevada Revised Statutes under the 
name “Golden Aria Corp.” and commenced operations on November 24, 2004.  The Company’s entry 
into the oil and gas business began on April 6, 2005. Until April 2008, the Company was primarily 
engaged in the acquisition and exploration of natural resource properties. Beginning in April 2008, the 
Company began its entry into the clean energy sector by purchasing an interest in a solar thermal design 
and installation company. The Company has offices in Vancouver, BC, Canada and Kelowna, BC, 
Canada.   

The Company’s head office is located at Suite 950 – 1130 West Pender Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 4A4, 
Tel: (604) 602-1633, Fax: (604) 685-1602.  The Company’s registered office is located at 1210, 777 
Hornby Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6Z 1S4. 

The Company filed a Registration Statement on Form SB-2 under the United States Securities Act of 
1933, as amended, which went effective with the United States Securities Exchange Commission on 
March 29, 2006.  Since such time the Company has been a reporting issuer under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended.  As a result the Company has been subject to the requirements of Regulation 
13A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which requires the Company to file annual 
reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and current reports on Form 8-K.  Copies of these 
documents are available at www.sec.gov. 

The Company’s common stock is currently quoted on the PINK OTC under the symbol “ENRT”.  The 
Company began trading on the OTCBB on March 29, 2006. Effective March 26, 2010, the Company had 
its stock quotation under the symbol “GLCP” deleted from the OTCBB.  The symbol was deleted for 
factors beyond the Company’s control due to various market makers electing to shift their orders from the 
OTCBB to the Pink OTC. As a result of these market makers not providing a quote on the OTCBB for 
four consecutive days, the Company was deemed to be deficient in maintaining a listing standard at the 
OTCBB pursuant to Rule 15c2-11. That determination was made entirely without the Company’s 
knowledge.  In June 2010, Pennaluna & Company submitted an application pursuant to FINRA 
Rule 6440 and Rule 15c2-11 to have our shares re-quoted on the OTCBB. Effective July 22, 
2010, we received notice that our shares were cleared for trading and would be re-quoted under 
the symbol "ENRT" on the OTC Bulletin Board. 

Due to the implementation of British Columbia Instrument 51-509 on September 30, 2008 by the British 
Columbia Securities Commission, the Company has been deemed to be a British Columbia based 
reporting issuer.  As such, the Company is required to file certain information and documents at 
www.sedar.com. 

Effective September 25, 2009, the Company amended its Articles of Incorporation to undertake a one (1) 
for two (2) share consolidation of its authorized and issued and outstanding common stock.  As a result, 
the Company’s authorized capital decreased from 75,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of 
$0.001 to 37,500,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $0.001 and its issued and outstanding 
shares decreased from 29,305,480 shares of common stock to 14,652,740 shares of common stock. 

On December 11, 2009, the Company’s board of directors amended and restated the Company’s bylaws. 
The amendment and restatement of the bylaws was for the purpose of, among other things, removing 
certain outdated and redundant provisions that existed in the Company’s prior bylaws with respect to 



 

{WLMLAW W0063670.DOC}6 

corporate governance, shareholder and director meeting procedures, and indemnification procedures. The 
changes to the Company’s prior bylaws include: (i) expanding certain provisions with respect to 
shareholders’ meetings including change of quorum requirements; (ii) amending certain provisions 
respecting appointment of directors, corporate governance and committees, and directors’ meetings; (iii) 
expanding certain provisions with respect to officers and their duties; (iv) changing certain provisions 
with respect to share certificates; and (vi) adding certain indemnification provisions. 

 

On February 22, 2010, the Company had increased its authorized share capital from 37,500,000 common 
shares to 200,000,000 common shares. 

Effective March 26, 2010, Enertopia Corp. (the “Company”) had its stock quotation under the symbol 
“GLCP” deleted from the OTC Bulletin Board.  The symbol was deleted for factors beyond the 
Company’s control due to various market makers electing to shift their orders from the OTCBB to the 
Pink OTC Markets Inc. As a result of these market makers not providing a quote on the OTCBB for four 
consecutive days the Company was deemed to be deficient in maintaining a listing standard at the 
OTCBB pursuant to Rule 15c2-11. That determination was made entirely without the Company’s 
knowledge.  In June 2010, Pennaluna & Company submitted an application pursuant to FINRA 
Rule 6440 and Rule 15c2-11 to have our shares re-quoted on the OTCBB. Effective July 22, 
2010, we received notice that our shares were cleared for trading and would be re-quoted under 
the symbol "ENRT" on the OTC Bulletin Board. 

On April 7, 2010, FINRA confirmed the name change from Golden Aria Corp. to Enertopia Corp., and 
approved the Company’s new symbol as ENRT. On February 5, 2010, the Company’s shareholders 
approved an amendment to the Company’s articles of incorporation to change its name from Golden Aria 
Corp. to Enertopia Corp. The name change was effected with the Nevada Secretary of State on February 
8, 2010. 

On May 31, 2010, the Company closed a private placement financing of 557,500 units at a price of $0.15 
per unit for gross proceeds of $83,625. Each unit consisted of one common share in the capital of the 
Company and one non-transferable share purchase warrant, each full warrant entitling the holder to 
purchase one additional common share in the capital of the Company until May 31, 2012, at a purchase 
price of $0.30 per share. 
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Inter-Corporate Relationships  
 

 
 
 
 
On October 15, 2007, the Company entered into a share exchange agreement with Target Energy, Inc. 
(“Target”), a private Nevada corporation, and the former shareholders of Target. The closing of the 
transactions contemplated in the share exchange agreement and the acquisition of all of the issued and 
outstanding common stock in the capital of Target occurred on November 30, 2007.  The Company issued 
6,905,000 shares (post consolidation) of its common stock to the shareholders of Target and in so doing 
acquired 100% of all issued Target shares from those shareholders who had owned 13,810,000 shares of 
Target.   

On April 21, 2008, the Company purchased 900,000 shares for $45,000 in Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd. 
(“Pro Eco Energy”) which represented 8.25% ownership.  The Chairman of the Company is a Director in 
Pro Eco Energy and owns 41.28% of the common shares of Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd, which established 
the existence of significant influence in Pro Eco Energy and accordingly the equity method of accounting 
is adopted for the investment.   

During the nine months ended May 31, 2010, the Company recorded an equity loss of $2,293, which 
resulted in a net investment of $33,529. 
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On February 28, 2010, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement with Mr. Mark Snyder to 
acquire up to 20% of ownership in Global Solar Water Power Systems Inc. (“GSWPS”), a private US 
corporation that is solely owned by an Officer of the Company.  The Company initially purchased a 
5.62% equity investment in GSWPS by making a cash contribution of $40,500 and issuing 500,000 
common stocks at a fair value of $0.20 per share to Mr. Mark Snyder.  For reporting and accounting 
purposes, the Fair Market Value of the 500,000 issued shares was deemed to be $0.25 per share. GSWPS 
is owned by an Officer of the Company. 

As of May 31, 2010, the Company had increased its ownership of GSWPS to 6.04%. 

NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 

Our Current Business 
 
The Company is a renewable energy company that is pursuing business opportunities in several clean-
technology sectors, including: Solar PV (Photovoltaic), Solar Thermal (Hot Water), Energy Retrofits and 
Recovery, Solar powered Filtered Drinking Water. 
 
The Company’s business plan does not anticipate that it will hire a large number of employees or that it 
will require extensive office space. The Company will hire third-party consulting engineers or other 
experts on an as-needed basis to provide engineering and design elements when necessary.  This provides 
the Company with the required expertise it needs, when it’s needed, whilst avoiding high fixed long-term 
costs of having such persons on staff. The Company will either hire workers on a contract basis as 
needed, for most of its needs, or enter into subcontract agreements with others for those services. 

The Company relies on the business experience of its existing management and on the technical abilities 
of consulting experts to evaluate business opportunities. The Company has a 8.25% equity investment in 
to Pro Eco Energy, Inc., a clean tech energy company involved in designing, developing and installing 
solar energy solutions for commercial and residential customers.  The Company also has a 6.04% equity 
investment in Global Solar Power Systems Inc, as of May 31, 2010.  Under the terms of the agreement, 
the Company may acquire up to a 20% equitable ownership interest in Global Solar Power Systems Inc. 

Equity Investment in Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd. 

On April 21, 2008, we acquired a passive minority interest in Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd., a private 
corporation focused on the installation and integration of alternative energy – mainly solar thermal – 
systems in Western Canada. We also welcomed the President of Pro Eco Energy, Mr. Roger Huber, as the 
first member of our Clean Tech Advisory board. Mr. Huber has a long career in optimizing energy 
solutions and his knowledge and wide industry contacts are expected to help us develop our alternative 
energy solutions. 

Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd. owns 100% of the shares of a wholly-owned subsidiary company in Canada 
called Pro Eco Energy Ltd. (together, “Pro Eco”). The Chairman of our Company is a director and 
shareholder of Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd. 

Mr. Roger Huber has been active in the fields of clean energy design and installations for many years. 
Through his private consulting and construction companies, he has helped to design and construct many 
of the largest solar thermal projects in Western Canada, These include the Best Western Hotel in 
Kelowna, British Columbia; the North Vancouver Public Library; the Comfort Inn in Red Deer, Alberta, 
and others. Pro Eco primarily services commercial clients and is both an installation and consulting 
company.  
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Pro Eco’s range of services includes: 

1. Consulting. Pro Eco evaluates customer’s current energy needs and helps recommend ways that 
can optimize savings and energy efficiency; and 

2. Design. Pro Eco designs personalized, custom systems to take the greatest advantage of the 
customer’s unique geographical setting, fuel costs and availability, and building construction; and 

3. Installation. Pro Eco’s experts install and support a wide variety of commercial and residential 
systems including solar thermal, ground-source heat pumps, and heat recovery. 

Pro Eco specializes in both energy retrofits of commercial buildings, and systems for new commercial 
construction. 

Pro Eco has mainly focused its activities throughout British Columbia, Alberta and Saskatchewan. Pro 
Eco’s prior projects included a number of large and small companies, including hotels and apartment 
buildings, and residential installations.  Some of Pro Eco’s recent projects include: 

1. North Vancouver Library 

2. Listel Hotel 

3. Singer Specialized Trucking 

4. Gateway Bonavista 

5. Burrowing Owl Winery 

6. Renaissance Retirement Residences 

7. Strata Corporation 

8. Best Western Inn 

9. Comfort Inn & Suites 

10. Inn at Big White 

 

At the request of the Company, Pro Eco is currently designing an energy recovery and retrofit system at 
an existing facility in Alberta. The anticipated project includes recovery and reuse of “waste” heat and 
replacement of certain equipment. The Company has signed a non-binding letter of intent (“LOI”) with 
the potential client and is working towards fulfilling the terms of this LOI. If this non-binding LOI turns 
into an actual contract to perform the work anticipated, it could have a material impact upon the 
Company. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to meet the terms of the LOI, that a 
contract will be entered into or complete the anticipated project.  

Equity Investment in Global Solar Water Power Systems Inc. 
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Effective February 28, 2010, we entered into an asset and share purchase agreement with Mr. Mark 
Snyder to acquire up to 20% ownership of Global Solar Water Power Systems Inc. (“GSWPS”), a private 
company beneficially owned by Mark Snyder, our company’s Chief Technical Officer.  GSWPS owns 
certain technology invented and developed by Mark Snyder for the design and manufacture of certain 
water filtration equipment.  Under the terms of the agreement, we may acquire up to a 20% equitable 
ownership interest in Global Solar payable as follows: 

(a) for the initial 10% equity interest, by the issuance of 500,000 restricted shares of our 
common stock at a deemed price of US $0.20 per share, payable within 10 days of 
signing the agreement;  

(b) for the initial 10% equity interest, cash payments and/or deferred commissions totalling 
$150,000 payable in instalments of $3,500 per month; 

(c) for the additional 10% equity interest, the issuance of 500,000 restricted shares of our 
common stock at any time up to December 31, 2011; and 

(d) for the additional 10% equity interest, cash payments and/or deferred commissions 
totalling $250,000 paid a minimum of $3,500 per month and beginning not later than 
December 31, 2011,  as further described in the agreement. 

Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, GSWPS is required to pay our proportionate interest in any after 
tax profits on a quarterly basis.  The Company’s management obtained an independent valuation dated 
February 5, 2010 in support of the value ascribed to the proposed equity interest in GSWPS. As at May 
31, 2010, the Company has paid $51,000 in US dollars and issued 500,000 restricted shares of the 
Company’s common stock, following which the Company has acquired a 6.04% equity interest in 
GSWPS.  

Mark Snyder, through his previous private electrical contracting and consulting businesses, has been 
involved in the energy efficiency industries for more than 25 years. He and his companies have installed 
or repaired more than 7,000 solar photovoltaic systems.  

In 1985 Mark and his team imported and installed what was at the time the largest biomass energy plant 
in Southern California in Escondido. From 1998 to 2002, Mark Snyder Electric supervised electrical 
installations at nearly 5,000 convenience stores across America. 

Mark served on a White House Council addressing national infrastructure. In 2006 he installed the 
world’s largest passive solar tracking system at 90KW, for the Alpine School District. With Mark’s help, 
Alpine School District achieved the status of America’s first net zero energy school. 

In 2009 Mark was awarded a contract to invent and build 328 portable tracking solar powered water 
purification units for the Ministry of Iraq to serve 600,000 Iraqi villagers, and this contract was fulfilled 
prior to the end of 2009. 

Also on January 31, 2010, the Company entered into an Independent Sales and Marketing Representative 
Agreement with GSWPS.  Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, GSWPS agreed to appoint the 
Company as its independent sales representative to solicit orders for those solar and/or wind turbine 
powered water filtration products marketed from time to time by GSWPS and/or the Company on an 
exclusive basis in Africa and non-exclusive basis throughout the rest of the world, with the exception of 
Iraq. In consideration for services to be rendered by the Company under the agreement, the Company will 
receive a minimum of 5% of the net invoice price from any product orders and not more than 12% of the 
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net invoice price. The Company and GSWPS have the right to jointly determine specific sales cases 
individually to generate unique commissions by their joint agreement on a case by case basis. The 
agreement expires on January 31, 2015. 

One of GSWPS’s business lines is the business of developing and manufacturing a portable solar powered 
trailer mounted water purification units (the “System”) that can be delivered and operated nearly 
anywhere in the world and can provide a village, resort, or remote work-camps with all their drinking 
water and domestic water requirements. The technology was developed in 2009 by Mark Snyder, Chief 
Technology Officer of the Company, and Mark Snyder is the President of GSWPS. Over 300 locations in 
war-torn Iraq are now benefiting from clean drinking water as a result of the deployment of these systems, 
which were delivered to Iraq during 2009, prior to the Company’s involvement. 

Each System is comprised of three major sub-systems: the water intake system; the water filtration system 
and the solar energy system. The water intake system uses a roughly 20 foot long "straw" to draw water 
from a river, lake or marsh and deliver it under pressure to the filtration unit. In the straw is a submersible 
pump operating on direct current from half of the solar panels that draws the water through "gill slits" cut 
into the wall of the straw below the water line. Acting as the first line of filtration, these gills screen out 
all large contaminants and feed the water to a "gravel pack" within the straw. The gravel pack filters the 
water a second time and then the pump forces the water into the "river hose" for delivery to the filtration 
unit. 

The river hose is a 20 meter long flexible pvc hose surrounded by thermoplastic insulation and wrapped 
in a highly reflective metallic tape. The insulation and tape serve a dual purpose: first to keep the water 
from direct sunlight and thus minimize algae growth and second to keep the water as cool as possible 
from the intense desert sun. Because the pump is substantially overpowered, an additional 20 meters of 
hose could be added to facilitate less accessible water sources. The second sub-system, the water unit is a 
trailer borne filtration system to provide a minimum of 1000 liters of potable water per hour. It uses a 
multi-stage filtration process, involving membranes and screen filters, and includes a back wash cycle to 
clean the filter/membranes hourly. Additionally, an injection tank and valve are provided to inject a 20% 
chlorine solution monthly for membrane maintenance. 

Water enters the filtration unit at the top where a simple radiator dissipates heat from the unit and keeps 
the water as cool as possible. The radiator is made of PVC pipe through which the cool river water is 
slowly pushed, absorbing heat and then entering the filtration system. 

The last sub-system is the solar energy system.  

Attaching 10 foot long trussed "outriggers" to the central mast gives massive leverage against powerful 
winds. On the end of each outrigger sits a 55 gallon oil drum (or other ballast), filled with sand, another 
renewable resource. The barrels are tightly strapped to the outrigger and sit on flat "shoes" that distribute 
their weight. 

The free-standing mobile solar panel array utilizes six 175 watt panels, generating just over one kilowatt 
of power, evenly distributed between the filtration system (running on alternating current) and the 
submersible pump (running on direct current). Current modifications being considered include a trailer 
mounted tracking system and a floating platform-deployed straw for water bodies that are too shallow 
near shore (marsh and swamp areas in tidal zones and estuaries) to utilize the submersible pump. 
Desalinization is another potential major advancement, if that technology can be economically downsized 
for trailer borne systems. 
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Each unit can be installed by two men, one a qualified electrician or pump technician, the other a helper. 
Loading and unloading may require additional manpower but only for a limited time. The heaviest 
component weights about 250 pounds and can be tilted into place by two men. 

Wind turbine powered units are in development for applications in remote locations that do not enjoy 
sufficient sunlight hours, bringing clean drinking water to all the corners of the world. All the units 
employ various filtering, membrane and UV technology to deliver potable drinking water. 

The Company believes it has formed a strong partnership with Mark Snyder and GSWPS that will enable 
the Company to leverage Mark’s wide-ranging expertise to the benefit of the Company’s shareholders. 

Three-Year History and Significant Acquisitions and Dispositions 

The Company was initially engaged in the acquisition and exploration of natural resource properties. The 
Company commenced operations in November 2004 and discontinued such operations in April 2010. As 
a result, the foregoing discussion describes the Company’s operations while it was involved in the 
acquisition and exploration of natural resource properties.   

On April 6, 2005, the Company entered into an Exploration Agreement with Options for a Joint Venture 
with Miranda U.S.A., Inc. (“Miranda”). The Company had the option of acquiring an undivided 60% 
interest in Miranda’s lease in sixty-four mineral claims situated in Eureka County, Nevada.  During the 
fiscal year ended August 31, 2007, the Company abandoned its option to acquire the 60% interest in the 
Eureka County mineral lease claims. 

As management of the Company investigated opportunities and challenges in the business of being a 
mineral property exploration company, management realized that the business did not present the best 
opportunity for the Company to realize value for its shareholders. Accordingly, the Company abandoned 
its previous business plan and focused on the exploration and development of natural gas and oil 
properties. 

On April 16, 2007, the Company acquired a 25% (net 15%) before payout (“BPO”) (12.5% (net 7.5%) 
after payout (“APO”)) interest in the Queensdale, Saskatchewan Project from 0743608 B.C. Ltd. 
(Assignor), a company controlled by a Director/CEO of the Company, for a total cost of CAD$250,000 
and the issuance of 250,000 shares (post consolidation) of the Company’s common stock (known as the 
Queensdale property). 

On November 30, 2007, the Company completed the acquisition of all the issued and outstanding 
common stock of Target Energy, Inc. pursuant to a share exchange agreement dated October 15, 2007 
among the Company, as purchaser, and all of the shareholders of Target Energy, as vendors. In exchange 
for all of the issued and outstanding shares of Target Energy, the Company issued to the shareholders of 
Target Energy an aggregate of 6,905,000 shares (post consolidation) of the Company’s common stock.  
Through the acquisition of Target Energy, the Company acquired an 8% gross interest before payout in 
the Queensdale, Queensdale West HZ 4A9-25/3A15-25-6-2 W2 well (known as the Queensdale West 
property).  The Company also acquired a 3.75% net interest in two wells located in Wordsworth, 
Saskatchewan (known as the Wordsworth property). 
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On May 14, 2008, the Company acquired one land parcel of 160 acres in the Glen Park area of central 
Alberta, Canada. The Company subsequently entered into a 50/50 Joint Venture with Vanguard 
Exploration to explore and develop the joint lands on Alberta Petroleum and Natural Gas Lease No. 
0408050364. The joint venture owns the Petroleum and Natural Gas rights below the base of the 
Mannville GRP to basement.  

On June 11, 2008, the Company acquired two land parcels of 160 acres each in the Glen Park area of 
central Alberta, Canada. These 320 acres are believed to be prospective for reef development and the 
potential accumulation of oil deposits. The Company owns the Petroleum and Natural Gas rights below 
the base of the Mannville GRP to basement as to 100%. 

In November 2008, the Wordsworth property that had the second well was drilled and completed as a 
successful oil well in December 2008. 

On December 8, 2008, the Company and its partner were successful in acquiring 800 acres of land in the 
Coteau Lake project area and the Company now has a 50% gross and net interest in a total of 2,080 acres 
of land in this area. 

On July 31, 2009, the Company sold all its interests in the Queensdale, West Queensdale, and the 
Wordsworth properties for an aggregate amount of CAD$453,116. 

Effective September 1, 2009, the Company entered into an assignment agreement with Cheetah Oil & 
Gas Ltd.  The assignment agreement dated August 28, 2009, provides for the purchase by the Company of 
a revenue interest of 40.432% of an 8% share of Cheetah’s net revenue after field operating expenses 
from the Belmont Lake PP F-12-4 horizontal well, located in Belmont Lake Field, Wilkinson County, 
Mississippi.  As consideration, the Company agreed to pay to Cheetah 57.76% of Cheetah’s costs 
currently budgeted at $77,905.36, subject to revision and 57.76% of Cheetah’s 8% share of PP F-12-4 
well costs from time to time for infrastructure, pipes, tanks, compressors, trucking, etc. On May 31, 2010, 
this assigned interest was converted into common shares and warrants of Cheetah Oil & Gas Ltd, leaving 
the Company with no direct interest in this well.  As a result, the Company has 375,000 restricted shares 
in the capital of Cheetah and 375,000 share purchase warrants which entitle the Company to acquire 
375,000 restricted shares in the capital of Cheetah at a purchase price of US$0.20 per share for a period of 
two years. 

Effective September 1, 2009, the Company entered into an assignment agreement with Lexaria Corp.  The 
assignment agreement dated August 28, 2009, provides for the purchase by the Company of a revenue 
interest of 13.475% of a 32% share of Lexaria’s net revenue after field operating expenses from the 
Belmont Lake PP F-12-4 horizontal well, located in Belmont Lake Field, Wilkinson County, Mississippi. 
 As consideration, the Company agreed to pay to Lexaria 19.25% of Lexaria’s costs currently budgeted at 
$311,621.44, subject to revision and 19.25% of Lexaria’s 32% share of PP F-12-4 well costs from time to 
time for infrastructure, pipes, tanks, compressors, trucking, etc.  On May 31, 2010, this assigned interest 
was converted into common shares and warrants of Lexaria Corp, leaving the Company with no direct 
interest in this well.  As a result, the Company has 499,893 restricted shares in the capital of Lexaria and 
499,983 share purchase warrants which entitle the Company to acquire 499,983 restricted shares in the 
capital of Lexaria at a purchase price of US$0.20 per share for a period of two years. 
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Oil & Gas Properties 

As of the date of this prospectus, the Company has an interest in two exploration oil and gas properties, 
neither of which have any producing oil or gas wells.  As the Company has changed its focus from being 
engaged in the acquisition and exploration of oil and gas properties to a company being engaged in 
renewable energy, the Company intends to dispose of and monetize its oil and gas assets. 

The Company’s oil and gas properties include:  

1. Coteau Lake, Saskatchewan. Coteau Lake covers 2,080 acres of land. The Company’s gross and 
net interest in this project is 50%.   

2. Glen Park, Alberta.  Glen Park covers three 160 acre parcels of land that are believed to be 
prospective for reef development and the potential accumulation of oil deposits. The Company 
has a 50% interest on one parcel, and 100% interest in two parcels of land in the Glen Park 
prospect area.  

A description of the Company’s Coteau Lake Project and Glen Park Project investments follow.  For a 
description of the Company’s other past and present properties, please see the section titled “Three Year 
History and Significant Acquisitions and Dispositions”. 

The Coteau Lake light oil exploration project, South Eastern Saskatchewan, Canada 

Coteau Lake is an exploration property and the Company has no producing oil or gas wells on this 
property. Coteau Lake covers 2,080 acres of land. The Company’s gross and net interest in this project is 
50%. There has been historic oil production on the Coteau Lake project lands.  The Company’s internal 
geological and geophysical work to date indicates the Company’s lands could be prospective for oil & gas 
accumulations to have taken place. The Company’s current focus on this project is to monetize it on the 
best financial terms possible. 

The Glen Park light oil exploration prospect, Central Alberta, Canada 

Glen Park is an exploration property and the Company has no producing oil or gas wells on this property. 
The prospect covers 480 acres that is believed to be prospective for reef development and the potential 
accumulation of oil deposits. Productive wells in the area have production rates in excess of 200 bop/d 
and in some cases with little associated water. The Company has a 50% interest on one parcel, and 100% 
interest in two parcels of land in the Glen Park prospect area.  The Company’s current focus on this 
project is to monetize it on the best financial terms possible. 

 

Competition  

There is strong competition relating to all aspects of the alternative energy sector.  The Company will 
actively compete for capital, skilled personnel, energy retrofit and new alternative energy projects, and in 
all other aspects of its operations with a substantial number of other organizations, many of which have 
greater technical and financial resources than the Company.  Some of those organizations not only design 
and install alternative energy systems but also manufacture alternative energy products on a world-wide 
basis and as such have greater and more diverse resources on which to draw. The Company will actively 
compete for alternative energy projects and opportunities in the fields of Solar PV; Solar Thermal; Wind; 
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Biomass; Energy Optimization and related sectors, and will constantly be facing competition by both 
smaller and larger companies in all geographical and industrial segments of the market. 

Personnel  

As at the date hereof, the Company has had 4 contract workers and 2 intermittent consulting experts. 

Tax Horizon  

For tax purposes, as of August 31, 2009, the Company has operating loss carry forwards of 
approximately $1,033,000 which expire in 2025 through 2029. The Company has not set aside 
any contingency funds to pay taxes potentially due in the next 3 years. 

Exploration and Development Activities  

The Company drilled only one development well at Wordsworth, Saskatchewan in the twelve months 
ending August 31, 2009, and zero wells since August 31, 2009. 
 

USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS 

Proceeds 

This is a non-offering prospectus. The Company is not raising any funds in conjunction with this 
prospectus. Accordingly, there are no proceeds. 

Funds Available 

As at May 31, 2010, we had a working capital surplus of $275,541 and additional funds are required to be 
expended on the principal purposes set out below. The estimated working capital as at the most recent 
month-end (June 30, 2010) and prior to filing the prospectus was a surplus of $235,185. Our working 
capital is comprised of the net proceeds of revenues and debt and equity financings conducted by the 
Company.  

We will also require additional funds to provide sufficient working capital and for general corporate 
purposes. The Company intends to make additional debt and/or equity offerings to raise further funds.  

Principal Purposes 

The principal purposes for which the required additional funds are intended to be used, in order of 
priority, are as follows: 

Description Proceeds 

GSWPS acquisition payments for 12 months 

General and Administrative for 12 months(1) 

Patent and Technology Licence Applications(2)  

 

$42,000 

$132,000 

$50,000 

 

Total $224,000 

(1) Comprised of: 
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Consulting Fees $91,000 

Rent $16,000 

Legal and Accounting Fees $25,000 

TOTAL $132,000 

(2) The Company does not have a legal obligation to pursue and file the patent applications.  If the Company does not have 
sufficient funds over the next twelve months to file such applications, it will endeavour to file such applications once 
funds become available.  

The foregoing table does not include any proceeds that may be available through the exercise of options 
and warrants currently outstanding as summarized in this Prospectus. 

In the event that the funds available to the Company are not sufficient to complete the Company’s 
principal purposes as set out above, the Company intends to use its funds in the following order: 

(1) GSWPS acquisition payments; 

(2) General and administrative expenses;  

(3) Expenses associated with the patent and technology licence applications; and 

(4) Unallocated working capital. 

The Company intends to spend the funds available to it as stated in this Prospectus. There may be 
circumstances, however, where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary. To 
date, the Company has had negative cash flows from operations and has been dependent on sales of its 
equity securities and debt financings to meet its cash requirements. The Company expects this situation to 
continue until such time as the Company is able to achieve substantial revenues from its clean energy 
business. See “Risk Factors”. 

Subject to the Company maintaining its current expense requirements, the Company anticipates that it 
will have sufficient working capital to maintain its expenditures for the next 10 to 12 months. 

Additionally, the Company has recently completed a clean energy project for a customer and has earned 
revenues from this project.  The Company anticipates earning further revenues in the upcoming quarter 
and subsequently thereafter on an ongoing basis. 

Since joining the Company, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chris Bunka, has received $0 as 
payment for management services. He has elected to defer management payments due to him until such 
time as the Company is in a stronger financial position and thus more capable of meeting its obligations. 
Also, the Company’s President Robert McAllister has likewise deferred most of the management 
payments due to him. Thus the actual cash amounts required to fund General and Administrative expenses 
have historically been lower than the accounted-for amounts shown. 
 
The Company would like to expand its clean energy operations in 2010 and 2011 and thus anticipates it 
will require additional funds to do so. The expansion of those operations is dependent in part upon 
financing. The Company will undertake such a financing at the first reasonable opportunity to do so. The 
Company will also endeavour to raise more limited finance amounts from time to time in order to fund 
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general operations. Any such financing could involve the issuance of securities that would be dilutive to 
existing shareholders. 

 

Stated Business Objectives 

The Company has prioritized the ongoing equity acquisition of GSWPS as its most important immediate 
objective. The Company has additional long term objectives that cannot presently be met since it has 
insufficient working capital to achieve those long term objectives. 
 
The Company is also working with GSWPS to obtain certain joint patent applications and/or technology 
licensing. There is no assurance that these efforts will be successful. Mark Snyder has contributed to the 
intellectual property used within certain sectors of the renewable energy business sectors. In some cases 
he has worked closely with the original inventors, and in other cases has adapted other technology for 
unique applications. If the Company and/or GSWPS is successful in these efforts, it could have a material 
effect upon the Company. 
  

Milestones 

The unallocated working capital described above is not sufficient to achieve any significant business 
events or milestones. Additional capital will have to be raised. As of the date of this Prospectus, the 
Company intends to raise sufficient capital within 12 months to acquire an additional interest in GSWPS 
and begin executing its long term business objectives. 

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS 

Selected Financial Information 

The following table sets forth summary financial information for the Company for each of the periods 
indicated. This information has been summarized from the Company’s financial statements for these 
periods, and should only be read in conjunction with the financial statements, and accompanying notes, 
included elsewhere in this prospectus. The Company reports financial information in United States 
Dollars (US$) using United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“US GAAP”).  All dollar 
figures disclosed in the following table are reported in US$.  

 

 

Nine Months 
ended  

May 31, 2010  
$ 

Year ended  
August 31, 2009

$ 

Year ended  
August 31, 

2008  
$ 

Year ended  
August 31, 2007

$ 
Total Revenue 11,861 97,417 194,465 82,206 
Net Income (Loss) (2,284,736) 84,233 (372,535) (607,397) 
Current Assets 317,215 295,333 145,772 316,439 
Current Liabilities 41,674 129,520 139,028 222,934 
Working Capital  275,541 165,813 6,744 93,505 
Total Assets 1,316,667 3,952,771 3,837,856 520,097 
Total Long-Term Liabilities 216,317 762,704 762,704 Nil 
Cash dividends declared Nil Nil Nil Nil 
Shareholders’ Equity 1,058,676 3,060,547 2,936,124 297,163 
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Nine Months 
ended  

May 31, 2010  
$ 

Year ended  
August 31, 2009

$ 

Year ended  
August 31, 

2008  
$ 

Year ended  
August 31, 2007

$ 
Number of Common Shares 15,710,240 14,652,740 14,652,740 7,747,740 

Dividends 

There are no restrictions in the Company’s articles of incorporation or bylaws that prevent it from 
declaring dividends.  The Nevada Revised Statutes, however, do prohibit the Company from declaring 
dividends where, after giving effect to the distribution of the dividend: 

1.  The Company would not be able to pay its debts as they become due in the usual course of 
business; or 

2.  The Company’s total assets would be less than the sum of our total liabilities plus the amount 
that would be needed to satisfy the rights of shareholders who have preferential rights superior to 
those receiving the distribution. 

The Company has not paid dividends in the past, and has no present intention of paying dividends in the 
future. Instead, the Company anticipates that it will apply any future earnings to business development 
until such time as the Company has a stable and profitable cash flow. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis  

The following MD&A should be read in conjunction with: (i) the Company’s audited financial statements 
and the related notes for the years ended August 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007; and (ii) unaudited financial 
statements and related notes for the nine month interim period ended May 31, 2010. These financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with US GAAP. All dollar figures included in the 
following MD&A are reported in US$. 
 
Beginning in the Spring of 2008, the Company realized it might be an unrealistic expectation to believe 
that its very small oil and gas company would be able to locate sufficient financing in order to grow and 
create shareholder value. Taking small steps at first, the Company began exploring the concept of 
operating both a conventional oil and gas division as well as a new, clean-energy division.  
 
The Company’s management team held many meetings with clean energy participants to explore the 
opportunities. The Company discovered that many clean energy participants were fundamentally opposed 
to conventional energy and eventually management of the Company decided that it needed to make a 
wholesale commitment to the renewable energy field. At the Company’s most recent Annual General 
Meeting held February 5, 2010, the Company’s shareholders approved its corporate name change wherein 
the Company informed them that its current business activities were in the area of renewable energy and 
related fields. 
 
The Company has exited the oil and gas business and in July 2009 sold its primary oil and gas asset. The 
Company is currently disposing of its remaining oil and gas assets.  
 
The Company is making the transition to a clean energy company. As of the date of this prospectus the 
Company has begun generating modest revenues from the clean energy business and it expects to 
generate more meaningful revenues in the future. The Company’s two partially-owned clean energy 
companies are each generating revenue.  
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Results of Operations for the Periods ended May 31, 2010 and 2009 

Oil and gas sales volume comparisons for the period ended May 31, 2010 compared to the period ended 
May 31, 2009 

For the nine-month period ended May 31, 2010, the Company had $11,861 in revenues compared to 
$72,850 in revenues for the same nine-month period in the prior year.  The decrease in revenues is largely 
attributed to the sale of the revenue producing properties in 2009 and no revenue from the alternative 
energy segment.  

Three Months Ended May 31, 2010 and 2009 

The Company’s operating results for the three months ended May 31, 2010, for the three months ended 
May 31, 2009 and the changes between those periods for the respective items are summarized as follows:  
 

 
 
  

Three 
Months  
Ended  

May 31,  
2010

 

Three 
Months  
Ended  

May 31,  
2009

 

Change Between  
Three Month Period 

Ended  
May 31, 2010 

and May 31, 2009
Revenue $ 11,607 $ 17,211 $ (5,604)
Other income/expenses  (2,654,634)  (616)  (2,654,018)
General and administrative  100,493  76,647  23,846
Interest expense   1,304   2,055   (751) 
Write down in carrying value of oil and gas 
properties 

 Nil  Nil  Nil

Consulting fees    60,053   44,016   16,037
Cost of revenue   10,546   21,652   (11,106)
Professional Fees  12,821  4,689  8,132
Net loss    (2,050,207)   (81,704)   (1,968,503)

Our accumulated losses increased to $3,548,209 as of May 31, 2010. Our financial statements report a net 
loss of $2,050,207 for the three-month period ended May 31, 2010 compared to a net loss of $81,704 for 
the three-month period ended May 31, 2009. Our losses have increased primarily as a result a write down 
of oil and gas properties offset by income tax recovery of deferred taxes.  Other factors are an increase in 
consulting fees, advertising, filing fees, travel, and legal fees compared to the previous period. 

Nine Months Ended May 31, 2010 and 2009 

The Company’s operating results for the nine months ended May 31, 2010, for the nine months ended 
May 31, 2009 and the changes between those periods for the respective items are summarized as follows:  
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Nine Months  
Ended  

May 31,  
2010 

 

Nine Months  
Ended  

May 31,  
2009 

 
 
 

Change Between  
Six Month Period 

Ended  
May 31, 2010 

and May 31, 2009
Revenue $ 11,861 $ 72,850 $ (60,989)
Other income/expenses  (2,656,926)  24,311  (2,681,237)
General and 
administrative 

 332,983  187,483  145,500

Interest expense   3,754  7,520  (3,766)
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Write down in carrying 
value of oil and gas 
properties 

 Nil  31,786  (31,786)

Consulting fees    207,294  109,101  98,193
Cost of revenue   10,546  156,571  (146,025)
Professional Fees  55,840  34,823  21,017
Net loss    (2,284,736)  (246,893)  (2,037,843)
 

As at May 31, 2010, we had $41,674 in current liabilities.  Our net cash used in operating activities for the 
nine months ended May 31, 2010 was $193,502 compared to $90,635 used in the nine months ended May 
31, 2009. Our accumulated losses increased to $3,548,209 as of May 31, 2010. Our financial statements 
report a net loss of $2,284,736 for the nine month period ended May 31, 2010 compared to a net loss of 
$246,893 for the nine month period ended May 31, 2009. Our losses have increased primarily as a result 
of a write down of oil and gas properties offset by income tax recovery for deferred taxes.  Other factors 
include less revenue because of the sale of the revenue producing properties in 2009, very little revenue 
from the alternative energy segment, no foreign exchange gain, and a stock based compensation from 
granting stock options, increased consulting fees, advertising, investor relations, travel, training, filing 
fees, and increased legal fees. 
 

Our total liabilities as of May 31, 2010 were $257,991 as compared to total liabilities of $892,225 as of 
August 31, 2009. The decrease is primarily due to the income tax recovery for the deferred taxes. 

 

Liquidity and Financial Condition  

Working Capital  
              May      August   
     31,      31,   
     2010      2009    
Current assets  $ 317,215  $ 295,333  
Current liabilities    41,674   129,520  
Working capital  $ 275,541  $ 165,813  
 
 
Cash Flows 
     Nine Months Ended   
     May      May  
     31, 2010      31, 2009   
Cash flows (used in) operating activities  $ (193,502)  $ (90,635)  
Cash flows (used in) investing activities    (98,231)   (43,934)  
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities    81,531   45,800  
Net increase (decrease) in cash during period  $ (210,202)  $ (88,769)  

Operating Activities 

Net cash used in operating activities was $193,502 in the nine months ended May 31, 2010 compared 
with net cash used in operating activities of $90,635 in the same period in 2009.  The increase is cash 
used is mostly from no revenue because of the sale of the revenue producing properties in 2009, very little 
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revenue from the alternative energy segment, increased consulting fees, advertising, investor relations, 
travel, training, filing fees, and increased legal fees. 

 Investing Activities 

Net cash used in investing activities was $98,231 in the nine months ended May 31, 2010 compared to net 
cash used by investing activities of $43,934 in the same period in 2009. The increase use of cash of in 
investing activities is mainly attributable to the Belmont Lake working interest that has now been 
converted to common shares in both Lexaria Corp. and Cheetah Oil & Gas Ltd. and the equity investment 
in Global Solar Water Power Systems Inc. 

Financing Activities 

Net cash provided by financing activities was $81,531 in the nine months ended May 31, 2010 compared 
to $45,800 in the same period in 2009. In 2010, this is attributable to the Company completing an equity 
financing and in 2009, there was a short term loan to a related party. 

 
Related Party Transactions 

 
For the nine months ended May 31, 2010, the Company was party to the following related party 
transactions: 
 

 Paid / accrued $46,200 (May 31, 2009: $36,300) to the President of the Company in 
consulting fees.   

 Paid / accrued $51,316 (May 31, 2009: $68,983) and $4,025 (May 31, 2009: $4,328); of 
consulting fees and office rent, respectively, to a company controlled by a Director/CEO 
of the Company.  

 Paid $31,696 (May 31, 2009: $Nil) in consulting fees to a company controlled by the 
CFO of the Company. 

 Paid $8,000 (May 31, 2009: $Nil) in consulting fee to an Officer of the Company. 
 Paid / accrued $8,815 in cost of renewal energy service to an executive officer of the 

Company and a company controlled by the executive officer. 
 

The related party transactions are recorded at the exchange amount established and agreed to between 
the related parties.  Amount due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on 
demand. 
 
On May 31, 2010, the Company entered into a loan agreement and promissory note with 0743868 BC 
Ltd. (the “Lender”). The principal amount of the note is CAD$84,655. The funds were previously 
provided for property interest that was advanced to the Company and were payable on demand. The 
entering into of the loan agreement and promissory note provides that the debt be payable on May 31, 
2012. The note is non-interest bearing. 0743868 BC Ltd. is controlled by a director and the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company, Mr. Chris Bunka. 
 
On May 31, 2010, the Company entered into a loan agreement and promissory note with CAB 
Financial Ltd. (the “Lender”).  The principal amount of the note is US$90,000.  The debt was 
originally payable for 18 months of unpaid management fees and were payable on demand. The 
entering into of the loan agreement and promissory note provides that the debt be payable on May 31, 
2012.The note is non-interest bearing. CAB Financial Ltd. is controlled by a director and the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company, Mr. Chris Bunka. 
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The Company will endeavor to raise equity or debt-based financing to meet its ongoing operational 
needs, if and as available. If successful in raising money through debt or equity issuances, part or all 
of these monies could be used to pay for general and administrative expenses, including and not 
limited to consulting fees and other amounts to related parties. 
 
If the related parties and the Company jointly agree, it is also possible that certain outstanding fees 
due to related parties could be paid through the issuance of restricted common stock in the Company, 
thus eliminating such accrued financial obligations and increasing the proportionate ownership 
dilution of all other shareholders. 

For the nine months ended May 31, 2010, the Company recorded imputed interest of $2,442 in 
connection with the amount owed to a related party. 

Results of Operations for the Years ended August 31, 2009 and 2008 

Results of Operations:   

Queensdale, Saskatchewan (1A9-25) 
 
On April 16, 2007, the Company acquired a 25% (net 15%) before payout (“BPO”) (12.5% (net 7.5%) 
after payout (“APO”)) interest in Queensdale, Saskatchewan Project from 0743608 B.C. Ltd. (Assignor), 
a company controlled by a Director/CEO of the Company, for a total cost of CAD$250,000 and 250,000 
shares of the Company’s common stock.  The Participation Agreement consists specifically of all (100%) 
of the Assignor’s interest in the Queensdale 1A9-25/4A2-25-6-2 W2M well; none (0%) of the Assignor’s 
interest in the Queensdale 4A9-25 / 2D15-25-6-2 W2M well; and one-half (50%) interest in the Farmout 
Land and the Option Land.  On April 18, 2007, 250,000 shares were issued at market value $1.10 per 
share giving a total of $275,000. 

 
The Company agrees to pay to the Assignor on monthly basis and within 5 business days of receiving the 
payment from net generated oil and gas revenue, a minimum of 80% of the payments received from net 
generated oil and gas revenue attributable to the Queensdale 1A9-25 / 4A2-25-6-2 W2M well, until such 
time as the full CAD$250,000 has been paid to the Assignor.  The total cost capitalized cost incurred for 
the oil and gas property was $487,097 which was attributed to the acquisition cost of the oil and gas 
property.  The Company applied the full cost method to account for this property. 

 
On July 1, 2009, the Company sold all its interests in the related well for CAD$45,450. 

 
West Queensdale, Saskatchewan (HZ 4A9-25/3A15-25-6-2 W2) 

 
Through the Company’s subsidiary, Target, the Company owns another producing well at Queensdale, 
Queensdale West HZ 4A9-25/3A15-25-6-2 W2.  The well was drilled in February 2007 and was placed 
in production on May 15, 2007.  The Company has an 8% Gross Interest before payout (BPO) and 4% net 
interest after payout in this well. 
 
On July 1, 2009, the Company sold all its interests for CAD$42,666. 

 
Wordsworth, Saskatchewan 
 
Through the Company’s subsidiary, Target, the Company owns a well working interest in Wordsworth, 
Saskatchewan, The Wordsworth property has two producing oil well which was drilled in May, 2006, and 
in which the Company has a 3.75% net interest.  This is a horizontal well called the Wordsworth East HZ 
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2A2-23/3A11-14-7-3 W2, and was considered a new pool discovery. A second well on this property, the 
Wordsworth E. HZ 3B9-23/3A11-23-7-3 W2 located on the north side of the Wordsworth prospect.  

 
On July 1, 2009, the Company sold all its interests for CAD$365,000. 
 
Coteau Lake, Saskatchewan 
 
Through the Company’s subsidiary, Target, the Company owns certain working interest in Coteau Lake, 
Saskatchewan. 
 
Coteau Lake is an exploration property and the Company has no producing oil or gas wells on this land at 
this time. The Coteau Lake exploration project covers 2,080 acres of land. The Company’s gross and net 
interest in this project is 50%. There has been historic oil production on the Coteau Lake project lands.   
 
On November 7, 2007, the Company’s subsidiary Target entered into a Letter of Intent (the “LOI”) with 
Primrose Drilling Ventures Ltd. (“Primrose”), a body corporate, having an office in the city of Calgary, in 
the Province of Alberta.  Pursuant to the LOI, the Target is the interest title holder of Saskatchewan 
Crown Land parcels 124, 125 and 126. 
 
Primrose elected to proceed with a 50/50 joint venture with Target by reimbursing Target for 50% of its 
land cost on parcels 124, 125 and 126 for CDN$26,590 which is payable on signing within 15 days of the 
LOI.  Primrose would become operator of the project upon its acceptance of such appointment and 
agreement to assume the duties, obligations and rights of the operator.  A formal Participation Agreement 
(“Agreement”) which included the provisions of LOI has been entered between Target and 
Primrose.  Included in the Participation Agreement would be the Area of Mutual Interest (AMI) which 
would govern future land acquisitions and timeline set out in the LOI.  On December 31, 2008, an 
additional $22,270 was spent on land acquisitions with Primrose Drilling Ventures.  As at August 31, 
2009, the Company was still in the process of defining the first well exploration location. 
 
Glen Park, Alberta  

 
On May 14, 2008 the Company was successful in acquiring one land parcel of 160 acres in the Glen Park 
area of central Alberta, Canada. The Company subsequently created a 50/50 Joint Venture with Vanguard 
Exploration to explore and develop the joint lands on Alberta Petroleum and Natural Gas Lease No. 
0408050364. The joint venture owns the Petroleum and Natural Gas rights below the base of the 
Mannville GRP to basement. 
 
On June 11, 2008 the Company was successful in acquiring two land parcels of 160 acres each in the 
Glen Park area of central Alberta, Canada. These 320 acres are believed to be prospective for reef 
development and the potential accumulation of oil deposits. Productive wells in the area have had 
production rates in excess of 200 bop/d and in some cases with little associated water. We currently have 
a 100% interest in these two prospects. The Company continues to evaluate other opportunities in this 
and other areas. 
 
Belmont Lake 
 
On August 28, 2009 and effective on September 1, 2009, the Company entered into two assignment 
agreements to participate in a well program in Jackson, Mississippi with two public companies. The 
Company agreed to pay $45,000 to acquire a 40.432 percent interest from Cheetah Oil and Gas Ltd's 8 
percent gross interest in the Belmont Lake 12-4 well by paying 57.76 percent of the drilling, completion 
and tie in costs. The Company also agreed to pay $59,987 to acquire a 13.475 percent interest from 
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Lexaria Corp's 32 percent gross interest in the Belmont Lake 12-4 well by paying 19.25 percent of the 
drilling, completion and tie in costs.  Both public companies have a managerial relationship with the 
Company.  As at August 31, 2009, the Company has made a payment of $59,987 in connection with the 
assignment agreement and the amount have been included in unproved property. 

Results of Operations for the Year Ended August 31, 2009 and 2008 

The Company’s operating results for the year ended August 31, 2009 and 2008 and the changes between 
those periods for the respective items are summarized as follows:  

  Year Ended  
August 31, 2009 

 Year Ended  
August 31, 2008 

 Change Between  
Year Ended  

August 31, 2009 
and August 31, 2008

Oil and Gas Revenue $ 97,417 $ 194,465 $ (97,048) 

Cost of Revenue $ 163,134 $ 249,652 $ (86,518) 

Gross Profit (Loss) $ (65,717) $ (55,187) $ (10,530) 

Operating Expenses $ 275,950 $ 318,540 $ (42,590) 

Other Income $ (425,900) $ (1,192) $ (424,708) 

Net income (loss)  $ 84,233 $ (372,535) $ 456,768 

For the year ended August 31, 2009, the Company had natural gas and oil revenue of $97,417, compared 
to $194,465 in the prior year. Cost of revenue including operating costs, depletion and write-down in 
carrying value of oil and gas properties, was $163,134 for the year ending August 31, 2009, compared to 
$249,652 in the year ending August 31, 2008.  

The Company’s net income for the year ended August 31, 2009 was $84,233 compared to a loss of 
$372,535 in the prior year. For the year ending August 31, 2009, the Company’s large increase in net 
income is due to the sale of the Queensdale properties and Wordsworth for US$421,545.  

The Company’s professional fees in 2008 were $83,549, while in 2009 they were $38,132, which 
included legal fees in 2008 were $32,052, while in 2009 they were $5,681, the decrease was caused by 
legal fees in 2008 relating to the Target acquisition and the setting up of the stock option plan. The 
Company does not expect to incur more than a total of $150,000 for legal, accounting and auditing fees in 
2010. Operational overhead in 2008 was $318,540 and in 2009 was $275,950. The decrease was caused 
by a decrease in legal fees due to the Target acquisition and the setting up of the stock option plan; 
decrease in accounting fees of $32,451 (August 31, 2008: $51,497); decreases in advertising and 
promotions costs of $1,996 (August 31, 2008: $12,362); decreases in investor relations costs of $1,360 
(August 31, 2008: $8,852); increase in interest expense on loan payable due to deemed interest on the 
loan payable of $10,486 (August 31, 2008: $7,551); increase in consulting fees amounting to $177,328 
(August 31, 2008: $153,403); decrease in rent amounting to $5,401 (August 31, 2008: 11,052); increase 
in telephone costs $3,151 (August 31, 2008: $1,759); decrease in training costs $685 (August 31, 2008: 
$3,889); increase in travel costs of $9,772 (August 31, 2008: $7,402).  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

The Company had cash and cash equivalents of $282,948 as of August 31, 2009 compared to cash and 
cash equivalents of $124,394 as of August 31, 2008. The Company had a working capital of $165,813 as 
of August 31, 2009 compared to working capital of $6,744 as of August 31, 2008.  
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The Company had no operational revenue in 2005 and 2006. In August, 2007, revenue was realized from 
the purchase from the Queensdale, Saskatchewan property.  In November 2007 the Company completed 
its acquisition of Target Inc., which included two revenue producing properties; West Queensdale, 
Saskatchewan, and Wordsworth, Saskatchewan.  As at August 31, 2007, operational revenue amounted to 
$82,206, as at August 31, 2008, operational revenue amounted to $194,465, and as at August 31, 2009, 
operational revenue amounted to $97,417. At August 31, 2008, the Company had $124,394 in cash and 
cash equivalents. At August 31, 2009, the Company had $282,948 in cash and cash equivalents. The 
Company anticipates that its total operating expenses will be less than $500,000 for the next twelve 
months.  As of August 31, 2008 the Company’s total assets were $3,837,856 and the Company’s total 
liabilities were $901,732. As of August 31, 2009, the Company’s total assets were $3,952,771 and the 
Company’s total liabilities were $892,224.   

On July 1, 2009, the Company sold all its interests in the Queensdale, West Queensdale, and Wordsworth 
properties for US$421,545. 

Effective February 28, 2010, we entered into an asset and share purchase agreement with Mr. Mark 
Snyder to acquire up to 20% ownership of Global Solar Water Power Systems Inc. (“GSWPS”), a private 
company beneficially owned by Mark Snyder, our company’s Chief Technical Officer.  GSWPS owns 
certain technology invented and developed by Mark Snyder for the design and manufacture of certain 
water filtration equipment.  Under the terms of the agreement, we may acquire up to a 20% equitable 
ownership interest in GSWPS payable as follows: 

 

(a) for the initial 10% equity interest, by the issuance of 500,000 restricted shares of our 
common stock at a deemed price of US $0.20 per share, payable within 10 days of 
signing the agreement;  

(b) for the initial 10% equity interest, cash payments and/or deferred commissions totalling 
$150,000 payable in instalments of $3,500 per month; 

(c) for the additional 10% equity interest, the issuance of 500,000 restricted shares of our 
common stock at any time up to December 31, 2011; and 

(d) for the additional 10% equity interest, cash payments and/or deferred commissions 
totalling $250,000 paid a minimum of $3,500 per month and beginning not later than 
December 31, 2011,  as further described in the agreement. 

 

Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, GSWPS is required to pay to us our proportionate interest in any 
after tax profits on a quarterly basis.  Our management obtained an independent valuation dated February 
5, 2010 in support of the value ascribed to the proposed equity interest in GSWPS. As at February 28, 
2010, we paid $40,500 in US dollars and issued 500,000 restricted shares of our common stock, following 
which we have acquired a 5.62% equity interest in GSWPS. As at May 31, 2010, the Company has paid 
$51,000 in US dollars and issued 500,000 restricted shares of the Company’s common stock, following 
which the Company has acquired a 6.04% equity interest in GSWPS.  

The Company cannot know if any of the current projects it is participating in will be successful, or to 
what degree they might be successful. The degree of success or failure in these projects will partly 
determine the Company’s need for capital in the future. If alternative energy projects are successful, they 
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might require additional cash flows in the short term to construct or otherwise make operational, and 
subsequently generate expected positive cash flows over the longer term. If these projects are failures, 
then the funds we have spent to date will have produced no commercial benefit, and the Company will 
require additional funds to proceed with the advancement of the Company on other as yet undefined 
projects. 
 

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES 

No securities are being offered pursuant to this prospectus. 

The authorized share capital of the Company consists of 200,000,000 shares of common stock with a par 
value of $0.001. As of the date of this prospectus there are 15,710,240 shares of the Company’s common 
stock issued and outstanding. Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the holders of 
common stock are entitled to share ratably in all net assets available for distribution to stockholders after 
payment to creditors. The common stock is not convertible or redeemable and has no preemptive, 
subscription or conversion rights. There are no conversions, redemption, sinking fund or similar 
provisions regarding the common stock. Each outstanding share of common stock is entitled to one vote 
on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. There are no cumulative voting rights. 

Each stockholder is entitled to receive the dividends as may be declared by our board of directors out of 
funds legally available for dividends and, in the event of liquidation, to share pro rata in any distribution 
of our assets after payment of liabilities. Our board of directors is not obligated to declare a dividend. Any 
future dividends will be subject to the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon, among 
other things, future earnings, the operating and financial condition of our company, its capital 
requirements, general business conditions and other pertinent factors. We do not anticipate that dividends 
will be paid in the foreseeable future.  

The Company does not have a class of preferred shares. 

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

The following table summarizes changes in the Company’s capitalization since August 31, 2009(1): 

The following table summarizes changes in the Company's capitalization since August 31, 2009 (the 
Company’s year-end), May 31, 2010 (the date of the most recent financial statements included in the 
prospectus) and as of the date of this Prospectus.  

Description 

Outstanding as 
at August 31, 

2009(1) 

Outstanding as 
at May 31, 

2010(1) 

Outstanding as at 
the date of this 
prospectus(1) 

Outstanding as the 
date of this prospectus 

on a fully-diluted 
basis(1) (2) 

Common Shares 14,652,740 shares 
issued and 
outstanding 

15,710,240 shares 
issued and 
outstanding 

15,710,240 shares 
issued and 
outstanding 

18,284,615 shares issued 
and outstanding 

Preferred Shares N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Long-term Debt $762,704 $216,317 $216,317 $216,317 
(1) Effective September 25, 2009, the Company amended its Articles of Incorporation to undertake a one (1) for two (2) share 

consolidation of its authorized and issued and outstanding common stock.  As a result, the Company’s authorized capital 
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decreased from 75,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $0.001 to 37,500,000 shares of common stock with 
a par value of $0.001 and its issued and outstanding shares decreased from 29,305,480 shares of common stock to 
14,652,740 shares of common stock. On February 22, 2010, the Company had increased its authorized share capital from 
37,500,000 common shares to 200,000,000 common shares. 

(2) Assumes exercise of all outstanding options and warrants.   
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Warrants 

As of the date of this prospectus, the Company has 557,500 warrants that expire May 31, 2012, each 
warrant and $0.30 good to buy an additional common share. 

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

The following table summarizes the options of the Company outstanding as of the date of this prospectus:  
 

Group 
Number of 

Options/Rights 

Securities 
Under 

Options/Rights Grant Date 
Expiry 
Date 

Exercise 
Price per 
Share of 
Common 
Stock ($) 

Market 
Value of 
Shares of 
Common 
Stock on 

Grant Date 
($) 

Market 
Value of 
Shares of 
Common 

Stock as of 
Date of 

Prospectus 
($) 

Executive 
officers and 
past 
executive 
officers of 
the 
Company as 
a group 

350,000 
400,000 
600,000 

Common Stock 
Common Stock
Common Stock 

Dec 14/07 
Oct 22/09 
Dec 30/09 

Dec 14/12 
Oct 22/14 
Dec 30/14 

0.20(1) 

0.10 
0.10 

 
0.20 
0.06 
0.04 

 

 
0.16 
0.16 
0.16 

Directors 
and past 
directors of 
the 
Company as 
a group 

93,750 
100,000 
50,000 

Common Stock 
Common Stock 
Common Stock 

Dec 14/07 
Oct 22/09 
Dec 30/09 

Aug 14/10 
Oct 22/14 
Dec 30/14 

0.20(1) 

0.10 
0.10 

 
0.20 
0.06 
0.04 

 
0.16 
0.16 
0.16 

Employees 
and past 
employees 
of the 
Company as 
a group Nil Common Stock      

Consultants 
of the 
Company as 
a group 

283,125 
40,000 

100,000 

Common Stock 
Common Stock 
Common Stock 

Dec 14/07 
Dec 14/07 
Mar 5/10 

Aug 14/10 
Dec 14/12 
Mar 5/15 

0.20(1) 

0.20(1) 

0.20 

0.20 
0.20 
0.20 

0.16 
0.16 
0.16 

Other 
persons or 
Companies 
as a group Nil Common Stock      

Total 2,016,875 Common Stock      
(1) These options had an exercise price of $0.35 per share on their grant date.  On October 22, 2009, the Company 

modified the exercise price of these options to $0.20 per share.  The closing price of our common shares as quoted on 
the PINK OTC on October 22, 2009 was $0.06.  

 
2007 Equity Compensation Plan 



 

{WLMLAW W0063670.DOC}29 

On April 25, 2007, the Company’s shareholders approved and adopted the Company’s 2007 equity 
incentive plan (the “Plan”).  The purpose of the Plan is to secure for the Company and its shareholders the 
benefits of incentive inherent in share ownership by the directors and employees of the Company and its 
Affiliates who (the “Participants”), in the judgment of the Board, will be largely responsible for the 
Company’s future growth and success. It is generally recognized that equity incentive plans of the nature 
provided for herein aid in retaining and encouraging directors and employees of exceptional ability 
because of the opportunity offered them to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company. 

The number of Common Shares subject to each share purchase option (each, an “Option”), the exercise 
price of each Option, the expiration date of each Option, the extent to which each Option is exercisable 
and/or vested from time to time during the term of the Option and any other terms and conditions relating 
to the Options are to be determined by the board of directors. 

The maximum number of Options available under the Plan, are for the issuance of up to 1,000,000 
Common Shares of the Company. 

The Plan also authorizes, if at any time determined by the Board, the Participant to have the right (the 
"Right"), when entitled to exercise an Option, to terminate such Option in whole or in part (the 
"Terminated Option") by notice in writing to the Company and, in lieu of receiving the Shares (the 
"Optioned Shares") to which the Terminated Option relates, to receive the number of Shares, disregarding 
fractions, which is equal to the quotient obtained by: 

(a) subtracting the Option exercise price per Share from the Fair Market Value per Share on the day 
immediately prior to the exercise of the Right and multiplying the remainder by the number of 
Optioned Shares; and 

(b) dividing the product obtained under subsection 2.6(a) by the Fair Market Value per Share on the 
day immediately prior to the exercise of the Right. 

If a Right is granted in connection with an Option, it is exercisable only to the extent and on the same 
conditions that the related Option is exercisable. 
 
2010 Equity Compensation Plan 

On February 5, 2010, the Company’s shareholders approved and adopted the Company’s 2010 equity 
incentive plan (the “2010 Plan”). The purpose of the 2010 Plan is to enhance the long-term stockholder 
value of the Company by offering opportunities to our directors, officers, employees and eligible 
consultants (“Participants”) to acquire and maintain stock ownership in the Company in order to give 
these persons the opportunity to participate in our growth and success, and to encourage them to remain in 
our service.  

The 2010 Plan is required to be administered by our Board of Directors or a committee appointed by, and 
consisting of two or more members of our Board of Directors (the “Plan Administrator”). The Plan 
Administrator has the exclusive authority, in its discretion, to determine all matters relating to any option 
granted (“Awards”) under the 2010 Plan including: (i) the selection of individuals to be granted Awards; 
(ii) the type of Awards; (iii) the number of shares of Common Stock subject to an Award; (iv) all terms, 
conditions, restrictions and limitations, if any, of an Award; and (v) the terms of any instrument that 
evidences the Award.  
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The Plan Administrator also has exclusive authority to interpret the 2010 Plan and the terms of any 
instrument evidencing the Award and may from time to time adopt and change rules and regulations of 
general application for the 2010 Plan’s administration. The Plan Administrator’s interpretation of the 
2010 Plan and its rules and regulations is conclusive and binding on all parties involved or affected.  

Options that are eligible for grant under the 2010 Plan to Participants include: (a) incentive stock options, 
whereby we will grant options to purchase shares of our common stock to Participants with the intention 
that the options qualify as "incentive stock options" as that term is defined in Section 422 of the Internal 
Revenue Code;  (b) non-incentive stock options, whereby we will grant options to purchase shares of our 
common stock to Participants that do not qualify as "incentive stock options" under the Internal Revenue 
Code; (c) stock appreciation rights; and (d) restricted shares.  The 2010 Plan provides that a maximum of 
Two Million (2,000,000) shares of common stock are available for granting of awards under the 2010 
Plan.  

The Plan Administrator has the authority in its sole discretion to grant Awards to participants as incentive 
stock options or as non-qualified stock options, as appropriate. Unless an earlier termination date is set by 
the Plan Administrator, Awards under the 2010 Plan will terminate at the earliest of the following:  

  (a)  Ten (10) years after the Award is granted; 
  (b)  The date the stock option expires in accordance with its terms; 

  

(c)  Ninety (90) days after the Participant’s employment terminates (or ceases to provide services
to the Company if the grantee is a non-employee director or a consultant) (the “Employment 
Termination Date”), if the Participant's Employment Termination Date occurs by reason of
retirement, resignation or for any other reasons other than for cause, disability or death;  

  
(d)  Twelve (12) months after the Employment Termination Date, if the termination or cessation of

services is a result of death or disability; and 

 
(e) Five (5) years after the Incentive Stock Option is granted for holders of 10% or more of the

Company’s  common stock. 

To the extent that the right to purchase shares under an Award has vested, in order to exercise the Award 
the participant must execute and deliver to the Company a written stock option exercise agreement or 
notice in a form and in accordance with procedures established by the Plan Administrator. In addition, the 
full exercise price of the Option Award must be delivered to the Company and must be paid in a form 
acceptable to the Plan Administrator. 

The exact terms of the option granted are contained in an option agreement between us and the person to 
whom such option is granted. Eligible employees are not required to pay anything to receive options. The 
exercise price for incentive stock options must be no less than: 100% of the fair market value of the 
common stock on the date of grant for Participants that hold less than 10% of the Company’s outstanding 
common stock; and 110% of the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant for 
Participants that hold 10% or more of the Company’s outstanding common stock. The exercise price for 
nonqualified stock options is determined by the Plan Administrator in its sole and complete discretion. An 
option holder may exercise options from time to time, subject to vesting. Options will vest immediately 
upon death or disability of a participant and upon certain change of control events. 

Options will become exercisable by the participants in such amounts and at such times as shall be 
determined by the Plan Administrator in each individual grant. Options are not transferable except by will 
or by the laws of descent and distribution. Options granted under the 2010 Plan will become exercisable 
in the manner at the times and in the amounts determined by the Plan Administrator. Participants may 
exercise options by delivery to the Company of a written stock option exercise agreement or notice, in a 
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form and in accordance with procedures established by the Plan Administrator, setting forth the number 
of shares purchased under such exercise agreement, accompanied by payment in full in the form of a 
check or bank draft or other method of payment or some combination thereof as may be acceptable to the 
Plan Administrator. All incentive stock options granted under the 2010 Plan must comply with Section 
422 of the Code.  

 
 

PRIOR SALES 

The following table summarizes the sales of securities of the Company for the twelve (12) month period 
prior to the date of this prospectus: 

Date Number Shares 
Number of 
Warrants 

Issue Price per 
Share 

Aggregate 
Issue Price 

Consideration 
Received 

February 28, 2010 500,000(1)  $0.20 $100,000 Shares issued for 
acquisition per 
Agreement 

May 31, 2010 557,500 557,500 $0.15  $83,625 

 

(1) Represents 500,000 shares issued per Agreement with GSWPS at market value of $0.20 per share. 

 

Trading Price and Volume  

The Company’s common stock is currently quoted on the PINK OTC under the symbol “ENRT”.  The 
Company began trading on the OTCBB on March 29, 2006. Effective March 26, 2010, the Company had 
its stock quotation under the symbol “GLCP” deleted from the OTCBB.  The symbol was deleted for 
factors beyond the Company’s control due to various market makers electing to shift their orders from the 
OTCBB to the Pink OTC. As a result of these market makers not providing a quote on the OTCBB for 
four consecutive days, the Company was deemed to be deficient in maintaining a listing standard at the 
OTCBB pursuant to Rule 15c2-11. That determination was made entirely without the Company’s 
knowledge.  In June 2010, Pennaluna & Company submitted an application pursuant to FINRA 
Rule 6440 and Rule 15c2-11 to have our shares re-quoted on the OTCBB. Effective July 22, 
2010, we received notice that our shares were cleared for trading and would be re-quoted under 
the symbol "ENRT" on the OTC Bulletin Board. 

The following table sets forth the reported high and low prices and the trading volume as reported by 
stockwatch.com for the shares for each month for the twelve (12) month period prior to the date of this 
prospectus.  

Date 
High 

(US $) 
Low 

(US $)  Volume 
June 2010 
May 2010 
April 2010 

March 2010 
February 2010 
January 2010 

0.16 
0.21 
0.26 

  0.305 
0.25 
0.15 

                     0.11 
                      0.20 
                      0.26   

0.20 
0.25 
0.08 

17,500 
25,400 
3,400 

                 110,993 
                     4,500 

 8,000 
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December 2009 
November 2009 
October 2009 

0.04 
0.06 
0.06 

0.04 
0.06 
0.06                         

                   12,500 
Nil 
Nil 

 September 2009 
August 2009 

0.12(1) 
0.12 

 

0.06 
0.12 

41,250 
2,500 

July 2009 0.20 0.12 7,000 

June 2009 0.18 0.12                    17,800  

May 2009 0.18 0.18 9,450 

April 2009 0.18 0.18 1,500 

(1) This price was quoted after giving effect to the stock consolidation which was effective on September 25, 2009.  

ESCROWED SECURITIES AND OTHER SECURITIES SUBJECT TO RESALE 
RESTRICTIONS 

Escrowed Securities 

None of the Company’s issued shares are held in escrow. 

 

PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 

To the knowledge of the directors and officers of the Company, as of the date of this prospectus no person 
beneficially owns or exercises control or direction over common shares carrying more than 10% of the 
votes attached to common shares except for the following:  

Name Type of Ownership 

Number of Common Shares  Percentage of Common 
Shares on a fully‐diluted 

basis 

Christopher Bunka 

 

 

Direct shareholder of Record 

Indirectly and beneficially 
owned 

1,170,000(1) 

2,396,666(2) 

6.4% 

13.1% 

Robert McAllister Direct shareholder of Record 2,562,500(3) 14.0% 
 (1)  720,000 shares and 450,000 stock options held directly by Christopher Bunka 
(2) 1,863,333 shares and 333,333 warrants owned through wholly-owned holding company C.A.B. Financial 

Services Ltd. and 200,000 shares owned through wholly-owned holding company 0743608 BC Ltd. 
(3) 2,112,500 shares and 450,000 stock options held directly by Robert McAllister 

 

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

The Company currently does not have nominating or compensation committees or committees performing 
similar functions nor does the Company have a written nominating or compensation committee charter. 
The Company’s board of directors does not believe that it is necessary to have such committees because it 
believes the functions of such committees can be adequately performed by the entire board of directors. 
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All directors of our company hold office until the next annual meeting of the stockholders or until their 
successors have been elected and qualified. The officers of our company are appointed by our board of 
directors and hold office until their death, resignation or removal from office. To date, our directors and 
executive officers, their ages, positions held, and duration as such, are as follows:  

Name  Position Held with our Company Age  Date First Elected or  
Appointed

Robert McAllister(1) 

British Columbia, Canada 
Director, 
 President 

49 April 14, 2008 
November 30, 2007 

Christopher Bunka(1) 
British Columbia, Canada  

Director, Chairman of the Board  
Chief Executive Officer  

49  November 2004 

Bal Bhullar 
British Columbia, Canada 

Chief Financial Officer 40 October 9, 2009 

Mark Snyder 
California, United States 
of America 

Chief Technical Officer 56 October 9, 2009 

Gerald Carlson(1) 
British Columbia, Canada 

Director  64 March 1, 2005 

(1)  Member of the audit committee. 

To the knowledge of the Company, as of the date hereof, all directors and senior officers of the Company 
as a group, directly or indirectly beneficially own, exercise control or direction over 7,573,906 common 
shares, share warrants and options to buy shares, or approximately 41.4% of the Company’s currently 
issued and outstanding shares (on a fully diluted basis). 

Business Experience  

The following is a brief account of the education and business experience during at least the past five 
years of each director, executive officer and key employee of our company, indicating the person's 
principal occupation during that period, and the name and principal business of the organization in which 
such occupation and employment were carried out.  

Robert McAllister 

Mr. Robert McAllister has served as our President since December 2007 and as one of our directors since 
April 2008. Mr. McAllister has devoted approximately 50% of his professional time to our business and 
intends to continue to devote this amount of time in the future, or more if required by corporate events. 

Robert McAllister is a resource investment entrepreneur with over 20 years experience in resource sector 
evaluations and commodity cycle analysis. He brings extensive knowledge and expertise in building a 
successful company. From July 2008 to May 2010 Mr. McAllister was President of Cheetah Oil & Gas 
Ltd a publicly listed company located in British Columbia. He currently is a Director and CEO of Cheetah 
Oil & Gas Ltd. 

Mr. McAllister spends approximately 50% of his time on the Company’s affairs and is an independent 
contractor. 

Christopher Bunka  

Mr. Chris Bunka has served as one of our directors since November 2004.  
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Since 1988, Mr. Bunka has been the CEO of CAB Financial Services Ltd., a private holding company 
located in Kelowna, Canada. He is a venture capitalist and corporate consultant. He is also a business 
commentator and provided business updates to Vancouver radio station, CKWX, from 1998 and ending 
in 2010. He has also written business and investment articles published in various North American 
publications. 

From 1999 to 2002, Mr. Bunka was the President and CEO of Secure Enterprise Solutions (symbol 
SETP-OTC) (formerly Newsgurus.com, symbol NGUR-OTC). The company subsequently changed its 
name to Edgetech Services and traded on the OTC with the symbol EDGH. Newsgurus.com was a web-
based media company. Secure Enterprise Solutions moved into Internet-based computer security products 
and services and was subsequently purchased by Edgetech Services. Mr. Bunka is a director of Defiance 
Capital Corp (symbol DEF-TSXV) and a director and officer of Lexaria Corp. (symbol LXRP-OTC and 
LXX-CNSX). 

Mr. Bunka devotes approximately 30% of his professional time to our business and is an independent 
contractor. 

Bal Bhullar, CGA, CRM  

Ms. Bhullar brings over 18 years of diversified financial and risk management experience in both private 
and public companies, in the industries of high-tech, film, mining, marine, oil & gas, energy, transport, 
and spa industries.   

Among some of the areas of experience, Ms. Bhullar brings expertise in financial & strategic planning, 
operational & risk management, regulatory compliance reporting, business expansion, start-up operations, 
financial modeling, program development, corporate financing, and corporate governance/internal 
controls.   

Previously, Ms. Bhullar has held various positions as President of BC Risk Management Association of 
BC, and served as Director and CFO of private and public companies.  Currently, Ms. Bhullar serves as a 
Director and CFO for Bare Elegance Medspa, director and officer of Lexaria Corp. (symbol LXRP-OTC 
and LXX-CNSX) and CFO for ISEE3D Inc. (TSXV: ICT)  

Ms. Bhullar is a Certified General Accountant and as well holds a CRM designation from Simon Fraser 
University and a diploma in Financial Management from British Columbia Institute of Technology. 

Ms. Bhullar spends approximately 50% of her time on the Company’s affairs and is an independent 
contractor. 

Mark Snyder, Chief Technical Officer  

In 1985 Mark Snyder developed one of California’s first large scale bio energy conversion projects where 
a significant client was enabled to produce electric power from agricultural waste and heat 20 acres of 
greenhouses for agriculture. Mark was selected by the Clinton Administration to serve on a White House 
Council addressing the needs of our National Electrical Infrastructure in anticipation of the Y2K 
Conversion.  

Mark co-founded Clean Air USA and has partnered with Willie Nelson Biodiesel to bring clean 
alternative fuels to California. Mark helped champion Solar Rights in California. Using the appeal of the 
Green Ribbon Home™ and California’s Solar Rights Law, Mark has had success in introducing “net 
metering”, which has opened up the solar power market to millions of Californians. 
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Mr. Snyder spends approximately 30% of his time on the Company’s affairs and is an independent 
contractor. 

Dr. Gerald Carlson 

Dr. Gerald Carlson served as our President from March 2005 to November 2007 and as one of our 
directors since March 2005.  

From March 1999 to present, Dr. Carlson has been the President and Co-Founder of Copper Ridge 
Explorations Inc. (“Copper Ridge”), a publicly listed company located in Vancouver, British Columbia 
and a junior explorer with exploration projects in Alaska, Yukon, British Columbia and Mexico. Copper 
Ridge is currently focusing on base and precious metal targets. 

Dr. Carlson is also on the board of several other mineral exploration companies, including Almaden 
Minerals Ltd., Blue Sky Uranium Corp., Panthera Resources Inc., Taipan Resources Inc. and Tarsis 
Resources Ltd. From February 2000 to October 2004, Dr. Carlson was the President of Nevada Star 
Resource Corp., a publicly listed company located in Vancouver, British Columbia, exploring for nickel-
copper-PGEs (platinum group metals) in Alaska. 

Dr. Carlson received his Ph.D. through Dartmouth College in 1978, a M.Sc. from Michigan 
Technological University in 1974 and a B.Sc. from the University of Toronto in 1969, majoring in 
Geological Engineering 

Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 

There have been no cease trade orders or bankruptcies. 

Penalties or Sanctions 

Other than as set out below, none of our directors, officers or principal shareholders are, or have been 
within the last 10 years, the subject of any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian 
securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or have entered into a settlement 
agreement with a Canadian securities regulatory authority or been subject to any other penalties or 
sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would be likely to be considered important to a 
reasonable investor making an investment decision. 

From February, 2006 to October, 2007, Ms. Bal Bhullar acted as Chief Financial Officer of Aultra Gold 
Inc. ("Aultra") (formerly Dutch Mining (Canada) Inc.), and Aultra Gold, Inc., ("Aultra US"), a Nevada 
corporation which was listed on the US PINK OTC Bulletin Board.    

In July 2006, Aultra conducted an equity financing (the "Financing") for the purposes of funding 
proposed property acquisitions and business operations pursuant to which Aultra issued seed stock to 
certain investors including: 761273 B.C. Ltd; Calderan Ventures Ltd.; Scott Kostiuk; William Parkin; 
Ronald Olliver; Lubomir Palecek and Krista Dayton (collectively, the "Subscribers").  

In January 2007, Aultra was acquired by Aultra US by way of a share exchange.  The Subscribers elected 
not to participate in the share exchange and requested that their subscription funds under the Financing, 
totalling in aggregate $215,000, be returned to them.  It is Ms. Bhullar’s understanding that in March 
2007, Aultra US, Aultra and the Subscribers entered into discussions regarding a proposed settlement of 
the matter.  Ms. Bhullar was not involved in these discussions. 
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In April 2007, the Subscribers commenced an action in BC Supreme Court (BCSC Action # No. S072627 
– 761273 B.C. Ltd., et al V. Aultra Gold Inc. et al) alleging that Aultra, Aultra US and the Subscribers had 
agreed to a settlement in the aggregate amount of $225,000, and that in breach of the terms of the 
settlement agreement reached, Aultra had not paid the $225,000 to the Subscribers.  The Statement of 
Claim also asserted misrepresentation by Aultra, Aultra US and each of the officers and directors of 
Aultra and Aultra US, including Ms. Bhullar, in representations made in connection with the Financing.  
The matter is currently before the courts, and the Statement of Defence that has been filed refutes and 
denies all allegations against Ms. Bhullar.  

In April 2010, Mr. Bunka was assessed a fine of $100 by the British Columbia Securities Commission for 
two occurrences of being late filing insider trading reports showing buying of Defiance Capital Corp, a 
TSXV company of which Chris Bunka is a director. 

In April 2010, Mr. McAllister was assessed a fine of $50 by the British Columbia Securities Commission 
for one occurrence of being late filing an insider trading report showing buying of Cheetah Oil & Gas Ltd 
stock. 

Personal Bankruptcies 

None of our directors, officers or principal shareholders, or personal holding company of such persons, 
have, within the last 10 years, become bankrupt or made a proposal under any legislation relating to 
bankruptcy or insolvency or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise 
with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

Conflicts of Interest 

The Company’s directors and officers may serve as directors or officers of other companies or have 
significant shareholdings in other companies and, to the extent that such other companies may participate 
in ventures in which the Company may participate, the directors of the Company may have a conflict of 
interest in negotiating and concluding terms respecting the extent of such participation. In the event that 
such a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the Company’s directors, a director who has such a 
conflict will abstain from voting for or against the approval of such a participation or such terms. The 
directors of the Company are required to act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the 
Company.  

The directors and officers of the Company are aware of the existence of laws governing the accountability 
of directors and officers for corporate opportunity and requiring disclosures by the directors of conflicts 
of interest and the Company will rely upon such laws in respect of any directors’ and officers’ conflicts of 
interest or in respect of any breaches of duty by any of its directors and officers. All such conflicts will be 
disclosed by such directors or officers in accordance with applicable laws and shall govern themselves in 
respect thereof to the best of their ability in accordance with the obligations imposed upon them by law. 
The directors and officers of the Company are not aware of any such conflicts of interests. 

 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Audit Committee's Charter 

The primary function of the audit committee (the "Committee") is to assist the Company’s Board of 
Directors in fulfilling its financial oversight responsibilities by reviewing the financial reports and other 
financial information provided by the Company to regulatory authorities and shareholders, the 
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Company’s systems of internal controls regarding finance and accounting and the Company’s auditing, 
accounting and financial reporting processes. Consistent with this function, the Committee will encourage 
continuous improvement of, and should foster adherence to, the Company’s policies, procedures and 
practices at all levels. The Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities are to: 

 serve as an independent and objective party to monitor the Company’s financial reporting and internal 
control system and review the Company’s financial statements; 

 review and appraise the performance of the Company’s external auditors; and 

 provide an open avenue of communication among the Company’s auditors, financial and senior 
management and the Board of Directors. 

Composition 

The Committee shall be comprised of a minimum three directors as determined by the Board of Directors.  
If the Company ceases to be a “venture issuer” (as that term is defined in National Instrument  52-110), 
then all of the members of the Committee shall be free from any relationship that, in the opinion of the 
Board of Directors, would interfere with the exercise of his or her independent judgment as a member of 
the Committee. 

If the Company ceases to be a “venture issuer” (as that term is defined in National Instrument 52-110), 
then all members of the Committee shall have accounting or related financial management expertise.  All 
members of the Committee that are not financially literate will work towards becoming financially literate 
to obtain a working familiarity with basic finance and accounting practices. For the purposes of the 
Company's Audit Committee Charter, the definition of “financially literate” is the ability to read and 
understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting 
issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that can presumably be 
expected to be raised by the Company's financial statements. 

The members of the Committee shall be elected by the Board of Directors at its first meeting following 
the annual shareholders’ meeting. Unless a Chair is elected by the full Board of Directors, the members of 
the Committee may designate a Chair by a majority vote of the full Committee membership. 

Meetings 

The Committee shall meet a least twice annually, or more frequently as circumstances dictate. As part of 
its job to foster open communication, the Committee will meet at least annually with the Chief Financial 
Officer and the external auditors in separate sessions. 

Responsibilities and Duties 

To fulfill its responsibilities and duties, the Committee shall: 

Documents/Reports Review 

 review and update this Audit Committee Charter annually; and 

 review the Company's financial statements, MD&A and any annual and interim earnings press 
releases before the Company publicly discloses this information and any reports or other financial 
information (including quarterly financial statements), which are submitted to any governmental 
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body, or to the public, including any certification, report, opinion, or review rendered by the external 
auditors.  

External Auditors 

 review annually, the performance of the external auditors who shall be ultimately accountable to the 
Company’s Board of Directors and the Committee as representatives of the shareholders of the 
Company;  

 obtain annually, a formal written statement of external auditors setting forth all relationships between 
the external auditors and the Company, consistent with Independence Standards Board Standard 1;  

 review and discuss with the external auditors any disclosed relationships or services that may impact 
the objectivity and independence of the external auditors;  

 take, or recommend that the Company’s full Board of Directors take appropriate action to oversee the 
independence of the external auditors, including the resolution of disagreements between 
management and the external auditor regarding financial reporting;  

 recommend to the Company’s Board of Directors the selection and, where applicable, the 
replacement of the external auditors nominated annually for shareholder approval;  

 recommend to the Company’s Board of Directors the compensation to be paid to the external 
auditors;  

 at each meeting, consult with the external auditors, without the presence of management, about the 
quality of the Company’s accounting principles, internal controls and the completeness and accuracy 
of the Company's financial statements;  

 review and approve the Company's hiring policies regarding partners, employees and former partners 
and employees of the present and former external auditors of the Company;  

 review with management and the external auditors the audit plan for the year-end financial statements 
and intended template for such statements; and 

 review and pre-approve all audit and audit-related services and the fees and other compensation 
related thereto, and any non-audit services, provided by the Company’s external auditors. The pre-
approval requirement is waived with respect to the provision of non-audit services if:  

o the aggregate amount of all such non-audit services provided to the Company constitutes not 
more than five percent of the total amount of revenues paid by the Company to its external 
auditors during the fiscal year in which the non-audit services are provided, 

o such services were not recognized by the Company at the time of the engagement to be non-
audit services, and 

o such services are promptly brought to the attention of the Committee by the Company and 
approved prior to the completion of the audit by the Committee or by one or more members 
of the Committee who are members of the Board of Directors to whom authority to grant 
such approvals has been delegated by the Committee.  



 

{WLMLAW W0063670.DOC}39 

Provided the pre-approval of the non-audit services is presented to the Committee's first 
scheduled meeting following such approval such authority may be delegated by the 
Committee to one or more independent members of the Committee. 

Financial Reporting Processes 

 in consultation with the external auditors, review with management the integrity of the Company's 
financial reporting process, both internal and external;  

 consider the external auditors’ judgments about the quality and appropriateness of the Company’s 
accounting principles as applied in its financial reporting;  

 consider and approve, if appropriate, changes to the Company’s auditing and accounting principles 
and practices as suggested by the external auditors and management;  

 review significant judgments made by management in the preparation of the financial statements and 
the view of the external auditors as to appropriateness of such judgments;  

 following completion of the annual audit, review separately with management and the external 
auditors any significant difficulties encountered during the course of the audit, including any 
restrictions on the scope of work or access to required information;  

 review any significant disagreement among management and the external auditors in connection with 
the preparation of the financial statements;  

 review with the external auditors and management the extent to which changes and improvements in 
financial or accounting practices have been implemented;  

 review any complaints or concerns about any questionable accounting, internal accounting controls or 
auditing matters;  

 review certification process;  

 establish a procedure for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company 
regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters; and 

 establish a procedure for the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of 
concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.  

Other 

 review any related-party transactions;  

 engage independent counsel and other advisors as it determines necessary to carry out its duties; and 

 to set and pay compensation for any independent counsel and other advisors employed by the 
Committee.” 
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Composition 

The Company’s Audit Committee is currently comprised of three directors, Christopher Bunka, Robert 
McAllister and Gerald Carlson.  As defined in NI 52-110, the Company does not have a director that is 
“independent.  Also as defined in NI 52-110, Christopher Bunka is considered to be “financially literate”.   

Relevant Education and Experience 

The education and experience of each audit committee member that is relevant to the performance of his 
responsibilities as an audit committee member is as follows: 

Christopher Bunka  

Since 1988, Mr. Bunka has been the CEO of CAB Financial Services Ltd., a private holding company 
located in Kelowna, Canada. He is a venture capitalist and corporate consultant. He is also a business 
commentator and has provided business updates to Vancouver radio station, CKWX, from 1998 and 
ended in 2010. He has also written business and investment articles published in various North American 
publications.  

Robert McAllister 

Mr. McAllister is a resource investment entrepreneur with over 20 years experience in resource sector 
evaluations and commodity cycle analysis. He brings extensive knowledge and expertise in building a 
successful company. From July 2008 to May 2010 Mr. McAllister was President of Cheetah Oil & Gas 
Ltd a publicly listed company located in British Columbia. He currently is a Director and CEO of Cheetah 
Oil & Gas Ltd. 

Dr. Gerald Carlson 

From March 1999 to present, Dr. Carlson has been the President and Co-Founder of Copper Ridge 
Explorations Inc. (“Copper Ridge”), a publicly listed company located in Vancouver, British Columbia 
and a junior explorer with exploration projects in Alaska, Yukon, British Columbia and Mexico. Copper 
Ridge is currently focusing on base and precious metal targets. 

Dr. Carlson is also on the board of several other mineral exploration companies, including Almaden 
Minerals Ltd., Blue Sky Uranium Corp., Panthera Resources Inc., Taipan Resources Inc. and Tarsis 
Resources Ltd. From February 2000 to October 2004, Dr. Carlson was the President of Nevada Star 
Resource Corp., a publicly listed company located in Vancouver, British Columbia, exploring for nickel-
copper-PGEs (platinum group metals) in Alaska. 

Dr. Carlson received his Ph.D. through Dartmouth College in 1978, a M.Sc. from Michigan 
Technological University in 1974 and a B.Sc. from the University of Toronto in 1969, majoring in 
Geological Engineering 

Audit Committee Oversight 

Since the commencement of the Company’s most recently completed financial year, the Company’s 
Board of Directors has not failed to adopt a recommendation of the Audit Committee to nominate or 
compensate an external auditor. 
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Reliance on Certain Exemptions 

Since the commencement of the Company’s most recently completed financial year, the Company has not 
relied on the exemptions contained in sections 2.4 or 8 of NI 52-110.  Section 2.4 provides an exemption 
from the requirement that the Audit Committee must pre-approve all non-audit services to be provided by 
the auditor, where the total amount of fees related to the non-audit services are not expected to exceed 5% 
of the total fees payable to the auditor in the fiscal year in which the non-audit services were provided.  
Section 8 permits a company to apply to a securities regulatory authority for an exemption from the 
requirements of NI 52-110 in whole or in part. 

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 

The Audit Committee has not adopted specific policies and procedures for the engagement of non-audit 
services.  Subject to the requirements of NI 52-110, the engagement of non-audit services is considered 
by the Company’s Board of Directors, and where applicable by the Audit Committee, on a case-by-case 
basis. 

External Auditor Service Fees (By Category) 

In the following table, “audit fees” billed by the Company’s external auditor for services provided in 
auditing the Company’s annual financial statements for the subject year.  “Audit-related fees” are fees not 
included in audit fees that are billed by the auditor for assurance and related services that are reasonably 
related to the performance of the audit review of the Company’s financial statements.  “Tax fees” are fees 
billed by the auditor for professional services rendered for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning.  
“All other fees” are fees billed by the auditor for products and services not included in the foregoing 
categories. 
 
The fees paid by the Company to its auditor in each of the last two fiscal years, by category, are as 
follows: 
 

Financial 
Year Ended 
August 31 

Audit Fees Audit Related 
Fees 

Tax Fees All Other Fees 

2009 $17,350 $12,650 $Nil $Nil 

2008 $14,560 $13,440 $Nil $Nil 
 

Exemption  

The Company is relying on the exemption provided by section 6.1 of NI 52-110 which provides that the 
Company, as a venture issuer, is not required to comply with Part 3 (Composition of the Audit 
Committee) and Part 5 (Reporting Obligations) of NI 52-110. 

 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Pursuant to National Policy 58-101 Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices, the Company is 
required to and hereby discloses its corporate governance practices as follows:   
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1. Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors of the Company facilitates its exercise of independent supervision over the 
Company’s management through frequent meetings of the Board. 

The Company does not have a director that would be considered “independent” in that he or she would be 
independent and free from any interest and any business or other relationship which could or could 
reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with the director’s ability to act with the best interests of 
the Company, other than the interests and relationships arising from shareholders.  Christopher Bunka is 
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Robert McAllister is the President of the Company and 
Gerald Carlson is a consultant, former executive of the Company and holds less than 10% of the 
Company’s equity securities and are therefore not independent.  

2. Directorships 
 

Director Other Directorships 

Christopher Bunka Defiance Capital Corp. (TSXV: DEF) 
Lexaria Corp. (OTCBB: LXRP; CNSX:LXX) 

Robert McAllister Cheetah Oil & Gas (OTCBB: COHG) 

Gerald Carlson COMPANY DATES                             
 
Dentonia Resources Ltd. 1994/02 to 2006/09 
IMA Exploration Inc. 1999/02 to 2007/12 
Weymin Mining Ltd. 1999/06 to 2000/01 
Orphan Boy Resources Inc. 1999/10 to 2005/12 
Nevada Star Resource Corp. 2002/02 to 2006/05 
Superior Canadian Resources Inc. 2004/02 to 2004/08 
Golden Arrow Resources Corp. 2004/07 to 2004/10 
BonTerra Resources Inc 2007/12 to 2009/10 
Almaden Minerals Ltd.  1998/07 to present 
Copper Ridge Explorations Inc. 1999/03 to present 
Panthera Exploration Inc. 2006/11 to present 
Tarsis Resources Ltd. 2007/07 to present 
Blue Sky Uranium Corp. 2009/04 to present 
Taipan Resources Inc. 2009/11 to present 
Fairmont Resources Inc. 2009/12 to present 

 

3. Orientation and Continuing Education 

The Board of Directors of the Company briefs all new directors with respect to the policies of the Board 
of Directors and other relevant corporate and business information.  The Board does not provide any 
continuing education. 

4. Ethical Business Conduct 

The Board has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by the Company’s governing 
corporate legislation and the common law and the restrictions placed by applicable corporate legislation 
on an individual director’s participation in decisions of the Board in which the director has an interest 
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have been sufficient to ensure that the Board operates independently of management and in the best 
interests of the Company. 

5. Nomination of Directors 

The Board of Directors is responsible for identifying individuals qualified to become new Board members 
and recommending to the Board new director nominees for the next annual meeting of shareholders. 

New nominees must have a track record in general business management, special expertise in an area of 
strategic interest to the Company, the ability to devote the required time, show support for the Company’s 
mission and strategic objectives, and a willingness to serve. 

6. Compensation 

The Board of Directors conducts reviews with regard to the compensation of the directors and CEO once 
a year.  To make its recommendations on such compensation, the Board of Directors takes into account 
the types of compensation and the amounts paid to directors and officers of comparable publicly traded 
Canadian companies. 

7. Other Board Committees 

The Board of Directors has no other committees other than the Audit Committee. 

8. Assessments 

The Board of Directors regularly monitors the adequacy of information given to directors, 
communications between the board and management and the strategic direction and processes of the 
Board and its committees. 

 
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Executive Compensation 

The Company does not anticipate making any material changes to the compensation it currently pays to 
its executives. 

The particulars of compensation paid to the following persons:  

  (a)  our principal executive officer; 
      

  
(b)  each of our two most highly compensated executive officers who were serving as executive

officers at the year ended August 31, 2009; and 
   

  
(c)  up to two additional individuals for whom disclosure would have been provided under (b) but

for the fact that the individual was not serving as our executive officer at the end of the year
ended August 31, 2009, 

who we will collectively refer to as our named executive officers, of our company for the years ended 
August 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, are set out in the following summary compensation table, except that no 
disclosure is provided for any named executive officer, other than our principal executive officer, whose 
total compensation does not exceed $100,000 for the respective fiscal year:  
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    SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE     
 

Name  
and 

Principal  
Position 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Year 

 
 
 

Salary  
($) 

 
 

Bonus  
($) 

 
 

Stock 
Awards 

($) 

 
Option 
Awards 

(#) 

Non-
Equity  

Incentive 
Plan  

Compensa- 
tion  
($)

Nonqualified  
Deferred  

Compensation  
Earnings  

($) 

 
All  

Other  
Compensa- 

tion  
($) 

 
Total 

($) 

Robert 
McAllister(1) 
President 
and Director 

2009 
2008 
2007 

$52,200 
$18,000 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
150,000 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

$52,200 
$18,000 
Nil 

Gerald 
Carlson (2) 
Director and 
Former 
President  

 
2009 
2008 
2007  
 
 

Nil 
$6,000 
$25,440  
 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil  
 

Nil 
Nil  
 

Nil 
50,000 
Nil 
 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil  
 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil  
 

Nil 
$1,590 
Nil  
 

Nil 
$7,590 
$25,440 
 

Chris Bunka  
Chief 
Executive  
Officer, 
Director and 
Former Chief 
Financial 
Officer 

 
2009 
2008 
2007  
  

 
$45,000(3) 
Nil 
Nil  
 

 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil  
 

 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil  
 

 
Nil 
150,000 
Nil 
  

 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil  
 

 
Nil 
Nil 
Nil  
 

 
$42,608 
$25,130 
Nil  
 

 
$87,608 
$25,130 
Nil  
 

 

(1) On November 30, 2007, Mr. McAllister was appointed as our President and on April 14, 2008 he was 
appointed as a director. 

(2) On November 30, 2007, Mr. Carlson resigned as our President but remained a director of our company. 

(3) Salary compensation for Chris Bunka is accrued fees. 

The Company has a consulting agreement with CAB Financial Services Ltd.(‘CAB’), a corporation 
organized under the laws of the Province of British Columbia.  CAB is a consulting company controlled 
by the chairman of the board and chief executive officer of the Company.  CAB Financial Services Ltd. is 
to provide management consulting services for $5,000 per month plus HST on a continuing basis. 

The Company has a consulting agreement with the President of the Company for corporate administration 
and oil and gas exploration and production consulting services for $5,000 per month plus HST on a 
continuing basis.   

On October 9, 2009, the Company entered into consulting agreement with BKB Management Ltd., a 
corporation organized under the laws of the Province of British Columbia.  BKB Management Ltd. is a 
consulting company controlled by the chief financial officer of the Company.  BKB Management is to 
provide management consulting services for CAD$4,500 per month plus HST. 

On October 9, 2009, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with the chief technical officer of 
the Company for $1,000 per month. 

Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards in the Most Recently Completed Financial Year 

The Company did not have any long-term incentive plans during the most recently completed financial 
year. 
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Option/SAR Grants During the Most Recently Completed Financial Year 

The Company granted no stock options or stock appreciation rights (“SAR”) to the Named Executive 
Officers during the most recently completed financial year.  

After August 31, 2009, all the options granted to officers and directors or former directors and advisors 
from the prior fiscal year have been reduced by a factor of 2 as a result of a 1 for 2 share consolidation 
thus these options have been reduced as of September 25, 2009 as follows: 

 

To Chris Bunka - 150,000 stock options 

To Robert McAllister - 150,000 stock options 

To Gerald Carlson – 

To Jim Letourneau –  

To Hugh Reid –  

To Jennifer Wells –  

To Kristian Ross- 

To Alex Degreeve- 

To Richard Mayers- 

To John Andrichuk- 

To David Ragan- 

50,000 stock options 

50,000 stock options 

75,000 stock options 

75,000 stock options 

40,000 stock options 

125,000 stock options 

62,500 stock options 

40,000 stock options 

75,000 stock options 

On May 14, 2010, Advisors to the Company Jim Letourneau, Hugh Reid, Jennifer Wells, Alex Degreeve, 
Richard Mayers, John Andrichuk and David Ragan were dismissed. All unvested stock options assigned 
to these persons have been cancelled on May 14, 2010 and all vested and exercisable stock options 
assigned to these persons will expire on August 14, 2010 if not exercised before then.  

On October 22nd  2009 the Company granted additional option to officers, directors, and advisors to the 
Company as follows: 

To Chris Bunka - 100,000 stock options 

To Robert McAllister - 100,000 stock options 

To Bal Bhullar - 100,000 stock options 

To Mark Snyder - 100,000 stock options 

To Gerald Carlson - 100,000 stock options 
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On December 30th  2009, the Company granted additional option to officers, directors, and advisors to the 
Company as follows: 

To Chris Bunka - 200,000 stock options 

To Robert McAllister - 200,000 stock options 

To Bal Bhullar - 100,000 stock options 

To Mark Snyder - 100,000 stock options 

To Gerald Carlson - 50,000 stock options 

On March 5, 2010, the Company granted additional option to a consultant to the Company as follows: 

To Brian Thomas - 100,000 stock options 

Aggregated Option/SAR Exercises During The Most Recently Completed Financial Year And 
Financial Year-End Option/SAR Values 

None of the Named Executive Officers, directors or officers of the Company exercised any options in 
respect of the Company’s shares during the most recently completed financial year. 

Termination of Employment, Change in Responsibilities and Employment Contracts 

The Company is not a party to any contracts, and has not entered into any plans or arrangements which 
require compensation to be paid to any of its Directors, officers or employees in the event of resignation, 
retirement or any other termination of employment with the Company, a change of control of the 
Company, or a change in the director, officer or employee’s responsibilities following a change of 
control. 

Compensation of Directors 

The Company provides no cash compensation to its directors in their capacity as directors. The Company 
provides a salary to its Chief Executive Officer as well as its President, who also serve as directors, in 
their capacities as officers. 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

Indebtedness of Directors and Officers 

Other than routine indebtedness for travel and other expense advances, no existing or proposed director or 
executive officer of the Company, or any associate of any of them, was indebted to the Company as at 
August 31, 2009, or is currently indebted to the Company or has any indebtedness to another entity which 
is the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or 
understanding provided by the Company. 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 

No securities are offered pursuant to this prospectus.  This is a non-offering prospectus. We are a 
reporting issuer in the Province of British Columbia. We are filing this prospectus to allow our previously 
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issued shares to be re-sold in certain jurisdictions without an exemption from the prospectus and 
registration requirements of certain securities legislation.  

The Canadian National Stock Exchange (the “CNSX”) has conditionally accepted the listing of the 
Company’s common shares.  Quotation will be subject to the Company fulfilling all of the requirements 
of the CNSX. 

As at the date of this prospectus, the Company does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not 
applied to list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its 
securities, on the Toronto Stock Exchange, a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the 
United States of America other than the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange or 
the PLUS markets operated by PLUS Markets Group plc. 

RISK FACTORS 

Much of the information included in this prospectus includes or is based upon estimates, projections or 
other "forward-looking statements". Such forward-looking statements include any projections or 
estimates made by us and our management in connection with our business operations. While these 
forward-looking statements, and any assumptions upon which they are based, are made in good faith and 
reflect our current judgment regarding the direction of our business, actual results will almost always 
vary, sometimes materially, from any estimates, predictions, projections, assumptions, or other future 
performance suggested herein. We undertake no obligation to update forward-looking statements to 
reflect events or circumstances occurring after the date of such statements.  

Such estimates, projections or other "forward-looking statements" involve various risks and uncertainties 
as outlined below. We caution readers of this prospectus that important factors in some cases have 
affected and, in the future, could materially affect actual results and cause actual results to differ 
materially from the results expressed in any such estimates, projections or other "forward-looking 
statements". In evaluating us, our business and any investment in our business, readers should carefully 
consider the following factors.  

Our common shares are considered speculative. Prospective investors should consider carefully the risk 
factors set out below.  

Risks Associated with Business 

No Assurance of Profitability 
 
Our renewable energy business operations are in the start-up stage only, and are unproven. We may not 
be successful in implementing our business plan to become profitable. There may be less demand for our 
services than we anticipate. There is no assurance that this business will succeed. 
 
Changing Consumer Preferences 
 
The decision of a potential client to undergo an environmental audit or review may be based on ethical or 
commercial reasons. In some instances, or with certain businesses, there may be no assurance that an 
environmental review will result in any cost savings or increased revenues. As such, unless the ethical 
consideration is also a material factor, there may be no incentive for such businesses to undertake an 
environmental review. Changes in consumer and commercial preferences, or trends, toward or away from 
environmental issues may impact on businesses’ decisions to undergo environmental reviews. 
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General Economic Factors 
 
The willingness of businesses to spend time and money on energy efficiency may be dependent upon 
general economic conditions; and any material downturn may reduce the likelihood of businesses 
incurring costs toward what some businesses may consider a discretionary expense item. 
 
Factors Affecting Operating Results 
 
Our operating results will be affected by a wide variety of factors that could materially affect revenues 
and profitability, including the timing and cancellation of customer orders and projects, competitive 
pressures on pricing, availability of personnel, and market acceptance of our services. As a result, we may 
experience material fluctuations in future operating results on a quarterly and annual basis which could 
materially affect our business, financial condition and operating results. 
 
Competition 
 
There are virtually no barriers to entry in the solar PV, solar thermal and energy recovery business 
sectors. As it is largely unregulated, we may face growing competition from any number of persons or 
firms who are, or who hold themselves out to be, competitors in this field. 
 
Quality of Service/Industry Practices 
 
Demand for our services may be adversely affected if consumers lose confidence in the quality of our 
services or the industry’s practices. Adverse publicity may discourage businesses from buying our 
services and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. 
 
Unethical Business Practices 
 
We may suffer negative publicity if we, any third party contractors we may engage, or any of our 
customers for whom we have implemented changes, are found to engage in any environmentally 
insensitive practices or other business practices that are viewed as unethical. 
 
No Significant Customers 
 
We currently have no long-term agreements with any customers. Many of our services may be provided 
on a “onetime” basis. Accordingly, we will require new customers on a continuous basis to sustain our 
operations. 
 
Fixed Price Contracts 
 
Fixed price contracts require the service provider to perform all agreed services for a specified lump-sum 
amount. We anticipate a material percentage of our services will be performed on a fixed price basis. 
Fixed price contracts expose us to some significant risks, including under-estimation of costs, ambiguities 
in specifications, unforeseen costs or difficulties, and delays beyond our control. These risks could lead to 
losses on contracts which may be substantial and which could adversely affect the results of our 
operations. 
 
Effectiveness and Efficiency of Advertising and Promotional Expenditures 
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The future growth and profitability of our clean energy business sectors will be dependent in part on the 
effectiveness and efficiency of our advertising and promotional expenditures, including our ability to (i) 
create greater awareness of our services, (ii) determine the appropriate creative message and media mix 
for future advertising expenditures, and (iii) effectively manage advertising and promotional costs in 
order to maintain acceptable operating margins. There can be no assurance that we will experience 
benefits from advertising and promotional  expenditures in the future. In addition, no assurance can be 
given that our planned advertising and promotional expenditures will result in increased revenues, will 
generate levels of service and name awareness or that we will be able to manage such advertising and 
promotional expenditures on a cost-effective basis. 
 
Human Resources 
 
We will depend on our ability to attract, retain and motivate our management team, consultants and other 
employees. There is strong competition for qualified technical and management personnel in the 
renewable energy sector, and it is expected that such competition will increase. Our planned growth will 
place increased demands on our existing resources and will likely require the addition of technical 
personnel and the development of additional expertise by existing personnel. There can be no assurance 
that our compensation packages will be sufficient to ensure the continued availability of qualified 
personnel who are necessary for the development of our business. 

We have a limited operating history with losses and we expect the losses to continue, which raises 
concerns about our ability to continue as a going concern. 

We have generated minimal revenues since our inception and will, in all likelihood, continue to incur 
operating expenses with minimal revenues until we are able to successfully develop our business. Our 
business plan will require us to incur further expenses. We may not be able to ever become profitable. 
These circumstances raise concerns about our ability to continue as a going concern. We have a limited 
operating history and must be considered in the start-up stage.  

We will require additional financing to develop our business plan. 

Because we have generated only minimal revenue from our business and cannot anticipate when we will 
be able to generate meaningful revenue from our business, we will need to raise additional funds to 
conduct and grow our business. We do not currently have sufficient financial resources to completely 
fund the development of our business plan. We anticipate that we will need to raise further financing. We 
do not currently have any arrangements for financing and we can provide no assurance to investors that 
we will be able to find such financing if required. The most likely source of future funds presently 
available to us is through the sale of equity capital. Any sale of share capital will result in dilution to 
existing security-holders. 

We may not be able to obtain all of the licenses necessary to operate our business. 

Our operations may require licenses and permits from various governmental authorities to build and 
install alternative energy systems or to conduct energy retrofits. We believe that we will be able to obtain 
all necessary licenses and permits under applicable laws and regulations for our operations and believe we 
will be able to comply in all material respects with the terms of such licenses and permits. However, such 
licenses and permits are subject to change in various circumstances. There can be no guarantee that we 
will be able to obtain or maintain all necessary licenses and permits. 
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The volatility of energy prices could adversely affect our results of operations. 

The business sectors in which we operate all are related to the production or conservation of energy in one 
form or another. Thus the existing prevailing prices of conventional energy in any given location can have 
an overwhelming influence on the economic desirability of our potential clients to decide whether to enter 
into any initiative to use clean technologies to produce or conserve the energy they may use. We have no 
control over prevailing energy prices so our business is subject to the risks of competitively priced 
conventional energy. 

Changes in environmental regulations. 

We believe that we currently comply with existing environmental laws and regulations affecting our 
proposed operations. While there are no currently known proposed changes in these laws or regulations, 
significant changes have affected the industry in the past and additional changes may occur in the future. 

Our operations may be subject to environmental laws, regulations and rules promulgated from time to 
time by government. In addition, certain types of operations require the submission and approval of 
environmental impact assessments. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner that means stricter 
standards and enforcement. Fines and penalties for non-compliance are more stringent. Environmental 
assessments of proposed projects carry a heightened degree of responsibility for companies, directors, 
officers and employees. The cost of compliance with changes in governmental regulations has potential to 
reduce the profitability of operations. We intend to comply with all environmental regulations in the 
United States and Canada. 

If we are unable to recruit or retain qualified personnel, it could have a material adverse effect on our 
operating results and stock price. 

Our success depends in large part on the continued services of our executive officers and third party 
relationships. We currently do not have key person insurance on these individuals. The loss of these 
people, especially without advance notice, could have a material adverse impact on our results of 
operations and our stock price. It is also very important that we be able to attract and retain highly skilled 
personnel, including technical personnel, to accommodate our exploration plans and to replace personnel 
who leave. Competition for qualified personnel can be intense, and there are a limited number of people 
with the requisite knowledge and experience. Under these conditions, we could be unable to recruit, train, 
and retain employees. If we cannot attract and retain qualified personnel, it could have a material adverse 
impact on our operating results and stock price. 

Risks Associated with the Shares of Our Company 

Trading on the OTCBB may be volatile and sporadic, which could depress the market price of our 
common stock and make it difficult for our stockholders to resell their shares.  

Our common stock is quoted on the OTCBB service of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority. 
Trading in stock quoted on the OTCBB is often thin and characterized by wide fluctuations in trading 
prices, due to many factors that may have little to do with our operations or business prospects. This 
volatility could depress the market price of our common stock for reasons unrelated to operating 
performance. Moreover, the OTCBB is not a stock exchange, and trading of securities on the OTCBB  is 
often more sporadic than the trading of securities listed on a quotation system like Nasdaq or a stock 
exchange like Amex. Accordingly, shareholders may have difficulty reselling any of the shares.  
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Because we do not intend to pay any dividends on our shares, investors seeking dividend income or 
liquidity should not purchase our shares. 

We have not declared or paid any dividends on our shares since inception, and do not anticipate paying 
any such dividends for the foreseeable future. Investors seeking dividend income or liquidity should not 
invest in our shares. 

Because we can issue additional shares, purchasers of our shares may incur immediate dilution and may 
experience further dilution. 

We are authorized to issue up to 200,000,000 shares. The board of directors of our company have the 
authority to cause us to issue additional shares, and to determine the rights, preferences and privileges of 
such shares, without consent of any of our stockholders. Consequently, our stockholders may experience 
more dilution in their ownership of our company in the future. 

Other Risks 

Our stock is a penny stock. Trading of our stock may be restricted by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission's penny stock regulations which may limit a stockholder's ability to buy and sell our stock.  

Our stock is a penny stock. The Securities and Exchange Commission has adopted Rule 15g-9 which 
generally defines "penny stock" to be any equity security that has a market price (as defined) less than 
$5.00 per share or an exercise price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to certain exceptions. Our 
securities are covered by the penny stock rules, which impose additional sales practice requirements on 
broker-dealers who sell to persons other than established customers and "accredited investors". The term 
"accredited investor" refers generally to institutions with assets in excess of $5,000,000 or individuals 
with a net worth in excess of $1,000,000 or annual income exceeding $200,000 or $300,000 jointly with 
their spouse. The penny stock rules require a broker-dealer, prior to a transaction in a penny stock not 
otherwise exempt from the rules, to deliver a standardized risk disclosure document in a form prepared by 
the Securities and Exchange Commission which provides information about penny stocks and the nature 
and level of risks in the penny stock market. The broker-dealer also must provide the customer with 
current bid and offer quotations for the penny stock, the compensation of the broker-dealer and its 
salesperson in the transaction and monthly account statements showing the market value of each penny 
stock held in the customer's account. The bid and offer quotations, and the broker-dealer and salesperson 
compensation information, must be given to the customer orally or in writing prior to effecting the 
transaction and must be given to the customer in writing before or with the customer's confirmation. In 
addition, the penny stock rules require that prior to a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt 
from these rules, the broker-dealer must make a special written determination that the penny stock is a 
suitable investment for the purchaser and receive the purchaser's written agreement to the transaction. 
These disclosure requirements may have the effect of reducing the level of trading activity in the 
secondary market for the stock that is subject to these penny stock rules. Consequently, these penny stock 
rules may affect the ability of broker-dealers to trade our securities. We believe that the penny stock rules 
discourage investor interest in and limit the marketability of our common stock.  

The Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, or FINRA, has adopted sales practice requirements which 
may also limit a stockholder's ability to buy and sell our stock.  

In addition to the "penny stock" rules described above, FINRA has adopted rules that require that in 
recommending an investment to a customer, a broker-dealer must have reasonable grounds for believing 
that the investment is suitable for that customer. Prior to recommending speculative low priced securities 
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to their non-institutional customers, broker-dealers must make reasonable efforts to obtain information 
about the customer's financial status, tax status, investment objectives and other information. Under 
interpretations of these rules, FINRA believes that there is a high probability that speculative low priced 
securities will not be suitable for at least some customers. FINRA requirements make it more difficult for 
broker-dealers to recommend that their customers buy our common stock, which may limit your ability to 
buy and sell our stock and have an adverse effect on the market for our shares. 

PROMOTERS 

Christopher Bunka took the initiative in substantially reorganizing the business of the Company and, 
accordingly, may be considered a promoter of the Company, as that term is defined in the Securities Act 
(British Columbia) within the meaning of securities legislation of British Columbia. As of the date of this 
prospectus, such individual owns the number of Common Shares described under “principal 
shareholders” above.  

See “Principal Shareholders” for details on the number of shares directly and indirectly held by him; 
“Directors and Executive Officers” and “Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions” 
for disclosure regarding our promoter. 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

The Company is not party to, nor is any of the Company’s property the subject of, any legal proceedings, 
nor, to the best of the Company’s knowledge, are any such legal proceedings contemplated. 

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

Other than as set out below and disclosed in this prospectus no director, executive officer or principal 
shareholder of the Company, or an associate or affiliate of a director, executive officer or principal 
shareholder of the Company, has any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction which has 
occurred within the three years before the date of this prospectus, or in any proposed transaction that has 
materially affected or will materially affect the Company. 

On August 28, 2009 and effective on September 1, 2009, the Company entered into an assignment 
agreement to participate in a well program in Jackson, Mississippi with Cheetah Oil and Gas Ltd., a 
public company. The Company agreed to pay $45,000 to acquire a 40.432 percent interest from Cheetah 
Oil and Gas Ltd's 8 percent gross interest in the Belmont Lake 12-4 well by paying 57.76 percent of the 
drilling, completion and tie in costs. Mr. Robert McAllister a director and Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company is also a director and Chief Executive Officer of Cheetah Oil and Gas Ltd. 

On August 28, 2009 and effective on September 1, 2009, the Company entered into an assignment 
agreement to participate in a well program in Jackson, Mississippi with Lexaria Corp., a public company.  
The Company agreed to pay $59,987 to acquire a 13.475 percent interest from Lexaria Corp's 32 percent 
gross interest in the Belmont Lake 12-4 well by paying 19.25 percent of the drilling, completion and tie in 
costs. Mr. Chris Bunka a director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company is also a director and Chief 
Executive Officer of Lexaria Corp.  Additionally, Ms. Bal Bhullar the Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company is also a director and Chief Financial Officer of Lexaria Corp. 
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The Company has an 8.25% equity investment in Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd., a clean technology energy 
company involved in designing, developing and installing solar energy solutions for commercial and 
residential customers.  Approximately 41% of the equity securities of Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd. is owned 
and controlled by our Chief Executive Officer, Christopher Bunka. Because Mr. Bunka has a significant 
ownership position in Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd, he could benefit from payments made from the 
Company to Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd. As of May 31, 2010, Mr. Bunka has received no payments from 
the Company related to his interest in Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd. 

Effective January 31, 2010, the Company entered into a Independent Sales and Marketing Representative 
Agreement with Global Solar Water Power Systems Inc. ("GSWPS"), a private company beneficially 
owned by Mark Snyder, the Company’s Chief Technical Officer. Because Mr. Snyder is the majority 
owner of GSWPS, he will benefit from the Company  procuring any sales of the water filtration unit.  

Effective February 28, 2010, the Company entered into an asset and share purchase agreement with Mr. 
Mark Snyder to acquire up to 20% ownership of Global Solar Water Power Systems Inc. (“GSWPS”), a 
private company beneficially owned by Mark Snyder, our company’s Chief Technical Officer.  Because 
Mr. Snyder is the majority owner of GSWPS, he will benefit from payments made from the Company to 
GSWPS; and he is the direct recipient of regular cash payments from the Company as compensation for 
incrementally larger ownership positions of GSWPS. As of May 31, 2010, Mr Snyder has received from 
the Company payments of 500,000 shares of restricted stock of the Company and $51,000 related to his 
interest in GSWPS. 

On May 31, 2010, the Company signed a settlement agreement with Cheetah Oil and Gas Ltd. for an 
assignment agreement that was entered into by the Company and Cheetah Oil and Gas Ltd. on or about 
August 28, 2009, whereby the Company paid a fee of US$45,000.00 to earn a 57.76% share of Cheetah 
Oil and Gas Ltd.’s 8% interest in a proposed oil well to be drilled in Wilkinson County, Mississippi.  The 
Company and Cheetah Oil and Gas Ltd. settled the existing Assigned Interest by making such assignment 
null and void, and issuing 375,000 common shares and 375,000 warrants of Cheetah Oil and Gas Ltd. in 
exchange for the $45,000.00 earlier received by Cheetah Oil and Gas Ltd.  Each warrant entitles the 
Company to purchase a share of Cheetah Oil and Gas Ltd. at a price of US$0.20 for a period of two years. 
Mr. Robert McAllister a director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company is also a director and Chief 
Executive Officer of Cheetah Oil and Gas Ltd. 

On May 31, 2010, the Company signed a settlement agreement with Lexaria Corp. for an assignment 
agreement that was entered into by the Company and Lexaria Corp. on or about August 28, 2009, 
whereby the Company paid a fee of US$59,987.13 to earn a 19.25% share of Lexaria Corp.’s 32% 
interest in a proposed oil well to be drilled in Wilkinson County, Mississippi.  The Company and Lexaria 
Corp. settled the existing assigned interest by making such assignment null and void, and issuing 499,893 
common shares and 499,893 warrants of Lexaria Corp. in exchange for the $59,987.13 earlier received by 
Lexaria Corp.  Each warrant entitles the Company to purchase a share of Lexaria Corp. at a price of 
US$0.20 for a period of two years. Mr. Chris Bunka a director and Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company is also a director and Chief Executive Officer of Lexaria Corp.  Additionally, Ms. Bal Bhullar 
the Chief Financial Officer of the Company is also a director and Chief Financial Officer of Lexaria Corp. 

On May 31, 2010, the Company entered into a loan agreement and promissory note with 0743868 BC 
Ltd. (the “Lender”). The principal amount of the note is CAD$84,655. The funds were previously 
provided for property interest that was advanced to the Company and were payable on demand. The 
entering into of the loan agreement and promissory note provides that the debt be payable on May 31, 
2012. The note is non-interest bearing. 0743868 BC Ltd. is controlled by a director and the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company, Mr. Chris Bunka. 
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On May 31, 2010, the Company entered into a loan agreement and promissory note with CAB Financial 
Ltd. (the “Lender”).  The principal amount of the note is US$90,000.  The debt was originally payable for 
18 months of unpaid management fees and were payable on demand. The entering into of the loan 
agreement and promissory note provides that the debt be payable on May 31, 2012.The note is non-
interest bearing. CAB Financial Ltd. is controlled by a director and the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company, Mr. Chris Bunka. 

 

 

 

 

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

Auditors 

The Company’s auditor is Chang Lee LLP Chartered Accountants, located at Suite 606, 815 Hornby 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6Z 2E6. 

Transfer Agent and Registrar 

The transfer sub-agent of the Company’s common shares is Olympia Trust Company, Suite 1900, 925 
West Georgia Street, Vancouver BC V6C 3L2. 

The registrar and US transfer agent of the Company’s common shares is Nevada Agency and Transfer 
Company, 50 West Liberty Street, Suite 880, Reno, Nevada 89501 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

During the past two years, the Company has entered into the following contracts which are material: 

1.                      Share Purchase Agreement dated April 21, 2008 between the Company and Pro Eco 
Energy USA Ltd.    

2. Independent Sales and Marketing Representative Agreement dated January 31, 2010 
between the Company and Global Solar Water Power Systems Inc. ("GSWPS"), a private company 
beneficially owned by Mark Snyder, the Company’s Chief Technical Officer.  

3.  Asset and Share Purchase Agreement dated February 28, 2010 between the Company and 
Mr. Mark Snyder to acquire up to 20% ownership interest of GSWPS.   

4. 2007 Equity Compensation Plan. 

5.  2010 Equity Compensation Plan 
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6.  Consulting Agreement dated December 1, 2008 between the Company and CAB 
Financial Services Ltd.(‘CAB’), a company controlled by Chris Bunka the chairman of the board and 
chief executive officer of the Company.   

7.  Consulting Agreement dated December 1, 2008 between the Company and Robert 
McAllister the president of the Company.   

8.  Consulting Agreement dated October 9, 2009 between the Company and BKB 
Management Ltd., a company controlled by Bal Bhullar chief financial officer of the Company.   

9.  Consulting Agreement dated October 9, 2009 between the Company and Mark Snyder 
the chief technical officer of the Company. 

10.  Consulting Agreement dated March 5 between the Company and Brian Thomas. Pursuant 
to the agreement, the Company has granted 100,000 stock options to him, the exercise price of the stock 
options is $0.20, which are vested 50% on March 5, 2010 and 50% on August 31, 2010 and expires 
March 5, 2015. 

11. Media Relations Agreement (the “Agreement) between the Company and Mercury 
Media.   

12. Promissory Note dated May 31, 2010 between the Company and CAB Financial Services 
Ltd., a company controlled by Chris Bunka the chairman of the board and chief executive officer of the 
Company. 

13. Promissory Note dated May 31, 2010 between the Company and 0743608 BC Ltd., a 
company controlled by Chris Bunka the chairman of the board and chief executive officer of the 
Company. 

Copies of the above material contracts can be inspected at our head office, 950-1130 West Pender Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia during regular business hours for a period of 30 days after a final receipt is 
issued for this prospectus and are also available electronically at www.sedar.com or www.sec.gov .  

INTERESTS OF EXPERTS 

The following persons or companies whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by 
the person or company are named in this prospectus as having prepared or certified a part of this 
document or a report of valuation described in this prospectus: 

1. The audited financial statements of the Company included in this prospectus have 
been included in reliance upon the report of Chang Lee LLP Chartered Accountants 
and upon the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing. 

 

Based on information provided by the relevant persons, none of such persons or companies or any 
director, officer, employee or partner thereof have received or will receive direct or indirect interest in the 
property of the Company or of any associate or affiliate of the Company or have any beneficial 
ownership, direct or indirect, of securities of the Company. None of such persons is or is expected to be 
elected, appointed or employed as a director or employee of the Company. 
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OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 

There are no other material facts other than as disclosed herein. 

PURCHASERS’ STATUTORY RIGHTS OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION 

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces of Canada provides purchasers with the right to withdraw 
from an agreement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two business days after 
receipt or deemed receipt of a prospectus and any amendment. In several of the provinces the securities 
legislation further provides a purchaser with remedies for rescission or damages if the prospectus and any 
amendment contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that the remedies 
for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities 
legislation of the purchaser’s province.  The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the 
securities legislation of the purchaser’s province for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal 
adviser. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Unaudited financial statements for the Company for the quarter ended May 31, 2010 as well as audited 
financial statements for the Company for the years ended August 31, 2009, August 31, 2008 and August 
31, 2007 are included in this prospectus as Appendix “A”.  



 

 

Chang Lee LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

606 – 815 Hornby Street 

Vancouver, B.C, V6Z 2E6 

Tel:  604-687-3776 

Fax: 604-688-3373  

E-mail: info@changleellp.com 

 

 

 

AUDITORS’ CONSENT 

We have read the Non-Offering Prospectus of Enertopia Corp. (the “Company”) dated July 31, 

2010.  We have complied with Canadian generally accepted accounting standards for auditors’ 

involvement with such offering documents. 

We consent to the use in the above-mentioned Non-Offering Prospectus of the following: 

(a) our report to the shareholders of the Company on the consolidated balance sheets 

of the Company as at August 31, 2009 and 2008 and the consolidated statements of 

stockholders’ equity, operations and cash flows for the years then ended. Our report is 

dated November 27, 2009; 

(b) our report to the shareholders of the Company on the balance sheets of the 

Company as at August 31, 2008 and 2007 and the consolidated statements of 

shareholders’ equity, operations and cash flows for the years then ended. Our report is 

dated November 19, 2008. 

Yours truly, 

 

                        
Vancouver, B.C. Canada                                 Chartered Accountants 

July 31, 2010 

   



APPENDIX “A” 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Unaudited Financial Statements for the period ended May 31, 2010:  
 Consolidated Balance Sheets A-2 
 Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity A-3 – A-5 
 Consolidated Statements of Operations A-6 – A-7 
 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows A-8 – A-9 
 Consolidated Notes to the Interim Financial Statements A-10 – A-17 
Audited Financial Statements for the years ended August 31, 2009 and 2008:  
 Report of Independent Public Accounting Firm A-18 
 Consolidated Balance Sheets A-19 
 Consolidated Statements of Operations A-20 
 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows A-21 
 Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity  A-22 – A-23 
 Consolidated Notes to the Financial Statements A-24 – A-36 
Audited Financial Statements for the years ended August 31, 2008 and 2007:  
 Report of Independent Public Accounting Firm A-37 
 Consolidated Balance Sheets A-38 
 Consolidated Statements of Operations A-39 
 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows A-40 
 Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity  A-41 – A-42 
 Consolidated Notes to the Financial Statements A-43 – A-54 
 



A-2 
 

ENERTOPIA CORP. (formerly Golden Aria Corp.)  

 (A Development Stage Company)  

 UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATE BALANCE SHEETS  

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars)  

       May 31,    August 31,  

      2010  2009 

      Unaudited  Audited 

 ASSETS         

 Current         

  Cash and cash equivalents   $            72,746  
 

$           282,948 

  Owned securities (Note 4)           224,477                      -   

  Accounts receivable             13,786                9,608 

  Prepaid expenses and deposit               6,206                2,777 

 Total current assets            317,215            295,333 

         

 Non-Current        

  Long term investment - Pro Eco & GSWPS (Note 5)           209,617              35,821 
                           -                       -   

  Assets held for sale (Note 6)           789,835         3,621,617 

 Total Assets     $       1,316,667  
 

$        3,952,771 

         

 LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY      

         

 LIABILITIES         

         

 Current         

  Accounts payable   $            12,559  
 

$                     -   

  Due to related parties (Note 8)             29,115            129,520 

 Total Current Liabilities             41,674            129,520 

         

  Promissory notes - related party (Note 7)           157,471                      -   

  Deferred tax liability             58,846            762,704 

              257,991            892,225 

 STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY      

         

 Share capital        

  Authorized:       

  
 200,000,000 common shares with a par value of $0.001 
per share     

  Issued and outstanding:      

  
 15,710,240 common shares at May 31, 
2010 and             15,710              14,653 

   August 31,2009:14,652,740      

 Additional paid-in capital        4,591,175         4,309,367 

         

 Deficit accumulated during the exploration stage       (3,548,209)       (1,263,473) 

 Total Stockholders' Equity        1,058,676         3,060,547 

 Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity   $       1,316,667  
 
$        3,952,771 

         

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  



A-3 
 

 

ENERTOPIA CORP. (formerly Golden Aria Corp.)  

 (A Development Stage Company)  

 UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY    

 NOVEMBER 24, 2004 (inception) TO May 31, 2010  

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars)  

             

           DEFICIT    

          
 

ACCUMULATED   

   COMMON STOCK    ADDITIONAL    STOCK    DURING    TOTAL  

       PAID-IN    TO BE    EXPLORATION    STOCKHOLDERS'  

   SHARES    AMOUNT    CAPITAL    ISSUED    STAGE    EQUITY  

             

 Balance November 24, 2004 (Inception)                    -    
 
$               -    

 
$                   -    

 
$               -    

 
$                        -    

 
$                         -    

             

 Issuance of common stock for cash         5,467,500            5,468            103,882                 -                            -                     109,350  

  at $0.02 per share on March 22, 2005             

             

 Issuance of common stock for cash         1,112,500            1,112            332,638                 -                            -                     333,750  

  at $0.30 per share on April 6, 2005              

             

 Stock to be issued           125,000                 -                37,375               125                          -                      37,500  

             

 Comprehensive income (loss):             

  (Loss) for the period                    -                   -                       -                   -     
              
(167,683)                 (167,683) 

             

 Balance, August 31, 2005         6,705,000            6,580            473,895               125   
              
(167,683)                  312,917  

             

 Stock issued on September 29, 2005                    -                 125                     -                (125)                         -                             -    

                

 Comprehensive income (loss):             

  (Loss) for the year                    -                   -                       -                   -     
              
(200,091)                 (200,091) 

             

 Balance, August 31, 2006         6,705,000            6,705              473,895                   -       
              
(367,774)                    112,826  



A-4 
 

             

 Units issued for cash at $0.50 per unit             92,740                 93            163,236                       163,329  

  to related parties on March 6, 2007             

  (included stock based compensation             

  of $116,959)              

             

 Stock issued for property on April 18, 2007            250,000               250            274,750                 -                            -                     275,000  

                

 Units issued for cash at $0.50 per unit           100,000               100              49,900                 -                            -                      50,000  

  on April 19, 2007              

             

 Units issued for cash at $0.50 per unit           600,000               600            299,400                 -                            -                     300,000  

  on August 31, 2007              

             

 Imputed interest from non-interest bearing loan                    -                   -                  3,405                 -                            -                        3,405  

             

 Comprehensive income (loss):             

  (Loss) for the year                    -                   -                       -                   -     
              
(607,397)                 (607,397) 

             

 Balance, August 31, 2007         7,747,740  
 
$          7,748  

 
$        1,264,586  

 
$               -    

 
$ 

              
(975,171) 

 
$                 297,163  

             

 Units issued for acquisition at $0.42 per unit         6,905,000            6,905          2,893,195                 -                            -                  2,900,100  

  on November 30, 2007              

             

 Imputed interest from non-interest bearing loan                    -                   -                  7,139                 -                            -                        7,139  

             

 Stock-based compensation on 1,785,000 options granted                    -                   -              104,257                 -                            -                     104,257  

             

 Comprehensive income (loss):             

  (Loss) for the year                    -                   -                       -                   -     
              
(372,535)                 (372,535) 

             

 Balance, August 31, 2008       14,652,740  
 
$        14,653  

 
$        4,269,177  

 
$               -    

 
$ 

           
(1,347,706) 

 
$              2,936,124  

             

 Imputed interest for non-interest bearing loan                    -                   -                  4,410                 -                            -                        4,410  
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 Stock-based compensation                    -                   -                35,780                 -                            -                      35,780  

             

 Comprehensive income (loss):                   

  (Loss) for the year                    -                   -                       -                   -                      84,233                   84,233  

             

 Balance, August 31, 2009       14,652,740  
 
$        14,653  

 
$        4,309,367  

 
$               -    

 
$ 

           
(1,263,473) 

 
$              3,060,547  

             

 Imputed interest for non-interest bearing loan                   2,442                          2,442  

             

 Stock-based compensation                 58,946                        58,946  

             

 Stock issued for acquisition at $0.20 per share             

  on February 28, 2010           500,000               500            124,500                       125,000  

             

 Units issued for cash at $0.15 per unit             

  on May 31, 2010           557,500               557              83,068                        83,625  

             

 Gain on settlement of the amount due to              

    related parties                 12,852                        12,852  

             

 Comprehensive income (loss):             

  (Loss) for the period                    -                   -                       -                   -     
           
(2,284,736)              (2,284,736) 

             

 Balance, May 31, 2010       15,710,240          15,710          4,591,175                 -     
           
(3,548,209)               1,058,676  

             

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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ENERTOPIA CORP. (formerly Golden Aria Corp.)  

 (A Development Stage Company)  

 UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars)  

            

            CUMULATIVE  

            PERIOD FROM  

            INCEPTION  

           NOVEMBER 24, 2004 

    THREE MONTHS ENDED    NINE MONTHS ENDED    TO  

    May 31,    May 31,    May 31,    May 31,    May 31,  

   2010   2009  2010   2009  2010 

            

 Revenue            

  Non-renewal energy - natural gas and oil revenue  
 

$                   -    
 

$           17,211  
 

$                  254  
 

$           72,850  
 

$                     374,342  

  Renewal energy - service revenue              11,607                 11,607                   -                           11,607  

            

              11,607             17,211              11,861             72,850                       385,950  

 Cost of revenue            

  Non-renewal energy:            

    Natural gas and oil operating costs and royalties                     -                7,772                     -               43,984                       141,197  

    Depletion                     -               13,880                     -               80,801                       298,489  

    Write-down in carrying value of oil and gas property                     -                     -                       -               31,786                       293,436  

  Renewal energy              10,546                   -                10,546                   -                           10,546  

            

              10,546             21,652              10,546           156,571                       743,668  

            

 Gross Profit                1,062             (4,441)               1,316            (83,721)                     (357,718) 

            

 Expenses            

  Accounting and audit                3,977             4,011              27,590            29,142                      221,436  

  Advertising & Promotions                6,140                  -                 7,321             1,357                        21,680  

  Bank charges and interest expense                1,304             2,055                3,754             7,520                        26,153  

  Consulting                60,053            44,016             207,294          109,101                      715,130  

  Exploration costs and option payment                     -                    -                      -                    -                        318,292  

  Fees and dues                7,843             2,768              16,858            10,863                        42,421  

  Insurance                2,095             2,067                6,228             3,331                        21,432  

  Investor relations                     -                    -               12,840             1,360                        26,005  
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  Legal an professional                8,844                678              28,250             5,681                      139,964  

  Office and miscellaneous                   690            19,061                  (264)             3,173                        39,994  

  Rent                2,299             1,273                5,234             3,979                        48,266  

  Telephone                   895                399                2,340             2,257                         7,249  

  Training & Conferences                1,456                  -                 4,249                  -                           8,823  

  Travel                4,896                319              11,289             9,719                        31,731  

            

 Total expenses             100,493            76,647             332,983          187,483                   1,668,579  

            

 (Loss) for the period before other items             (99,431)           (81,088)           (331,668)         (271,204)                  (2,026,297) 

            

 Other income (expense)            

  Interest income                     -                    -                      -                  105                         9,433  

  Other income                     -                  25,261                        26,524  

  Equity interest pick up                    (98)               (616)              (2,390)            (1,055)                       (11,569) 

  Gain on disposition of oil and gas interests             119,490              119,490                  -                        523,869  

  Write down of oil and gas properties         (2,774,026)                  -          (2,774,026)                  -                    (2,774,027) 

            

 Income (loss) before income taxes         (2,754,065)           (81,704)        (2,988,594)         (246,893)                  (4,252,067) 

            

  Income tax recovery - deferred             703,858                  -              703,858                         703,858  

            

 Net Income (loss) for the period  
 

$       (2,050,207) 
 

$          (81,704) 
 

$        (2,284,736) 
 

$        (246,893) 
 

$                 (3,548,209) 

            

 Basic and diluted income (loss) per share  
 

$               (0.14) 
 

$             (0.01) 
 

$                (0.15) 
 

$             (0.02)   

            

 Weighted average number of common shares             

 outstanding - basic and diluted        15,158,866     14,652,740        14,823,907     14,652,740   

            

            

            

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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ENERTOPIA CORP. (fomerly Golden Aria Corp.)  

 (A Development Stage Company)  

 UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars)  

           

           

           CUMULATIVE  

           PERIOD FROM  

            INCEPTION  

             November 24, 2004 

       NINE MONTHS ENDED    TO  

       May 31,    May 31,    May 31,  

      2010   2009  2010 

           

 Cash flows used in operating activities         

           

  Net Income (loss)    $                  (2,284,736)  $                    (246,893)  $                 (3,548,209) 

           

  Changes to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities       

   Consulting - Stock based compensation                          58,946                          7,723                      315,942 

   Depletion                                -                          80,801                      298,489 

   Write down in carrying value of oil and gas properties                                -                          31,786                      293,437 

   Stock issued for mineral resource and oil and gas property                                -                                 -                          37,500 

   Write down of oil and gas properties                     2,774,026                               -                      2,774,026 

   Gain on disposition of property                       (119,490)                               -                       (523,869) 

   Equity pick-up                           2,390                          1,055                        11,569 

   Imputed interest                            2,442                          3,299                        17,396 

   Income tax recovery                       (703,858)                               -                       (703,858) 

   Others                             (187)                               -                              (187) 

           

  Change in non-cash working capital items:        

   Accounts receivable                          (2,083)                        12,586                            (983) 

   Prepaid expenses and deposit                          (3,429)                         (4,836)                       18,078 

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                         12,559                        41,440                      (15,361) 

   Due to related parties                         69,918                       (17,596)                        (3,618) 

           

 Net cash (used in) operating activities                       (193,502)                       (90,635)                  (1,029,648) 

           

           

 Cash flows from (used in) investing activities        

           

  Oil and gas properties acquisition and divestment                          (2,231)                        (43,934)                    (300,180) 

  Proceeds from sale of oil and gas interests                                -                                 -                       421,545 

  Mineral resource properties acquisition                                -                                 -                                (1) 

  Investment in GSWPS                        (51,000)                               -                        (51,000) 

  Investment in Pro Eco                                -                                 -                        (45,000) 

  Investment in Cheetah and Lexaria                        (45,000)                               -                        (45,000) 

  Cash provided in connection with business acquisition                                -                                 -                       201,028 

              

 Net cash from (used in) investing activities                        (98,231)                       (43,934)                     181,392 

           

           

 Cash flows from financing activities        
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  Notes Payable-related party                                -                          45,800                              -   

  Proceeds from issuance of common stock                         81,531                               -                       921,001 

           

 Net cash from financing activities                         81,531                        45,800                     921,001 

           

 Increase (Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                       (210,202)                       (88,769)                       72,746 

           

  Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period                        282,948                      124,394                              -   

           

 Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $                       72,746  $                       35,625  $                      72,746 

           

 Supplemental information of cash flows        

  Interest paid in cash   $                              -    $                              -    $                             -   

  Income taxes paid in cash   $                              -    $                              -    $                             -   

           

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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ENERTOPIA CORP. (formerly Golden Aria Corp.) 
(A Development Stage Company) 

NOTES TO UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
May 31, 2010 
(unaudited) 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

 

 
1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 

The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for the quarter ended May 31, 2010 included herein 
have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. Certain 
information and footnote disclosures normally included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance 
with United States generally accepted accounting principles have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such 
rules and regulations. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) 
considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. These unaudited interim consolidated financial 
statements should be read in conjunction with the August 31, 2009 audited annual consolidated financial 
statements and notes thereto.   

 
Effective September 25, 2009, we effected a one (1) for two (2) share consolidation of our authorized and 
issued and outstanding common stock.  The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been 
restated to reflect the share consolidation.   

On February 8, 2010, the Company changed its name from Golden Aria Corp. to Enertopia Corp.   

On February 22, 2010, the Company increased its authorized share capital to 200,000,000 common shares. 

During the quarter ended May 31, 2010, the Company shifted its strategic plan from its non-renewal energy 
operations to its planned renewal energy operations. 

 

2. GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTY 
 

The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern 
basis which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the 
normal course of business for the foreseeable future. The Company incurred a net loss of $2,284,736 for the nine 
months ended May 31, 2010 [net loss for the nine months ended May 31, 2009 was $246,893] and as at May 31, 
2010 has incurred cumulative losses of $3,548,209 that raises substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a 
going concern.  Management has been able, thus far, to finance the operations through equity financing and cash 
on hand.  There is no assurance that the Company will be able to continue to finance the Company on this basis. 

In view of these conditions, the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is in substantial doubt and 
dependent upon its ability to generate sufficient cash flow to meet its obligations on a timely basis, to obtain 
additional financing as may be required, to receive the continued support of the Company’s shareholders, and 
ultimately to obtain successful operations. These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements do not give 
effect to any adjustments which would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going 
concern and therefore be required to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course 
of business and at amounts different from those reflected in the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated 
financial statements. 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

a) Basis of Consolidation 
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The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company 
and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Target Energy, Inc., and its equity interest of Pro Eco Energy Inc. and 
Global Solar Water Power Systems Inc.  All significant inter-company balances and transactions have been 
eliminated. 
 

b) Revenue Recognition 
 

The revenue from renewal energy consulting service is recognized when the service is performed and the 
collection of consideration is reasonably assured. 
 

c) New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
In June 2009, the FASB issued FASB No. 166(ASC 860), Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets - 
an amendment of FASB Statement No. 140 (“SFAS 166”). SFAS 166(ASC 860) requires additional 
disclosures about the transfer and derecognition of financial assets and eliminates the concept of qualifying 
special-purpose entities under SFAS 140(ASC 860). SFAS 166(ASC 860) is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after November 15, 2009.  The adoption of this statement is not expected to have material impact 
on the Company’s financial statements. 
 
Other accounting standards that have been issued or proposed by the FASB or other standards-setting 
bodies that do not require adoption until a future date are not expected to have a material impact on the 
Company’s financial statements upon adoption. 

4. SECURITIES OWNED 
 

Securities owned includes 375,000 common shares and 375,000 warrants of Cheetah Oil & Gas Ltd. and 
499,893 common shares and 499,893 warrants of Lexaria Corp.  The Company classified the securities 
owned as held-for-trade and recorded at fair value.  

5. LONG TERM INVESTMENT 

Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd. 

On April 21, 2008, the Company purchased 900,000 shares for $45,000 in Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd. (“Pro 
Eco Energy”) which represented 8.25% ownership.  The Chairman of the Company is a Director in Pro Eco 
Energy which established the existence of significant influence in Pro Eco Energy and accordingly the 
equity method of accounting is adopted for the investment.   

During the nine months ended May 31, 2010, the Company recorded an equity loss of $2,293, which 
resulted in a net investment of $33,529. 

Global Solar Water Power Systems Inc. 

On February 28, 2010, the Company has purchased 5.62% investment in Global Solar Water Power 
Systems Inc. (“GSWPS”).  This was made by a cash contribution of $40,500 and an issuance of 500,000 
shares of Enertopia Corp. at $0.25 for a combined value of $165,500.  GSWPS is owned by an executive 
officer of the Company. As at May 31, 2010, the Company acquired additional interest for $10,500 for a 
combined value of 176,000; therefore, giving the Company a 6.04% investment in GSWPS. 

During the nine months ended May 31, 2010, the Company recorded an equity loss of $98, which resulted 
in a net investment of $176,088. 

6. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 
 
During the quarter ended May 31, 2010, the Company’s oil and gas properties became available for sale as 
the result of the Company shifted its focus from its non-renewal energy operations to renewal energy plan.  
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Pursuant to ASC 360 “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of long-Lived Assets”, the Company has 
reclassified the remaining oil and gas properties to be sold as assets held for sale and recorded at their 
recoverable amount.   
 
Followings are the descriptions and movement of the Company’s remaining oil and gas properties as at 
May 31, 2010: 
 

Property August 31, 2009 Additions Disposal / write 
down 

 May 31, 2010 

         
                 Canada  $     3,561,630     $        392 $  (2,772,187)    $      789,835 
                 U. S.  59,987 45,000 (104,987) - 
 $    3,621,617 $     45,392 $  (2,877,174)   $      789,835 

 
Coteau Lake, Saskatchewan 
 
Through the Company’s subsidiary, Target, the Company owns certain working interest in Coteau Lake, 
Saskatchewan. 
 
Coteau Lake is an exploration property and the Company has no producing oil or gas wells on this land at 
this time. The Coteau Lake exploration project covers 1,280 acres of land. The Company’s gross and net 
interest in this project is 50%. There has been historic oil production on the Coteau Lake project lands.   
 
On November 7, 2007, the Company’s subsidiary Target entered into a Letter of Intent (the “LOI”) with 
Primrose Drilling Ventures Ltd. (“Primrose”), a body corporate, having an office in the city of Calgary, in 
the Province of Alberta.  Pursuant to the LOI, the Target is the interest title holder of Saskatchewan Crown 
Land parcels 124, 125 and 126. 
 
Primrose elected to proceed with a 50/50 joint venture with Target by reimbursing Target for 50% of its 
land cost on parcels 124, 125 and 126 for CDN$26,590 which is payable on signing within 15 days of the 
LOI.  Primrose would become operator of the project upon its acceptance of such appointment and 
agreement to assume the duties, obligations and rights of the operator.  A formal Participation Agreement 
(“Agreement”) which included the provisions of LOI has been entered between Target and 
Primrose.  Included in the Participation Agreement would be the Area of Mutual Interest (AMI) which 
would govern future land acquisitions and timeline set out in the LOI.  On December 31, 2008, an 
additional $22,270 was spent on land acquisitions with Primrose Drilling Ventures.   
 
In connection with the management’s decision to shift its focus from its non-renewal energy operations to 
renewal energy plan in the quarter ended May 31, 2010, the Coteau Lake properties have been written 
down to its estimated recoverable amount of $677,740. 
 
 
Glen Park, Alberta  
 
On May 14, 2008 the Company was successful in acquiring one land parcel of 160 acres in the Glen Park 
area of central Alberta, Canada. The Company subsequently created a 50/50 Joint Venture with Vanguard 
Exploration to explore and develop the joint lands on Alberta Petroleum and Natural Gas Lease No. 
0408050364. The joint venture owns the Petroleum and Natural Gas rights below the base of the Mannville 
GRP to basement. 
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On June 11, 2008 the Company was successful in acquiring two land parcels of 160 acres each in the Glen 
Park area of central Alberta, Canada. These 320 acres are believed to be prospective for reef development 
and the potential accumulation of oil deposits. Productive wells in the area have had production rates in 
excess of 200 bop/d and in some cases with little associated water. We currently have a 100% interest in 
these two prospects.  
 
In connection with the management’s decision to shift its non-renewal energy operations to its renewal 
energy plan in the quarter ended May 31, 2010, the Glen Park properties have been written down to its 
estimated recoverable amount of $112,095. 
 
 
Belmont Lake, Mississippi 

On September 1, 2009, the Company entered into an assignment agreement with Cheetah Oil & Gas Ltd. 
(“Cheetah”)  The assignment agreement dated August 28, 2009, provides for the purchase by the Company 
of a revenue interest of 40.432% of an 8% share of Cheetah’s net revenue after field operating expenses 
from the Belmont Lake PP F-12-4 horizontal well, located in Belmont Lake Field, Wilkinson County, 
Mississippi.  As consideration, the Company agreed to pay to Cheetah 57.76% of Cheetah’s costs currently 
budgeted at $77,905.36, subject to revision and 57.76% of Cheetah’s 8% share of PP F-12-4 well costs 
from time to time for infrastructure, pipes, tanks, compressors, trucking, etc.  

In connection with the management’s decision to shift its non-renewal energy operations to its renewal 
energy plan,  the Company disposed its related working interest for a consideration of 375,000 restricted 
shares in the capital of Cheetah and 375,000 share purchase warrants which entitle the Company to acquire 
375,000 restricted shares in the capital of Cheetah at a purchase price of US$0.20 per share for a period of 
two years. 

On August 28, 2009, the Company entered into an assignment agreement with Lexaria Corp.  The 
assignment agreement dated August 28, 2009, provides for the purchase by the Company of a revenue 
interest of 13.475% of a 32% share of Lexaria’s net revenue after field operating expenses from the 
Belmont Lake PP F-12-4 horizontal well, located in Belmont Lake Field, Wilkinson County, Mississippi. 
 As consideration, the Company agreed to pay to Lexaria 19.25% of Lexaria’s costs currently budgeted at 
$311,621.44, subject to revision and 19.25% of Lexaria’s 32% share of PP F-12-4 well costs from time to 
time for infrastructure, pipes, tanks, compressors, trucking, etc.   

In connection with the management’s decision to shift its non-renewal energy operations to its renewal 
energy plan, the Company disposed its related working interest for a consideration of 499,893 restricted 
shares in the capital of Lexaria and 499,983 share purchase warrants which entitle the Company to acquire 
499,983 restricted shares in the capital of Lexaria at a purchase price of US$0.20 per share for a period of 
two years. 

In connection with the above divestment of Belmont Lake, the Company recorded a gain of $119,490 on 
the disposal of oil and gas interests. 

 
7. PROMISSORY NOTES 
 

During the quarter ended May 31, 2010, the Company settled the amount due to related parties into two 
promissory notes of CDN$84,655 and $90,000.  Both promissory notes were unsecured, non-interest 
bearing and due on May 31, 2012.  In connection with the settlement of the amount due to related parties, 
the Company recorded $12,852 in additional paid in capital for the gain on settlement of debt. 

 
8. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTION 

 
For the nine months ended May 31, 2010, the Company was party to the following related party transactions: 
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 Paid / accrued $46,200 (May 31, 2009: $36,300) to the President of the Company in consulting 

fees.   
 Paid / accrued $51,316 (May 31, 2009: $68,983) and $4,025 (May 31, 2009: $4,328); of 

consulting fees and office rent, respectively, to a company controlled by a Director/CEO of the 
Company.  

 Paid $31,696 (May 31, 2009: $Nil) in consulting fees to a company controlled by the CFO of the 
Company. 

 Paid $8,000 (May 31, 2009: $Nil) in consulting fee to an Officer of the Company. 
 Paid / accrued $8,815 in cost of renewal energy service to an executive officer of the Company 

and a company controlled by the executive officer. 
 See Note 7. 

 
The related party transactions are recorded at the exchange amount established and agreed to between the 
related parties.  Amount due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand. 

For the nine months ended May 31, 2010, the Company recorded imputed interest of $2,442 in connection with 
the amount owed to a related party. 

 
9. COMMON STOCK AND WARRANTS 

 
Common Stock      
 
On March 6, 2007, the Company issued total of 92,740 units at $0.50 per unit to directors of the Company. 
Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant with exercise price of $0.80 per share, 
expires on December 1, 2008. Units issued were revalued to their fair market value of common shares and share 
purchase warrants. The fair value of warrants has been estimated as of the date of issue using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model with expected volatility: 104.11%, risk-free interest rate: 3.77%, expected life: 1.75 years 
and dividend yield: 0.00%.  The fair value of each warrant has been estimated at $0.66 per warrant. The 
Company recorded a total of $116,959 for stock based compensation expenses in connection with the 
revaluation of the units issued.  
 
On April 18, 2007, pursuant to an Assignment Agreement, the Company issued 250,000 shares to a director of 
the Company at market value $1.10 per share for a total value of $275,000.   
 
On April 19, 2007, the Company issued a total of 100,000 units at $0.50 per unit to an arm’s length party. Each 
unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant with exercise price of $0.80 per share, 
expires on December 1, 2008.  
 
On August 31, 2007, the Company issued a total of 600,000 units at $0.50 per unit for total proceeds of 
$300,000. Each unit is comprised of one restricted common share and one warrant to purchase one additional 
share of common stock at a price of $0.80, exercisable for a period of two years from the closing of this 
offering.  
 
On October 15, 2007, the Company entered into a share exchange agreement with Target Energy (“Target”), a 
private Nevada corporation, and the former shareholders of Target. The closing of the transactions contemplated 
in the share exchange agreement and the acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding common stock in the 
capital of Target occurred on November 30, 2007.  The Company issued 6,905,000 shares of its common stock 
to the shareholders of Target and in so doing acquired 100% of all issued Target shares from those shareholders 
who had owned 13,810,000 shares of Target.   
 
On February 22, 2010, the Company had increased its authorized share capital from 37,500,000 common shares 
to 200,000,000 common shares. 
 

On February 28, 2010, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement with Mr. Mark Snyder to acquire 
up to 20% of ownership in Global Solar Water Power Systems Inc. (“GSWPS”), a private US corporation that is 
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solely owned by an Officer of the Company.  The Company issued 500,000 common stocks at a fair value of 
$0.25 per share to Mr. Mark Snyder in exchange to acquire a percentage minority ownership in GSWPS.  As at 
May 31, 2010, the Company acquired additional interest for $10,500 for a combined value of $176,000; 
therefore, giving the Company a 6.04% investment in GSWPS. 

On May 31, 2010, the Company closed a private placement financing of 557,500 units at a price of $0.15 per 
unit for gross proceeds of $83,625. Each unit consisted of one common share in the capital of the Company and 
one non-transferable share purchase warrant, each full warrant entitling the holder to purchase one additional 
common share in the capital of the Company until May 31, 2012, at a purchase price of $0.30 per share. 
 
Warrants      

As at May 31, 2010, the Company had 557,500 warrants with an exercise price of $0.30 per share and expires 
May 31, 2012. 
 

8.    STOCK OPTIONS 
 
On December 14, 2007, the Company granted 892,500 stock options to directors, Officers, and consultants of 
the Company with exercise prices of $0.70 per share, expiring over 5 years.  
 
On October 22, 2009, the Company re-priced the stock options to directors, officers and consultants with the 
exercise price of $0.20. 
 
The vesting dates of options are as below: 

 
Vesting Dates 

 
Percentage of options granted 

December 14, 2007 25%  
December 14, 2008 25% 
December 14, 2009 25% 
December 14, 2010 25% 
  

On October 22, 2009, the Company granted 500,000 stock options to directors and officers of the Company 
with the exercise price of $0.10 per share, expiring over 5 years.  These options were vested immediately. 
 
On December 30, 2009 the Company adopted the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan that was ultimately approved at 
the Annual General Meeting that occurred on February 5, 2010.   
 
On December 30, 2009, the Company granted 650,000 stock options to directors and officers of the Company 
with the exercise price of $0.10 per share, expiring over 5 years.  These options were vested immediately. 
 
On March 5, 2010, the Company granted 100,000 stock options to a consultant of the Company with the 
exercise price of $0.20, which are vested 50% on March 5, 2010 and 50% on August 31, 2010 and expires on 
March 5, 2015. 
 
On May 14, 2010 the Company dismissed certain directors and consultants which 125,625 unvested stock 
options were cancelled on May 14, 2010 and 376,875 vested stock options expire on August 14, 2010. 
 
For the nine months ended May 31, 2010, the Company recorded $58,946 (May 31, 2009 – $7,723) for stock 
based compensation expenses which has been included in consulting fees.   
 
A summary of the changes in stock options for the period ended May 31, 2010 is presented below: 

  
Options Outstanding 

  Weighted 
Average 
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 Number of Shares Exercise Price 
Balance, August 31, 2009   892,500 $     0.20 
Granted 1,250,000 $     0.11   
Cancelled (125,625) $     0.20 
Balance, May 31, 2010 2,016,875 $     0.14 

 
The fair value of options granted has been estimated as of the date of the grant by using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model with the following assumptions:  

 Period ended May 31, 2010 
Expected volatility 119.38% 
Risk-free interest rate 2.55% 
Expected life 5.00 years 
Dividend yield 0.00% 

 
A summary of weighted average fair value of stock options granted during the period ended May 31, 2010 is as 
follows: 

 
 
 
 
 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

Weighted 
Average 

Fair 
Value 

Exercise price is more than the market price at grant date: $    0.10 $   0.13 

Exercise price is less than the market price at grant date: $    0.20 $   0.27 
 

The Company has the following options outstanding and exercisable.   
 
May 31, 2010 Options outstanding Options exercisable 
  Weighted Weighted  Weighted 
  average Average  Average 
Range of Number remaining Exercise Number Exercise 
exercise prices of shares contractual 

life 
Price of shares Price  

      
$0.10 500,000 4.40 years $0.10 500,000 $0.10 
$0.10 650,000 4.58 years $0.10 650,000 $0.10 
$0.20 390,000 2.54 years $0.20 292,500 $0.20 
$0.20 376,875 0.21 years $0.20 376,875 $0.20 
$0.20 100,000 4.75 years $0.20 50,000 $0.20 
      
 2,016,875 3.33 years $0.14 1,869,375 $0.14 

9. COMMITMENTS – OTHER 
 

(a) The Company has a month-to-month rental arrangement for office space in Kelowna, British Columbia, 
Canada for CAD$735 (including CAD$35 GST) per month. 

(b) The Company has a consulting agreement with CAB Financial Services Ltd.(‘CAB’), a corporation 
organized under the laws of the Province of British Columbia.  CAB is a consulting company controlled by 
the chairman of the board and chief executive officer of the Company.  CAB Financial Services Ltd. is to 
provide management consulting services for $5,000 per month plus GST on a continuing basis. 
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(c) The Company has a consulting agreement with the President of the Company for corporate administration 
and consulting services for $5,000 per month plus GST on a continuing basis.   

(d) On October 9, 2009, the Company entered into consulting agreement with BKB Management Ltd., a 
corporation organized under the laws of the Province of British Columbia.  BKB Management Ltd. is a 
consulting company controlled by the chief financial officer of the Company.  BKB Management provides 
management consulting services for CAD$4,500 per month plus GST. 

(e) On October 9, 2009, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with the chief technical officer of 
the Company for $1,000 per month. 

(f) On February 28, 2010, the Company entered into an Asset and Share Purchase Agreement with the 
Company’s chief technical officer - Mr. Mark Snyder to acquire up to 20% ownership interest of GSWPS.  
As at May 31, 2010, the Company has acquired 6.04% with the remaining 13.96% ownership payable by 
issuance of 500,000 common shares of the Company and cash of $359,500 payable on a minimum monthly 
basis of $3,500. 

(g) On March 12, the Company entered into a Media Relations Agreement (the “Agreement) with Mercury 
Media.  The term of the Agreement is for an initial period of 12 (twelve) months with a consideration of 
25,000 common restricted shares of stock paid each quarter, effective beginning the date of signing and 
paid in advance of each quarter.  Thus it would be expected that additional payments of 25,000 shares of 
restricted common stock will be payable on each of June 12, 2010, September 12, 2010, and December 12, 
2010 if this Agreement is not terminated prior to its natural term.  As at May 31, 2010, the Company has 
not yet issued the 25,000 common shares and accrued $4,340 consulting fees for the related fair value of 
the common shares to be issued. ,  
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Chang Lee LLP 
Chartered Accountants  

606 – 815 Hornby Street 
Vancouver, B.C, V6Z 2E6 

  Tel:  604-687-3776 
Fax: 604-688-3373  

E-mail: info@changleellp.com 
 

  
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of  
 
GOLDEN ARIA CORP. 
(An exploration stage company) 
 
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Golden Aria Corp. (“the Company”) (an exploration 
stage company) as at August 31, 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated statements of 
stockholders’ equity, operations and cash flows for the years then ended and for the period cumulative 
from inception November 24, 2004 (inception) to August 31, 2009. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company's management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audits.   
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Company as at August 31, 2009 and 2008 and the results of their operations and 
their cash flows for the years then ended and for the period cumulative from inception November 24, 2004 
(inception) to August 31, 2009 in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United 
States of America. 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements refer to above have been prepared assuming that the 
Company will continue as a going concern.  As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, 
the Company has incurred losses from inception and further losses are anticipated.  These factors raise 
substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern.  Management’s plans in regard to these 
matters are also described in Note 2.  The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might 
result from the outcome of this uncertainty. 
 

Vancouver, Canada                      
November 27, 2009                  Chartered Accountants 
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GOLDEN ARIA CORP.  

 (An Exploration Stage Company)  

 CONSOLIDATE BALANCE SHEETS  

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars)  

       August 31,    August 31,  

      2009  2008 

 ASSETS         

         

 Current         

  Cash and cash equivalents   $          282,948 
 

$          124,394 

  Accounts receivable               9,608             21,378 

  Prepaid expenses and deposit               2,777                     -   

 Total current assets            295,333           145,772 

         

 Non-Current        

  Long term investment - Pro Eco (Note 4)             35,821             40,927 

  Proven - Oil and gas properties (Note 5)                     -             126,941 

  Unproven - Oil and gas properties (Note 5)        3,621,617        3,524,216 

 Total Assets     $       3,952,771 
 

$       3,837,856 

         

 LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY      

         

 LIABILITIES         

         

 Current         

  Accounts payable   $                    -   
 

$              7,775 

  Due to related parties (Note 7)           129,520           131,253 

 Total Current Liabilities           129,520           139,028 

         

  Deferred tax liability           762,704           762,704 

              892,224           901,732 

 STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY      

         

 Share capital        

  Authorized:       

  
37,500,000 common shares with a par value of $0.001 per 
share     

  Issued and outstanding:      

  
 14,652,740 common shares at August 31, 
2009 and 2008             14,653             14,653 

 Additional paid-in capital        4,309,367        4,269,177 

         
 Deficit accumulated during the exploration 
stage       (1,263,473)       (1,347,706) 

 Total Stockholders' Equity        3,060,547        2,936,124 

 Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity   $       3,952,771 
 
$       3,837,856 

         

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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GOLDEN ARIA CORP.  

 (An Exploration Stage Company)  

 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars)  

        

        CUMULATIVE  

        PERIOD FROM  

        INCEPTION  

       NOVEMBER 24, 2004 

    YEAR ENDED    TO  

    August 31,    August 31,    August 31,  

   2009   2008  2009 

        

 Revenue        

  Natural gas and oil revenue   $                     97,417   $              194,465   $                          374,088 

        

 Cost of revenue        

  Natural gas and oil operating costs and royalties                       50,547                  62,704                           141,197 

  Depletion                       80,801                141,596                           298,489 

  Write down in carrying value of oil and gas property                       31,786                  45,352                           293,436 

        

                      163,134                249,652                           733,122  

        

 Gross Profit                      (65,717)                (55,187)                         (359,034) 

        

 Expenses        

  Accounting and audit                       32,451                 51,497                           193,846 

  Advertising & Promotions                         1,996                 12,362                            14,358 

  Bank charges and interest expense                       10,486                   7,551                            22,399 

  Consulting                        177,328               153,403                           507,836 

  Exploration costs and option payment                              -                          -                            318,292 

  Fees and dues                       12,712                   5,105                            25,563 

  Insurance                         5,397                   9,807                            15,204 

  Investor relations                         1,360                   8,852                            13,165 

  Legal and professional                         5,681                 32,052                           111,715 

  Office and miscellaneous                         9,530                 13,809                            40,258 

  Rent                         5,401                 11,052                            43,033 

  Telephone                         3,151                   1,759                              4,910 

  Training & Conferences                            685                   3,889                              4,574 

  Travel                         9,772                   7,402                            20,442 

        

 Total expenses                      275,950               318,540                        1,335,595 

        

 (Loss) for the period before other income                     (341,667)              (373,727)                      (1,694,629) 

        

 Other income (expense)        

  Interest income                            103                   5,265                              9,433 

  Other income                       26,524                        -                             26,524 

  Equity interest pick up                        (5,106)                  (4,073)                            (9,179) 

  Gain on disposition of oil and gas interests                      404,379                        -                            404,379 

  Write off of mineral property                              -                          -                                    (1) 

        

 Net Income (loss) for the period   $                     84,233  $             (372,535)  $                      (1,263,473) 

        

 Basic and diluted income (loss) per share   $                         0.01  $                  (0.03)   

        

 Weighted average number of common shares         

 outstanding - basic and diluted                 14,652,740           12,935,923    

        

        

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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GOLDEN ARIA CORP. 

(An Exploration Stage Company) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

            

          CUMULATIVE  

            PERIOD FROM  

             INCEPTION  

       YEAR ENDED    November 24, 2004 

       August 31,    August 31,   TO August 31,  

      2009   2008  2009 

           

 Cash flows used in operating activities         

  Net Income (loss)   $ 84,233 $ (372,535) $ (1,263,473) 

           

  Changes to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities        

   Consulting - Stock based compensation    35,780  104,257  256,996 

   Depletion   80,801  141,596  298,489 

   Write down in carrying value of oil and gas properties   31,786  45,352  293,437 

   Stock issued for mineral resource and oil and gas property   -  -  37,500 

   Write off of mineral property   -  -  1 

   Gain on disposition of property   (404,379)  -  (404,379) 

   Equity pick-up   5,106  4,073  9,179 

   Imputed interest    4,410  7,139  14,954 

           

  Change in non-cash working capital items:        

   Accounts receivable   11,770  4,190  1,100 

   Prepaid expenses and deposit   (2,777)  24,284  21,507 

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   (7,775)  (36,208)  (27,920) 

   Due to related parties   (1,733)  (75,618)  (73,536) 

           

 Net cash (used in) operating activities   (162,778)  (153,470)  (836,145) 

           

 Cash flows from (used in) investing activities        

           

  Oil and gas properties acquisition   (100,213)  (179,743)  (297,949) 

  Proceeds from sale of oil and gas interests   421,545  -  421,545 

  Mineral resource properties acquisition   -  -  (1) 

  Investment in Pro Eco   -  (45,000)  (45,000) 

  Cash provided in connection with business acquisition   -  201,028  201,028 

           

 Net cash from (used in) investing activities   321,332  (23,715)  279,623 

           

 Cash flows from financing activities        

  Proceeds from issuance of common stock   -  -  839,470 

           

 Net cash from financing activities   -  -  839,470 

           

 Increase (Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   158,554  (177,185)  282,948 

           

  Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   124,394  301,579  - 

           

 Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 282,948 $ 124,394 $ 282,948 

 Supplemental information of cash flows        

  Interest paid in cash  $ - $ - $ - 

  Income taxes paid in cash  $ - $ - $ - 

           

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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GOLDEN ARIA CORP.  

 (An Exploration Stage Company)  

 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY    

 NOVEMBER 24, 2004 (inception) TO AUGUST 31, 2009  

 (Expressed in U.S. Dollars)  

             

           DEFICIT    

           ACCUMULATED    

   COMMON STOCK    ADDITIONAL    STOCK    DURING    TOTAL  

       PAID-IN    TO BE    EXPLORATION    STOCKHOLDERS'  

   SHARES    AMOUNT    CAPITAL    ISSUED    STAGE    EQUITY  

             

 Balance November 24, 2004 (Inception)                    -    $               -    $                   -    $                -     $               -    $                         -   

             

 Issuance of common stock for cash         5,467,500           5,468           103,882                 -                  -                    109,350  

  at $0.02 per share on March 22, 2005             

             

 Issuance of common stock for cash         1,112,500           1,112           332,638                 -                  -                    333,750  

  at $0.30 per share on April 6, 2005              

             

 Stock to be issued           125,000                -               37,375               125                 -                     37,500  

             

 Comprehensive income (loss):             

  (Loss) for the period                    -                  -                      -                  -          (167,683)                 (167,683) 

             

 Balance, August 31, 2005         6,705,000           6,580           473,895               125       (167,683)                  312,917  

             

 Stock issued on September 29, 2005                    -                125                    -               (125)                -                            -   

                

 Comprehensive income (loss):             

  (Loss) for the year                    -                  -                      -                  -         (200,091)                 (200,091) 

 Balance, August 31, 2006         6,705,000           6,705            473,895                   -          (367,774)                   112,826  

             

 Units issued for cash at $0.50 per unit             92,740                93           163,236                       163,329  

  to related parties on March 6, 2007             

  (included stock based compensation             

  of $116,959)              
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 Stock issued for property on April 18, 2007            250,000              250           274,750                 -                  -                    275,000  

                

 Units issued for cash at $0.50 per unit           100,000              100             49,900                 -                  -                      50,000  

  on April 19, 2007              

             

 Units issued for cash at $0.50 per unit           600,000              600           299,400                 -                  -                     300,000  

  on August 31, 2007              

             

 Imputed interest from non-interest bearing loan                    -                  -                 3,405                 -                  -                        3,405  

             

 Comprehensive income (loss):             

  (Loss) for the year                    -                  -                      -                  -         (607,397)                 (607,397) 

             

 Balance, August 31, 2007         7,747,740  $          7,748  $        1,264,586   $                -    $      (975,171)  $                 297,163  

             

 Units issued for acquisition at $0.42 per unit         6,905,000           6,905         2,893,195                 -                  -                  2,900,100  

  on November 30, 2007              

             

 Imputed interest from non-interest bearing loan                    -                  -                 7,139                 -                  -                        7,139  

             

 Stock-based compensation on 1,785,000 options granted                    -                  -             104,257                 -                  -                    104,257  

             

 Comprehensive income (loss):             

  (Loss) for the year                    -                  -                      -                  -         (372,535)                 (372,535) 

 Balance, August 31, 2008       14,652,740  $        14,653  $        4,269,177   $                -    $   (1,347,706)  $              2,936,124  

             

 Imputed interest for non-interest bearing loan                    -                  -                  4,410                 -                   -                        4,410  

             

 Stock-based compensation                    -                  -                35,780                 -                   -                      35,780  

             

 Comprehensive income (loss):                

  (Loss) for the year                    -                  -                       -                   -            84,233                   84,233  

 Balance, August 31, 2009       14,652,740  $        14,653   $        4,309,367   $                -     $   (1,263,473)  $              3,060,547  

             

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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GOLDEN ARIA CORP. 
(An Exploration Stage Company) 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
August 31, 2009 

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 
              

  
1. ORGANIZATION 

 
The Company was formed of November 24, 2004 under the laws of the State of Nevada and commenced 
operations on November 24, 2004. The Company is an independent natural gas and oil company engaged in the 
exploration, development and acquisition of natural gas and oil properties in the United States and Canada.  The 
Company is considered as an exploration stage company as the revenue generated from the oil and gas 
properties was not substantial in terms of the Company’s intended overall operations.  The Company has offices 
in Vancouver and Kelowna, B.C., Canada. 
 
On September 15, 2009, the Company effected two for one stock consolidation and the consolidated financial 
statements of the Company have been restated to reflect the stock consolidation. 

2. GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTY 
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which 
contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of 
business for the foreseeable future. The Company earned a net income of $84,233 for the year ended August 31, 
2009 as the result of disposing its proven oil and gas interests [incurred net loss of $372,535 for the year ended 
August 31, 2008].  The Company currently has no proven producing oil and gas property and as at August 31, 
2009, the Company has incurred cumulative losses of $1,263,473 that raise substantial doubt about its ability to 
continue as a going concern.  Management has been able, thus far, to finance the operations through equity 
financing and cash on hand.  There is no assurance that the Company will be able to continue to finance the 
Company on this basis. 
 
In view of these conditions, the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is in substantial doubt 
and dependant upon its ability to generate sufficient cash flow to meet its obligations on a timely basis, to obtain 
additional financing as may be required, to receive the continued support of the Company’s shareholders, and 
ultimately to obtain successful operations. These consolidated financial statements do not give effect to any 
adjustments which would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and 
therefore be required to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of business 
and at amounts different from those reflected in the accompanying financial statements. 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

a) Basis of Consolidation 
 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned 
subsidiary, Target Energy, Inc., and its equity interest of Pro Eco Energy Inc.  All significant inter-
company balances and transactions have been eliminated. 
 

b)    Revenue Recognition  
 
The Company uses the sales method of accounting for natural gas and oil revenues.  Under this method, 
revenues are recognized upon the passage of title, net of royalties.  Revenues from natural gas production 
are recorded using the sales method.  When sales volumes exceed the Company’s entitled share, an 
overproduced imbalance occurs.  To the extent the overproduced imbalance exceeds the Company’s share 
of the remaining estimated proved natural gas reserves for a given property, the Company records a 
liability.  At August 31, 2009, the Company had no overproduced imbalances. 
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c)    Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
Cash equivalents comprise certain highly liquid instruments with a maturity of three months or less when 
purchased.  As of August 31, 2009, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash only. 

 
d)    Oil and Gas Properties 

 
The Company utilizes the full cost method to account for its investment in oil and gas properties.  
Accordingly, all costs associated with acquisition, exploration and development of oil and gas reserves, 
including such costs as leasehold acquisition costs, capitalized interest costs relating to unproved 
properties, geological expenditures, tangible and intangible development costs including direct internal 
costs are capitalized to the full cost pool.  When the Company obtains proven oil and gas reserves, 
capitalized costs, including estimated future costs to develop the reserves and estimated abandonment costs, 
net of salvage, will be depleted on the units-of-production method using estimates of proved reserves.   
 
Investments in unproved properties are not depleted pending determination of the existence of proved 
reserves. Unproved properties are assessed periodically to ascertain whether impairment has occurred. 
Unproved properties whose costs are individually significant are assessed individually by considering the 
primary lease terms of the properties, the holding period of the properties, and geographic and geologic 
data obtained relating to the properties. Where it is not practicable to assess individually the amount of 
impairment of properties for which costs are not individually significant, such properties are grouped for 
purposes of assessing impairment. The amount of impairment assessed is added to the costs to be 
amortized, or is reported as a period expense, as appropriate.  

 
Pursuant to full cost accounting rules, the Company must perform a ceiling test periodically on its proved 
oil and gas assets. The ceiling test provides that capitalized costs less related accumulated depletion and 
deferred income taxes for each cost center may not exceed the sum of (1) the present value of future net 
revenue from estimated production of proved oil and gas reserves using current prices, excluding the future 
cash outflows associated with settling asset retirement obligations that have been accrued on the balance 
sheet, at a discount factor of 10%; plus (2) the cost of properties not being amortized, if any; plus (3) the 
lower of cost or estimated fair value of unproved properties included in the costs being amortized, if any; 
less (4) income tax effects related to differences in the book and tax basis of oil and gas properties. Should 
the net capitalized costs for a cost center exceed the sum of the components noted above, an impairment 
charge would be recognized to the extent of the excess capitalized costs. 

 
Sales of proved and unproved properties are accounted for as adjustments of capitalized costs with no gain 
or loss recognized, unless such adjustments would significantly alter the relationship between capitalized 
costs and proved reserves of oil and gas, in which case the gain or loss is recognized in the statement of 
operations. 

  
Exploration activities conducted jointly with others are reflected at the Company’s proportionate interest in 
such activities. 

 
Cost related to site restoration programs are accrued over the life of the project. 

 
e)    Stock-Based Compensation 

 
The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(revised), "Share-Based Payment", to account for its stock options 
and similar equity instruments issued.  Accordingly, compensation costs attributable to stock options or 
similar equity instruments granted are measured at the fair value at the grant date, and expensed over the 
expected vesting period.  SFAS No. 123(revised) requires excess tax benefits be reported as a financing 
cash inflow rather than as a reduction of taxes paid. 
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f)    Accounting Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from 
those estimates and assumptions. 

 
       g)    Loss Per Share 

 
Loss per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period.  
The Company has adopted SFAS No.128 “Earnings Per Share”. Diluted loss per share is equivalent to 
basic loss per share because the potential exercise of the equity-based financial instruments was anti-
dilutive. 

 
      h)     Foreign Currency Translations 

 
The Company’s operations are located in the United States of America and Canada, and it has an office in 
Canada.  The Company maintains its accounting records in U.S. Dollars, as follows: 

 
At the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue and expense that was acquired or incurred in a foreign 
currency is translated into U.S. dollars by the using of the exchange rate in effect at that date.  At the period 
end, monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate in effect at that date.  The resulting 
foreign exchange gains and losses are included in operations. 

 
i)     Financial Instruments 

  
SFAS No. 157 “Fair Value Measurements” requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and 
minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. SFAS No. 157 establishes a fair value 
hierarchy based on the level of independent, objective evidence surrounding the inputs used to measure fair 
value. A financial instrument’s categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level 
of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. SFAS No. 157 prioritizes the inputs into three 
levels that may be used to measure fair value:  

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly 
observable; and 

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity, therefore requiring an 
entity to develop its own assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing. 

The Company’s financial instruments consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities and due to related parties. Pursuant to SFAS No. 157, the fair value 
of our cash and cash equivalents is determined based on “Level 1” inputs, which consist of quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets. The Company believes that the recorded values of all of the other 
financial instruments approximate their current fair values because of their nature and respective maturity 
dates or durations.  
 
The Company’s operations are in Canada, which results in exposure to market risks from changes in 
foreign currency rates. The financial risk is the risk to the Company’s operations that arise from 
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and the degree of volatility of these rates. Currently, the Company 
does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to foreign currency risk. 
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j)     Income Taxes 
 

  The Company has adopted statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109 (SFAS 109), Accounting 
for Income Taxes, which requires the Company to recognize deferred tax liabilities and assets for the 
expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s financial 
statements or tax returns using the liability method.  Under this method, deferred tax liabilities and assets 
are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets 
and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect in the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. 

 
k) Long-Lived Assets Impairment 

 
 Long-term assets of the Company are reviewed for impairment when circumstances indicate the carrying 

value may not be recoverable in accordance with the guidance established in Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 144 (SFAS 144), Accounting for the impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived 
Assets.  For assets that are to be held and used, an impairment loss is recognized when the estimated 
undiscounted cash flows associated with the asset or group of assets is less than their carrying value.  If 
impairment exists, an adjustment is made to write the asset down to its fair value. Fair values are 
determined based on discounted cash flows or internal and external appraisals, as applicable.  Assets to be 
disposed of are carried at the lower of carrying value or estimated net realizable value. 

 
l)    Asset Retirement Obligations 
  

The Company accounts for asset retirement obligations in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 143 
“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”.  SFAS 143 requires the Company to record the fair value 
of an asset retirement obligation as a liability in the period in which it incurs a legal obligation associated 
with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction, development 
and/or normal use of the assets.  The management of the Company had estimated the asset retirement 
obligation to be immaterial and therefore was not reflected on the financial statements as of August 31, 
2009.  

 
m)   Comprehensive Income 
  

The Company has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130 (SFAS 130), Reporting 
Comprehensive Income, which establishes standards for reporting and display of comprehensive income, its 
components and accumulated balances.  The Company is disclosing this information on its Statement of 
Stockholders’ Equity.  Comprehensive income comprises equity except those transactions resulting from 
investments by owners and distributions to owners. 

 
n)    Concentration of credit risk 

 
The Company places its cash and cash equivalent with high credit quality financial institution.  As of 
August 31, 2009, the Company had approximately $181,295 in a bank beyond insured limit (August 31, 
2008: $74,574). 

 
o)    New Accounting Pronouncements 

 
In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 141,(revised 
2007), “Business Combinations”.  SFAS 141 (R) applies the acquisition method of accounting for business 
combinations established in SFAS 141 to all acquisitions where the acquirer gains a controlling interest, 
regardless of whether consideration was exchanged.  Consistent with SFAS 141, SFAS 141 (R) requires the 
acquirer to fair value the assets and liabilities of the acquiree and record goodwill on bargain purchases, 
with main difference the application to all acquisitions where control is achieved.  SFAS 141 (R) is 
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008.  The adoption 
of this statement is not expected to have a material effect on the Company's future financial position or 
results of operations 
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In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 160, “Non 
controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements - An amendment of ARB No. 51”.SFAS 160 
requires companies with non controlling interests to disclose such interests clearly as a portion of equity but 
separate from the parent’s equity.  The non controlling interest’s portion of net income must also be clearly 
presented on the Income Statement.  SFAS 160 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2008. The adoption of this statement is not expected to have a material effect 
on the Company's future financial position or results of operations. 
 
In March 2008, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 161 ("SFAS 161"), "Disclosures about Derivative 
Instruments and Hedging Activities". SFAS 161 requires companies with derivative instruments to disclose 
information that should enable financial-statement users to understand how and why a company uses 
derivative instruments, how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under FASB 
Statement No. 133 "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" and how derivative 
instruments and related hedged items affect a company's financial position, financial performance and cash 
flows. SFAS 161 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning 
after November 15, 2008. The adoption of this statement is not expected to have a material effect on the 
Company's future financial position or results of operations. 
 
In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, “The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles”. SFAS 162 identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the 
principles to be used in the preparation of financial statements of non-governmental entities that are 
presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. It is effective 
60 days following the SEC’s approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board amendments to 
AU Section 411, “The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles”. The adoption of this statement is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s 
financial statements. 
 
In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. 142-3, “Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets” 
(“FSP 142-3”). FSP 142-3 amends the factors an entity should consider in developing renewal or extension 
assumptions used in determining the useful life of recognized intangible assets under FASB Statement No. 
142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. This new guidance applies prospectively to intangible assets 
that are acquired individually or with a group of other assets in business combinations and asset 
acquisitions. FSP 142-3 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods 
beginning after December 15, 2008. Early adoption is prohibited. The adoption of this statement is not 
expected to have a material effect on the Company’s financial statements. 
 
In May 2008, FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) APB 14-1, “Accounting for Convertible Debt 
Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlement)” (“FSP 
APB 14-1”). FSP APB 14-1 clarifies that convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon 
either mandatory or optional conversion (including partial cash settlement) are not addressed by paragraph 
12 of APB Opinion No. 14, “Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt issued with Stock Purchase 
Warrants.”  Additionally, FSP APB 14-1 specifies that issuers of such instruments should separately 
account for the liability and equity components in a manner that will reflect the entity’s nonconvertible debt 
borrowing rate when interest cost is recognized in subsequent periods. FSP APB 14-1 is effective for 
financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within 
those fiscal years. We will adopt FSP APB 14-1 beginning in the first quarter of 2010, and this standard 
must be applied on a retrospective basis. The adoption of this statement is not expected to have a material 
effect on the Company’s financial statements. 

 
In April, 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157-4 ("FSP FAS 157-4"), "Determining 
Fair Value When the Volume and Level of Activity for the Asset or Liability Have Significantly Decreased 
and Identifying Transactions That Are Not Orderly". The FSP provides additional guidance for estimating 
fair value in accordance with FASB Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, when the volume and 
level of activity for the asset or liability have significantly decreased. This FSP also includes guidance on 
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identifying circumstances that indicate a transaction is not orderly. The adoption of this FSP does not 
believe to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
 
In April, 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1 ("FSP FAS 107-1 and 
APB 28-1"), Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments. The FSP amends SFAS 107, 
Disclosure about Fair Value of Financial Instruments, and Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 28, 
Interim Financial Reporting, to require disclosures about fair value of financial instruments for interim 
reporting periods of publicly traded companies as well as in annual financial statements. Adoption of this 
FSP does not believe to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
 
On April 1, 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FSP FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2 ("FSP FAS 
115-2 and FAS 124-2"), Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments. The FSP 
amends the other-than-temporary impairment guidance in U.S. GAAP for debt securities to make the 
guidance more operational and to improve the presentation and disclosure of other-than-temporary 
impairments on debt and equity securities in the financial statements. This FSP does not amend existing 
recognition and measurement guidance related to other-than-temporary impairments of equity securities. 
The adoption of this FSP does not believe to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
 
In June 2009, the FASB issued FASB No. 168 The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the 
Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles - a replacement of FASB Statement No. 162 
(“SFAS 168”). SFAS 168 establishes the FASB Accounting Standards Codification as the source of 
authoritative accounting principles recognized by the FASB to be applied by non-governmental entities in 
the preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP in the United States. SFAS 168 is 
effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009.  
 
In June 2009, the FASB issued FASB No. 166, Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets - an 
amendment of FASB Statement No. 140 (“SFAS 166”). SFAS 166 requires additional disclosures about the 
transfer and derecognition of financial assets and eliminates the concept of qualifying special-purpose 
entities under SFAS 140. SFAS 166 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2009.  
 
Other accounting standards that have been issued or proposed by the FASB or other standards-setting 
bodies that do not require adoption until a future date are not expected to have a material impact on the 
Company’s financial statements upon adoption. 

 

4. LONG TERM INVESTMENT 
 

On April 21, 2008, the Company purchased 900,000 shares for $45,000 in Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd (“Pro Eco 
Energy”) which represented 8.25% ownership.  The Chairman of the Company is a Director in Pro Eco Energy 
which established the existence of significant influence in Pro Eco Energy and accordingly the equity method of 
accounting is adopted for the investment.   
 
During the year ended August 31, 2009, the Company recorded an equity loss of $5,106 (2008 - $4,073), which 
resulted in a net investment of $35,821 (2008 - $40,927). 
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5. OIL AND GAS PROPERTIES 
 

(a) Proved property 
 

Property 
August 31, 

2008 
Addition 

Depletion for 
the period 

Write down 
in carrying 

value 

Disposition 
August 

31, 2009 

Canada-Proved 
property 

 $     126,941 $    2,813 $    (80,801) $    (31,786) $  (14,345)  $          - 

 

Queensdale, Saskatchewan (1A9-25) 
 

On April 16, 2007, the Company acquired a 25% (net 15%) before payout (“BPO”) (12.5% (net 7.5%) after 
payout (“APO”)) interest in Queensdale, Saskatchewan Project from 0743608 B.C. Ltd. (Assignor), a 
company controlled by a Director/CEO of the Company, for a total cost of CAD$250,000 and 250,000 
shares of the Company’s common stock.  The Participation Agreement consists specifically of all (100%) 
of the Assignor’s interest in the Queensdale 1A9-25/4A2-25-6-2 W2M well; none (0%) of the Assignor’s 
interest in the Queensdale 4A9-25 / 2D15-25-6-2 W2M well; and one-half (50%) interest in the Farmout 
Land and the Option Land.  

 
 On April 18, 2007, 250,000 shares were issued at market value $1.10 per share giving a total of $275,000. 
 

The Company agrees to pay to the Assignor on monthly basis and within 5 business days of receiving the 
payment from net generated oil and gas revenue, a minimum of 80% of the payments received from net 
generated oil and gas revenue attributable to the Queensdale 1A9-25 / 4A2-25-6-2 W2M well, until such 
time as the full CAD$250,000 has been paid to the Assignor. 
 

 The total cost capitalized cost incurred for the oil and gas property was $487,097 which was attributed to 
the acquisition cost of the oil and gas property.  The Company applied the full cost method to account for 
this property. 

 
On July 1, 2009, the Company sold all its interests in the related well for CAD$45,450. 
 
West Queensdale, Saskatchewan (HZ 4A9-25/3A15-25-6-2 W2) 

 
Through the Company’s subsidiary, Target, the Company owns another producing well at Queensdale, 
Queensdale West HZ 4A9-25/3A15-25-6-2 W2.  The well was drilled in February 2007 and was placed in 
production on May 15, 2007.  The Company has an 8% Gross Interest before payout (BPO) and 4% net 
interest after payout in this well. 

 
On July 1, 2009, the Company sold all its interests for CAD$42,666. 

 
Wordsworth, Saskatchewan 

Through the Company’s subsidiary, Target, the Company owns a well working interest in Wordsworth, 
Saskatchewan, The Wordsworth property has two producing oil well which was drilled in May, 2006, and 
in which the Company has a 3.75% net interest.  This is a horizontal well called the Wordsworth East HZ 
2A2-23/3A11-14-7-3 W2, and was considered a new pool discovery. A second well on this property, the 
Wordsworth E. HZ 3B9-23/3A11-23-7-3 W2 located on the north side of the Wordsworth prospect.  
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On July 1, 2009, the Company sold all its interests for CAD$365,000. 

(b) Unproved property 
 

Property August 31, 2008 Addition Cost added to 
capitalized 

cost 

 August 31, 
2009 

     

Canada  $     3,524,217  $     37,413 $               -    $      3,561,630 

U. S.   59,987 - 59,987 

 $    3,524,217 $     97,400 $               -   $      3,621,617 

 
Coteau Lake, Saskatchewan 
 
Through the Company’s subsidiary, Target, the Company owns certain working interest in Coteau Lake, 
Saskatchewan. 
 
Coteau Lake is an exploration property and the Company has no producing oil or gas wells on this land at 
this time. The Coteau Lake exploration project covers 1,280 acres of land. The Company’s gross and net 
interest in this project is 50%. There has been historic oil production on the Coteau Lake project lands.   
 
On November 7, 2007, the Company’s subsidiary Target entered into a Letter of Intent (the “LOI”) with 
Primrose Drilling Ventures Ltd. (“Primrose”), a body corporate, having an office in the city of Calgary, in 
the Province of Alberta.  Pursuant to the LOI, the Target is the interest title holder of Saskatchewan Crown 
Land parcels 124, 125 and 126. 
 
Primrose elected to proceed with a 50/50 joint venture with Target by reimbursing Target for 50% of its 
land cost on parcels 124, 125 and 126 for CDN$26,590 which is payable on signing within 15 days of the 
LOI.  Primrose would become operator of the project upon its acceptance of such appointment and 
agreement to assume the duties, obligations and rights of the operator.  A formal Participation Agreement 
(“Agreement”) which included the provisions of LOI has been entered between Target and 
Primrose.  Included in the Participation Agreement would be the Area of Mutual Interest (AMI) which 
would govern future land acquisitions and timeline set out in the LOI.  On December 31, 2008, an 
additional $22,270 was spent on land acquisitions with Primrose Drilling Ventures.  As at August 31, 2009, 
the Company was still in the process of defining the first well exploration location. 

 
Glen Park, Alberta  
 
On May 14, 2008 the Company was successful in acquiring one land parcel of 160 acres in the Glen Park 
area of central Alberta, Canada. The Company subsequently created a 50/50 Joint Venture with Vanguard 
Exploration to explore and develop the joint lands on Alberta Petroleum and Natural Gas Lease No. 
0408050364. The joint venture owns the Petroleum and Natural Gas rights below the base of the Mannville 
GRP to basement. 

 
On June 11, 2008 the Company was successful in acquiring two land parcels of 160 acres each in the Glen 
Park area of central Alberta, Canada. These 320 acres are believed to be prospective for reef development 
and the potential accumulation of oil deposits. Productive wells in the area have had production rates in 
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excess of 200 bop/d and in some cases with little associated water. We currently have a 100% interest in 
these two prospects. The Company continues to evaluate other opportunities in this and other areas. 

 
Belmont Lake 

 
On August 28, 2009 and effective on September 1, 2009, the Company entered into two assignment 
agreements to participate in a well program in Jackson, Mississippi with two public companies. The 
Company agreed to pay $45,000 to acquire a 40.432 percent interest from Cheetah Oil and Gas Ltd's 8 
percent gross interest in the Belmont Lake 12-4 well by paying 57.76 percent of the drilling, completion 
and tie in costs. The Company also agreed to pay $59,987 to acquire a 13.475 percent interest from Lexaria 
Corp's 32 percent gross interest in the Belmont Lake 12-4 well by paying 19.25 percent of the drilling, 
completion and tie in costs.  Both public companies have a managerial relationship with the Company.  As 
at August 31, 2009, the Company has made a payment of $59,987 in connection with the assignment 
agreement and the amount have been included in unproved property. 

6. NOTES PAYABLE – RELATED PARTY 
 

On November 27, 2008 the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement with 0743608 BC Ltd. (“Purchaser”) 
for aggregate amount of CAD $50,000, under which the Purchaser agrees to purchase non-secured 18% interest 
bearing Promissory Note of the Company subject to and upon the terms and conditions of the Purchase 
Agreement. 

 
As long as the Promissory Note is outstanding, the Purchaser may voluntarily convert the Promissory Note to 
Common Shares at the conversion price of $0.25 per share of Common Stock.  

 
The Company did not incur beneficial conversion charge as the conversion price is greater than the fair value of 
the Company’s equity. 

 
The Company paid in full the Purchaser CAD$50,000 on August 15, 2009. 

 
7. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTION 
 

For the year ended August 31, 2009, the Company engaged following related party transactions: 
 

 Paid / accrued $52,200 (August 31, 2008: $24,360) to the President of the Company in consulting 
fees.   

 Paid / accrued 82,207 (August 31, 2008: $20,762) and $5,401 (August 31, 2008: $1,590); of 
consulting fees and office rent, respectively, to a company controlled by a Director/CEO of the 
Company.  

 Included in due to related parties, $77,309 (August 31, 2008: $126,195) was owed to a company 
controlled by a Director/CEO of the Company for acquiring working interest in Queensdale, 
Saskatchewan Project.   

 
The related party transactions are recorded at the exchange amount established and agreed to between the 
related parties.  Amount due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand. 
 
For the year ended August 31, 2009, the Company recorded imputed interest of $4,410 in connection with the 
amount owed to a related party. 

 
8. COMMON STOCK AND WARRANTS 
 

Common Stock      
 
On March 6, 2007, the Company issued total of 92,740 units at $0.50 per unit to directors of the Company. 
Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant with exercise price of $0.80 per share, 
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expires on December 1, 2008. Units issued were revalued to their fair market value of common shares and share 
purchase warrants. The fair value of warrants has been estimated as of the date of issue using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model with expected volatility: 104.11%, risk-free interest rate: 3.77%, expected life: 1.75 years 
and dividend yield: 0.00%.  The fair value of each warrant has been estimated at $0.66 per warrant. For the year 
ended August 31, 2007, the Company recorded a total of $116,959 for stock based compensation expenses in 
connection with the revaluation of the units issued.  
 
On April 18, 2007, pursuant to an Assignment Agreement, the Company issued 250,000 shares to a director of 
the Company at market value $1.10 per share for a total value of $275,000.   
 
On April 19, 2007, the Company issued total of 100,000 units at $0.50 per unit to an arm’s length party. Each 
unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant with exercise price of $0.80 per share, 
expires on December 1, 2008.  
 
On August 31, 2007, the Company issued total of 600,000 units at $0.50 per unit for total proceeds of $300,000. 
Each unit is comprised of one restricted common share and one warrant to purchase one additional share of 
common stock at a price of $0.80, exercisable for a period of two years from the closing of this offering.  

 
On October 15, 2007, the Company entered into a share exchange agreement with Target Energy (“Target”), a 
private Nevada corporation, and the former shareholders of Target. The closing of the transactions contemplated 
in the share exchange agreement and the acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding common stock in the 
capital of Target occurred on November 30, 2007.  The Company issued 6,905,000 shares of its common stock 
to the shareholders of Target and in so doing acquired 100% of all issued Target shares from those shareholders 
who had owned 13,810,000 shares of Target.   

 
Warrants  
 
A summary of the changes in share purchase warrants for the period ended August 31, 2009 is presented below: 
 

 Warrants Outstanding 

  Weighted Average 

 Number of Shares Exercise Price 

Balance, August 31, 2008   792,740 $    0.80 

Expired (792,740) $    0.80 

Balance, August 31, 2009 - $         - 

 

9. STOCK OPTIONS 
 

On December 14, 2007, the Company granted 892,500 stock options to directors, Officers, and consultants of 
the Company with exercise prices of $0.70 per share, expires over 5 years.  The vesting dates of options are as 
below: 
 

Vesting Dates Percentage of options granted 
December 14, 2007 25%  
December 14, 2008 25% 
December 14, 2009 25% 
December 14, 2010 25% 
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For the year ended August 31, 2009, the Company recorded $35,780 (2008 - $104,257) for stock based 
compensation expenses which has been included in consulting fees. 
 
A summary of the changes in stock options for the year ended August 31, 2009 is presented below: 
 

 Options Outstanding 
  Weighted 

Average 
 Number of Shares Exercise Price 
Balance, August 31, 2008   892,500 $     0.70 
Granted - - 
Balance, August 31, 2009 892,500 $    0.70 
 

The fair value of each option granted and unvested option granted to the consultants of the Company has been 
estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:  
 

 Year ended August 31, 2009 Year ended August 31, 2008 
Expected volatility 87.80% 84.67% 
Risk-free interest rate 2.29% 3.98% 
Expected life 3.29 years 5.00 years 
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 

 
The weighted average fair value of unvested stock options granted to the consultants of the Company, which 
has been revalued on August 31, 2009 was $0.086.  The weighted average fair value of option granted during 
the year ended August 31, 2008 is as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

Weighted 
Average 

Fair 
Value 

Exercise price is more than  the market price at grant date: $    0.70 $   0.24 
 

The Company has the following options outstanding and exercisable.   
 

August 31, 2009 Options outstanding  Options exercisable 
Range of exercise 

prices 
Number 
of shares 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual life 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 

Number of 
shares 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

$       0.70 892,500 3.29 years $        0.70 446,250 $      0.70 
 

10. COMMITMENTS - OTHER 
 

(a) The Company has entered into a month-to-month rental arrangement with a company controlled by a 
director of the Company for office space in Kelowna, British Columbia, Canada for CAD$525 (including 
CAD$25 GST) per month. 

 
(b) On March 2, 2008, the Company entered into a controller agreement with CAB Financial Services, a 

corporation organized under the laws of the Province of British Columbia.  CAB Financial Services is a 
consulting company controlled by the chairman of the board and chief executive officer of the Company. 
Pursuant to the controller agreement, CAB Financial Services will provide corporate accounting and 
controller services to the Company in consideration for the payment of CAD$3,675 (including $175 GST) 
per month, together with reimbursement for all travel and other expenses incurred by it.  This agreement 
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was terminated on October 9, 2009. 
 
(c) On December 1, 2008 the Company entered into a consulting agreement with CAB Financial Services, a 

corporation organized under the laws of the Province of British Columbia.  CAB Financial Services Ltd. is 
a consulting company controlled by the chairman of the board and chief executive officer of the Company.  
CAB Financial Services Ltd. is to provide management consulting services for $5,000 per month plus GST 
on a continuing basis. 

 
(d) On December 1, 2008 the Company entered into a consulting agreement with the President of the Company 

for corporate administration and oil and gas exploration and production consulting services for $5,000 per 
month plus GST on a continuing basis.  This agreement replaces the December 1, 2007 agreement. 

 
 
11. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 
 

The Company’s provision for income taxes is comprised of the following: 
 

    2009    2008 
        
Current Tax Provision  $  Nil  $  Nil 
Deferred Tax Provision  $  Nil  $  Nil 
Tax Expense  $  Nil  $  Nil 

 
 
Rate Reconciliation  
Income taxes vary from the amount that would be computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate of 
34% for the following reasons:  
 

    2009  2008 
      
Income tax recovery (expense) - U.S. Federal  Statutory Rate  $  (28,600) $  126,700 
Non-deductible items   (19,500)   (36,800)
Utilization of loss carry forward   71,900   -
Changes in Valuation Allowance  (23,800)  (89,900)
       
Tax Expenses  $  - $  -

 
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to the Company’s deferred tax asset (liability) are as 
follows:  
 

    2009   2008 
       
Net Operating Loss Carryforward  $  353,000 $  348,000 
Tax Basis Less Than Accounting Basis For Oil and Gas Properties  (762,704)   (762,704) 
Long term Investment  3,100   1,400 
Valuation Allowance  (356,100)   (349,400)
       
Deferred Tax Assets  $  (762,704) $  (762,704) 

 
 
For tax purpose, as of August 31, 2009 the Company has operating loss carry forwards of approximately 
$1,033,000which expire in 2025 through 2029 as follows:  
 

     Amount Expiration Date 
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2009  $ 70,000 2029 
2008   459,000 2028 
2007   329,000 2027 
2006  114,000 2026 
2005   61,000 2025 
       
Total loss carry forward  $  1,033,000    

 
 

12. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 
 

The Company’s business is considered as operating under one segment based upon the Company’s 
organizational structure, the way in which the operation is managed and evaluated, the availability of separate 
financial results and materiality considerations.  In terms of geographical information, the Company had all of 
its operations in Canada during fiscal year 2009 and had assets of $3,892,784 and $59,987 located in Canada 
and United States of America as at August 31, 2009, respectively.  In 2008, the Company operated and had all 
of its assets located in Canada.  
 

13. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 
 

Certain 2008 comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the financial statements presentation 
adopted for 2009. 

 
14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

(a) On October 9, 2009, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with the CFO of the Company for a 
term of 6 months and CAD$4,500 per month plus GST. 

 
(b) On October 22, 2009 the Company re-priced the original Stock Options issued on December 14, 2007 to 

$0.20.   
 

(c) On October 22, 2009 the Company issued 500,000 Stock Options to the Officers and the Board with an 
exercise price of $0.10.   

 
(d) In accordance with SFAS No. 165 “Subsequent Events”, the Company evaluated subsequent events 

through November 27, 2009, the date of issuance of the audited financial statements. During this period the 
Company did not have any material recognizable subsequent events. 

 
(e) See Note 1. 
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Chang Lee LLP 
Chartered Accountants  

505 – 815 Hornby Street
Vancouver, B.C, V6Z 2E6

Tel:  604-687-3776
Fax: 604-688-3373 

E-mail: info@changleellp.com

 
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of  
GOLDEN ARIA CORP. 

(An exploration stage company) 
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Golden Aria Corp. (“the Company”) (an exploration 
stage company) as at August 31, 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of
stockholders’ equity, operations and cash flows for the years then ended and for the period cumulative
from inception November 24, 2004 (inception) to August 31, 2008. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audits.   

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Company as at August 31, 2008 and 2007 and the results of their operations and
their cash flows for the years then ended and for the period cumulative from inception November 24, 2004 
(inception) to August 31, 2008 in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States of America. 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements refer to above have been prepared assuming that the
Company will continue as a going concern.  As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Company has incurred losses from inception and further losses are anticipated.  These factors raise
substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern.  Management’s plans in regard to these 
matters are also described in Note 3.  The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might
result from the outcome of this uncertainty. 
 

Vancouver, Canada                     
November 19, 2008           Chartered Accountants 
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GOLDEN ARIA CORP.  
(An Exploration Stage Company)  

CONSOLDIATED BALANCE SHEETS  
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)  

            August 31,    August 31,  
           2008  2007 
 ASSETS             
 Current             
  Cash and cash equivalents       $        124,394  $           301,579 
  Accounts receivable               21,378               14,860 
  Prepaid expenses and deposit                             -                        -   

 Total current assets                  145,772   
  

316,439 
              
 Non-Current           
  Long-term Investment in Pro Eco Energy (Note 5)                    40,927                       -   
  Proven - Oil and gas properties (Note 6)                 126,941            203,658 
  Unproven - Oil and gas properties (Note 6)                 3,524,216                       -   

 Total Assets       
 
$ 

   
3,837,856  

 
$ 

  
520,097 

              
 LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY          
 LIABILITIES            
 Current             
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities     $                7,775  $             16,063 
  Due to related parties (Note 7)                   131,253             206,871 

 Total Current Liabilities                      139,028   
  

222,934 
  Deferred tax liability                   762,704                       -   
  
Total Liabilities                     901,732            222,934 
                 
 STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY           
 Share capital           
  Authorized:  75,000,000 common shares with a par value of $0.001 per share   
              
  Issued and outstanding:           
   29,305,480 common shares at August 31, 2008         
   (and 15,495,480 common shares at August 31, 2007)                  29,305               15,495 
 Additional paid-in capital              4,254,525           1,256,839 
 Deficit accumulated during the exploration stage         (1,347,706)           (975,171) 

 Total Stockholders' Equity                   2,936,124   
  

297,163 

 Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity      
 
$ 

   
3,837,856   

  
520,097 

              
 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements  
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GOLDEN ARIA CORP.  
(An Exploration Stage Company)  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars) 

        CUMULATIVE 

       
 PERIOD 

FROM  
        INCEPTION  
       NOVEMBER 24, 
    YEAR ENDED    2004 TO  
    August 31,    August 31,    August 31,  
   2008   2007  2008 
 Revenue        
  Natural gas and oil revenue  $    194,465 $  82,206  $           276,671 
        
 Cost of revenue        
  Natural gas and oil operating costs and royalties        62,704    27,945           90,650 
  Depletion      141,596    76,092            217,688 
  Write-down in carrying value of oil and gas property         45,352    216,299            261,650 
          249,652     320,336                 569,988 
 Gross Profit         (55,187)   (238,130)        (293,317) 
        
 Expenses        
  Accounting and audit          51,497     50,456          161,395 
  Advertising & Promotions          12,362  -               12,362 
  Bank charges and interest expense            7,551      4,063               11,913 
  Consulting (Note 7 & Note 9)        153,403  142,399           330,508 
  Exploration costs and option payment                -      119,342         318,292 
  Fees and dues          5,105     4,055            12,851 
  Insurance             9,807             -                  9,807 
  Investor relations             8,852      2,953              11,805 
  Legal and professional        32,052   17,023           106,034 
  Office and miscellaneous         13,809  11,393              30,728 
  Rent     11,052  17,750            37,632 
  Telephone         1,759  -                 1,759 
  Training & Conferences             3,889  -                3,889 
  Travel         7,402   2,381              10,670 
 Total expenses      318,540    371,815              1,059,645 
 (Loss) for the period before other income     (373,727)    (609,945)            (1,352,962) 
        
 Other income (expense)        
  Interest income          5,265         2,549               9,330 
  Equity Interest Pick-Up       (4,073)  -            (4,073) 
  Write off of mineral property                -          (1)                  (1) 
 Net (loss) for the period  $    (372,535) $  (607,397) $       (1,347,706) 

 Basic and diluted loss per share  $    (0.01) $     (0.04)   

        
 Weighted average number of common shares         
 outstanding - basic and diluted      25,871,846  13,764,523    
        

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements  
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GOLDEN ARIA CORP.  
(An Exploration Stage Company)  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)  

          CUMULATIVE  
           PERIOD FROM  
            INCEPTION  
             November 24,  
       YEAR ENDED    2004 TO  
       August 31,   August 31,    August 31,  
      2008   2007  2008 

 Cash flows used in operating activities         
  Net (loss) for the period  $  (372,535) $  (607,397) $ (1,347,706) 
           
  Changes to reconcile net loss to net cash used in 

 operating activities  
      

  Consulting - Stock based compensation (Note 9)     104,257     116,959                 221,216 
  Depletion       141,596        76,092                 217,688 
  Write down in carrying value of oil and gas properties      45,352    216,299                 261,651 
  Stock issued for mineral resource and oil and gas property               -                   -                   37,500 
  Write off of mineral property             -                 1                          1 
  Equity interest pick-up  4,073  -  4,073 
  Imputed interest expense          7,139         3,405                  10,544 
          
  Change in non-cash working capital items:        
  Accounts receivable   4,190     (14,860)               (10,670) 
  Prepaid expenses and deposit   24,284        12,589   24,284 
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   (36,208)     (33,955)  (20,145) 
  Due to related parties       (75,618)            740                (71,803) 

 Net cash used in operating activities    (153,470)   (230,127)            (673,367) 
           
 Cash flows used in investing activities        
  Oil and gas properties acquisition   (179,743)      (17,993)              (197,736) 
  Mineral resource properties acquisition         -                  -                         (1) 
  Cash provided in connection investment in Pro Eco Energy     (45,000)              -                 (45,000) 
  Cash provided in connection with business acquisition     201,028          -                  201,028 

 Net cash used in investing activities      (23,715)     (17,993)             (41,709) 
           

 Cash flows from financing activities        
  Proceeds from issuance of common stock         -      396,370                 839,470 

 Net cash from financing activities            -    396,370              839,470 
 Increase (Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     

(177,185) 
    

148,250  
                124,394 

 Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period     
301,579 

    
153,329  

                        -   

 Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   
$ 

  
124,394 

 
$ 

   
301,579  

 
$ 

               124,394 

           
 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements  
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GOLDEN ARIA CORP.  
(An Exploration Stage Company)  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)  
NOVEMBER 24, 2004 (inception) TO AUGUST 31, 2008  

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)  
           Deficit  

          Accumulated  

   Common Stock   Additional    Stock    During  

       Paid-In    To Be    Exploration  

   Shares   Amount   Capital    Issued    Stage  

           

 Balance November 24, 2004 (Inception)           -    $            -    $                    -    $      -    $                -    

 Issuance of common stock for cash  10,935,000    10,935    98,415       -                   -    

  at $0.01 per share on March 22, 2005           

 Issuance of common stock for cash   2,225,000    2,225       331,525       -                   -    

  at $0.15 per share on April 6, 2005            

 Stock to be issued   250,000                 -         37,250     250                 -    

           

 Comprehensive income (loss):           

  (Loss) for the period        -           -                       -         -          (167,683) 

 Balance, August 31, 2005  13,410,000    13,160    467,190         250        (167,683) 

 Stock issued on September 29, 2005        -       250                     -        (250)                -    

              

 Comprehensive income (loss):           

  (Loss) for the year        -                   -                       -         -          (200,091) 

 Balance, August 31, 2006  13,410,000     13,410           467,190           -             (367,774) 

 Units issued for cash at $0.25 per unit    185,480     185   163,144   -  - 

  to related parties on March 6, 2007           

  (included stock based compensation           

  of $116,959)            

 Stock issued for property on April 18, 2007 (note 6)     500,000       500      274,500       -                   -    

 Units issued for cash at $0.25 per unit   200,000     200         49,800       -                   -    

  on April 19, 2007            

 Units issued for cash at $0.25 per unit   1,200,000    1,200    298,800      -                   -    

  on August 31, 2007            

 Imputed interest from non-interest bearing  loan     -          -      3,405      -                   -    

           

 Comprehensive income (loss):           

  (Loss) for the year           -                   -                       -           -          (607,397) 

 Balance, August 31, 2007  15,495,480    15,495     1,256,839       -           (975,171) 

 Issued in connection of business acquisition  13,810,000    13,810   2,886,290                 -                   -    

 at $0.21 per share on November 30, 2007            

 Imputed interest from non-interest bearing  loan           -                   -                 7,139         -                   -    

 Stock-based compensation on 1,785,000  options 
granted (Note 9) 

    -          -      104,257         -                         -    

           

 Comprehensive income (loss):           
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  (Loss) for the year      -                   -                       -         -          (372,535) 

           

 Balance, August 31, 2008  29,305,480  $   29,305  $    4,254,525  $       -    $    (1,347,706) 

           

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements  
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GOLDEN ARIA CORP.  
(An Exploration Stage Company)  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
August 31, 2008  

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars)  
1. ORGANIZATION 
  

The Company was formed of November 24, 2004 under the laws of the State of Nevada and commenced 
operations on November 24, 2004. The Company is an independent natural gas and oil company engaged in the 
exploration, development and acquisition of natural gas and oil properties in the United States and Canada.  The 
Company is considered as an exploration stage company as the revenue generated from the oil and gas 
properties was not substantial in terms of the Company’s intended overall operations. 

 
The Company has offices in Vancouver and Kelowna, B.C., Canada. 
 

2. BUSINESS ACQUISITION 
 

Effective November 30, 2007, the Company acquired Target Energy, Inc. (“Target”), a private Nevada 
corporation, whose principal business is in the identification, acquisition and exploration of oil and gas 
properties.  The Company issued to the shareholders of Target 13,810,000 shares of common stock, which 
represented 100% of the outstanding shares of Target.  Following is a summary of purchase price allocation: 
   

    November 30, 2007 

Purchase price:   
Share consideration - 13,810,000 common shares at $0.21 per share  $           2,900,100  

Purchase Price Allocation: 
 

  

Cash and cash equivalents $             201,028  
Accounts receivable                10,708  
Prepaid expense and deposits                24,284  
Oil and gas properties             3,454,704  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities               (27,920) 
Deferred income tax liabilities              (762,704) 
Total  $           2,900,100  

 

The operations of Target from December 1, 2007 to August 31, 2008 have been reflected in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

3. GOING CONCERN UNCERTAINTY 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which 
contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of 
business for the foreseeable future. The Company incurred a net loss of $372,535 for the year ended August 31, 
2008 [net loss for the year ended August 31, 2007 - $607,397] and as at August 31, 2008 has incurred 
cumulative losses of $1,347,706 that raises substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern.  
Management has been able, thus far, to finance the operations through equity financing and cash on hand.  
There is no assurance that the Company will be able to continue to finance the Company on this basis. 

In view of these conditions, the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is in substantial doubt 
and dependant upon its ability to generate sufficient cash flow to meet its obligations on a timely basis, to obtain 
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additional financing as may be required, to receive the continued support of the Company’s shareholders, and 
ultimately to obtain successful operations. These consolidated financial statements do not give effect to any 
adjustments which would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and 
therefore be required to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of business 
and at amounts different from those reflected in the accompanying financial statements. 
 

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

e) Basis of Consolidation 
 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Target Energy Inc. All significant inter-company balances and transactions have been 
eliminated. 
 

b)   Revenue Recognition  
 
The Company uses the sales method of accounting for natural gas and oil revenues.  Under this method, 
revenues are recognized upon the passage of title, net of royalties.  Revenues from natural gas production 
are recorded using the sales method.  When sales volumes exceed the Company’s entitled share, an 
overproduced imbalance occurs.  To the extent the overproduced imbalance exceeds the Company’s share 
of the remaining estimated proved natural gas reserves for a given property, the Company records a 
liability.  At August 31, 2008, the Company had no overproduced imbalances. 

  
c)    Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
Cash equivalents comprise certain highly liquid instruments with a maturity of three months or less when 
purchased.  As of August 31, 2008, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash only. 

 
d)    Oil and Gas Properties 

The Company utilizes the full cost method to account for its investment in oil and gas properties.  
Accordingly, all costs associated with acquisition, exploration and development of oil and gas reserves, 
including such costs as leasehold acquisition costs, capitalized interest costs relating to unproved 
properties, geological expenditures, tangible and intangible development costs including direct internal 
costs are capitalized to the full cost pool.  When the Company obtains proven oil and gas reserves, 
capitalized costs, including estimated future costs to develop the reserves and estimated abandonment costs, 
net of salvage, will be depleted on the units-of-production method using estimates of proved reserves.   

Investments in unproved properties are not depleted pending determination of the existence of proved 
reserves. Unproved properties are assessed periodically to ascertain whether impairment has occurred. 
Unproved properties whose costs are individually significant are assessed individually by considering the 
primary lease terms of the properties, the holding period of the properties, and geographic and geologic 
data obtained relating to the properties. Where it is not practicable to assess individually the amount of 
impairment of properties for which costs are not individually significant, such properties are grouped for 
purposes of assessing impairment. The amount of impairment assessed is added to the costs to be 
amortized, or is reported as a period expense, as appropriate.  

 Pursuant to full cost accounting rules, the Company must perform a ceiling test each quarter on its proved 
oil and gas assets. The ceiling test provides that capitalized costs less related accumulated depletion and 
deferred income taxes for each cost center may not exceed the sum of (1) the present value of future net 
revenue from estimated production of proved oil and gas reserves using current prices, excluding the future 
cash outflows associated with settling asset retirement obligations that have been accrued on the balance 
sheet, at a discount factor of 10%; plus (2) the cost of properties not being amortized, if any; plus (3) the 
lower of cost or estimated fair value of unproved properties included in the costs being amortized, if any; 
less (4) income tax effects related to differences in the book and tax basis of oil and gas properties. Should 
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the net capitalized costs for a cost center exceed the sum of the components noted above, an impairment 
charge would be recognized to the extent of the excess capitalized costs.  

Sales of proved and unproved properties are accounted for as adjustments of capitalized costs with no gain 
or loss recognized, unless such adjustments would significantly alter the relationship between capitalized 
costs and proved reserves of oil and gas, in which case the gain or loss is recognized in the statement of 
operations. 
  
Exploration activities conducted jointly with others are reflected at the Company’s proportionate interest in 
such activities. 
 
Cost related to site restoration programs are accrued over the life of the project. 
  

e)    Stock-Based Compensation 
 

The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(revised), "Share-Based Payment", to account for its stock options 
and similar equity instruments issued.  Accordingly, compensation costs attributable to stock options or 
similar equity instruments granted are measured at the fair value at the grant date, and expensed over the 
expected vesting period.  SFAS No. 123(revised) requires excess tax benefits be reported as a financing 
cash inflow rather than as a reduction of taxes paid. 
 

f)    Accounting Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from 
those estimates and assumptions. 

 
       g)    Loss Per Share 

 
Loss per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period.  
The Company has adopted SFAS No.128 “Earnings Per Share”. Diluted loss per share is equivalent to 
basic loss per share because the potential exercise of the equity-based financial instruments was anti-
dilutive. 

 
      h)     Foreign Currency Translations 

 
The Company’s operations are located in the Canada, and it has offices in Canada.  The Company 
maintains its accounting records in U.S. Dollars, as follows: 
 
At the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue and expense that was acquired or incurred in a foreign 
currency is translated into U.S. dollars by the using of the exchange rate in effect at that date.  At the period 
end, monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate in effect at that date.  The resulting 
foreign exchange gains and losses are included in operations. 

 
i)     Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

  
Fair value estimates of financial instruments are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant 
information about financial markets and specific financial instruments.  As these estimates are subjective in 
nature, involving uncertainties and matters of significant judgment, they cannot be determined with 
precision.  Changes in assumptions can significantly affect estimated fair values. 

 
The respective carrying value of certain on-balance-sheet financial instruments approximated their fair 
value.  These financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities and due to related parties.  Fair values were assumed to approximate carry 



A-46 
 

 

values for these financial instruments, since they are short term in nature and their carrying amounts 
approximate fair values or they are receivable or payable on demand.  Management is of the opinion that 
the Company is not exposed to significant interest or credit risks arising from these financial instruments.  
The Company is operated outside the United States of America and thus have significant exposure to 
foreign currency risk due to the fluctuation of the currency in which the Company operates and the U.S. 
dollars. 

 
j)     Income Taxes 

 
  The Company has adopted statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109 (SFAS 109), Accounting 

for Income Taxes, which requires the Company to recognize deferred tax liabilities and assets for the 
expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s financial 
statements or tax returns using the liability method.  Under this method, deferred tax liabilities and assets 
are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets 
and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect in the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. 

 
l) Long-Lived Assets Impairment 

 
 Long-term assets of the Company are reviewed for impairment when circumstances indicate the carrying 

value may not be recoverable in accordance with the guidance established in Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 144 (SFAS 144), Accounting for the impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived 
Assets.  For assets that are to be held and used, an impairment loss is recognized when the estimated 
undiscounted cash flows associated with the asset or group of assets is less than their carrying value.  If 
impairment exists, an adjustment is made to write the asset down to its fair value, Fair values are 
determined based on discounted cash flows or internal and external appraisals, as applicable.  Assets to be 
disposed of are carried at the lower of carrying value or estimated net realizable value. 

 
l)    Asset Retirement Obligations 

  
The Company accounts for asset retirement obligations in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 143 
“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”.  SFAS 143 requires the Company to record the fair value 
of an asset retirement obligation as a liability in the period in which it incurs a legal obligation associated 
with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction, development 
and/or normal use of the assets.  The management of the Company had estimated the asset retirement 
obligation to be immaterial and therefore was not reflected on the financial statements as of August 31, 
2008.  

 
m)   Comprehensive Income 

  
The Company has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130 (SFAS 130), Reporting 
Comprehensive Income, which establishes standards for reporting and display of comprehensive income, its 
components and accumulated balances.  The Company is disclosing this information on its Consolidated 
Statement of Stockholders’ Equity.  Comprehensive income comprises equity except those transactions 
resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners. 
 

n)    Concentration of credit risk 
 

The Company places its cash and cash equivalent with high credit quality financial institution.  As of 
August 31, 2008, the Company had approximately $nil in a bank beyond insured limit (August 31, 2007: 
$201,000). 

 
o)    New Accounting Pronouncements 

 
In May 2008, FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) APB 14-1, “Accounting for Convertible Debt 
Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlement)” (“FSP 
APB 14-1”). FSP APB 14-1 clarifies that convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon 
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either mandatory or optional conversion (including partial cash settlement) are not addressed by paragraph 
12 of APB Opinion No. 14, “Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt issued with Stock Purchase 
Warrants.”  Additionally, FSP APB 14-1 specifies that issuers of such instruments should separately 
account for the liability and equity components in a manner that will reflect the entity’s nonconvertible debt 
borrowing rate when interest cost is recognized in subsequent periods. FSP APB 14-1 is effective for 
financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within 
those fiscal years. We will adopt FSP APB 14-1 beginning in the first quarter of 2009, and this standard 
must be applied on a retrospective basis. The adoption of this statement is not expected to have a material 
effect on the Company’s financial statements. 

 
In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. 142-3, “Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets” 
(“FSP 142-3”). FSP 142-3 amends the factors an entity should consider in developing renewal or extension 
assumptions used in determining the useful life of recognized intangible assets under FASB Statement No. 
142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. This new guidance applies prospectively to intangible assets 
that are acquired individually or with a group of other assets in business combinations and asset 
acquisitions. FSP 142-3 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods 
beginning after December 15, 2008. Early adoption is prohibited. The adoption of this statement is not 
expected to have a material effect on the Company’s financial statements. 

 
In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, “The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles”. SFAS 162 identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the 
principles to be used in the preparation of financial statements of non-governmental entities that are 
presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. It is effective 
60 days following the SEC’s approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board amendments to 
AU Section 411, “The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles”. The adoption of this statement is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s 
financial statements. 
 
In March 2008, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 161 ("SFAS 161"), "Disclosures about Derivative 
Instruments and Hedging Activities". SFAS 161 requires companies with derivative instruments to disclose 
information that should enable financial-statement users to understand how and why a company uses 
derivative instruments, how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under FASB 
Statement No. 133 "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" and how derivative 
instruments and related hedged items affect a company's financial position, financial performance and cash 
flows. SFAS 161 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning 
after November 15, 2008. The adoption of this statement is not expected to have a material effect on the 
Company's future financial position or results of operations. 
 
In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 160, 
“Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements - An amendment of ARB No. 51”.SFAS 
160 requires companies with noncontrolling interests to disclose such interests clearly as a portion of equity 
but separate from the parent’s equity.  The noncontrolling interest’s portion of net income must also be 
clearly presented on the Income Statement.  SFAS 160 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2008. The adoption of this statement is not expected to have a material 
effect on the Company's future financial position or results of operations. 
 
In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 141,(revised 
2007), “Business Combinations”.  SFAS 141 (R) applies the acquisition method of accounting for business 
combinations established in SFAS 141 to all acquisitions where the acquirer gains a controlling interest, 
regardless of whether consideration was exchanged.  Consistent with SFAS 141, SFAS 141 (R) requires the 
acquirer to fair value the assets and liabilities of the acquiree and record goodwill on bargain purchases, 
with main difference the application to all acquisitions where control is achieved.  SFAS 141 (R) is 
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008.  The adoption 
of this statement is not expected to have a material effect on the Company's future financial position or 
results of operations 
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5. LONG TERM INVESTMENT 

On April 21, 2008, the Company purchased 900,000 shares for $45,000 in Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd. (“Pro Eco 
Energy”) which represented 8.25% ownership.  The Chairman of the Company’s Board is a Director in Pro Eco 
Energy which established the existence of significant influence in Pro Eco Energy and accordingly the equity 
method of accounting is adopted for the investment.  During the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008, the 
Company recorded $4,073 equity interest pick-up which represents the Company’s share of Pro Eco Energy’s 
net loss from its incorporation to August 31, 2008. 

OIL AND GAS PROPERTIES 

Queensdale, Saskatchewan (1A9-25) 

On April 16, 2007, the Company acquired a 25% (net 15%) before payout (“BPO”) (12.5% (net 7.5%) after 
payout (“APO”)) interest in Queensdale, Saskatchewan Project from 0743608 B.C. Ltd. (Assignor), a company 
controlled by a Director/CFO of the Company, for a total cost of CAD$250,000 and 500,000 shares of the 
Company’s common stock.  The Participation Agreement consists specifically of all (100%) of the Assignor’s 
interest in the Queensdale 1A9-25/4A2-25-6-2 W2M well; none (0%) of the Assignor’s interest in the 
Queensdale 4A9-25 / 2D15-25-6-2 W2M well; and one-half (50%) interest in the Farmout Land and the Option 
Land.  

 On April 18, 2007, 500,000 shares were issued at market value $0.55 per share giving a total of $275,000. 

The Company agrees but not limits to pay to the Assignor on monthly basis and within 5 business days of 
receiving the payment from net generated oil and gas revenue, a minimum of 80% of the payments received 
from net generated oil and gas revenue attributable to the Queensdale 1A9-25 / 4A2-25-6-2 W2M well, until 
such time as the full CAD$250,000 has been paid to the Assignor. 

 The total cost capitalized cost incurred for the oil and gas property was $487,097 which was attributed to the 
acquisition cost of the oil and gas property.  The Company applied the full cost method to account for this 
property. 

West Queensdale, Saskatchewan (HZ 4A9-25/3A15-25-6-2 W2) 
 
In connection with the acquisition of Target, the Company acquired another producing well at Queensdale, 
Queensdale West HZ 4A9-25/3A15-25-6-2 W2.  The well was drilled in February 2007 and was placed in 
production on May 15, 2007.  The Company has an 8% Gross Interest before payout (BPO) and 4% net interest 
after payout in this well. 
 
Wordsworth, Saskatchewan 
 
Through the Company’s subsidiary, Target, the Company owns a well working interest in Wordsworth, 
Saskatchewan, The Wordsworth property has one producing oil well which was drilled in May, 2006, and in 
which the Company has a 3.75% net interest.  This is a horizontal well called the Wordsworth East HZ 2A2-
23/3A11-14-7-3 W2, and was considered a new pool discovery. A second well on this property, the 
Wordsworth E. HZ 3B9-23/3A11-23-7-3 W2 located on the north side of the Wordsworth prospect area, was 
deemed not commercially viable as a producing oil well.  
 
Coteau Lake, Saskatchewan 
 
In connection with the acquisition of Target, the Company acquired certain working interest in Coteau Lake, 
Saskatchewan. 
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Coteau Lake is an exploration property and the Company has no producing oil or gas wells on this land at this 
time. The Coteau Lake exploration project covers 1,280 acres of land. The Company’s gross and net interest in 
this project is 50%. There has been historic oil production on the Coteau Lake project lands.   
 
On November 7, 2007, the Company’s subsidiary Target entered into a Letter of Intent (the “LOI”) with 
Primrose Drilling Ventures Ltd. (“Primrose”), a body corporate, having an office in the city of Calgary, in the 
Province of Alberta.  Pursuant to the LOI, the Target is the interest title holder of Saskatchewan Crown Land 
parcels 124, 125 and 126. 
Primrose elected to proceed with a 50/50 joint venture with Target by reimbursing Target for 50% of its land 
cost on parcels 124, 125 and 126 for CDN$26,590 (received) which is payable on signing within 15 days of the 
LOI.  Primrose would become operator of the project upon its acceptance of such appointment and agreement to 
assume the duties, obligations and rights of the operator.  A formal Participation Agreement (“Agreement”) 
which included the provisions of LOI has been entered between Target and Primrose.  Included in the 
Participation Agreement would be the Area of Mutual Interest (AMI) which would govern future land 
acquisitions and timeline set out in the LOI.  As at August 31, 2008, the Company was still in the process 
defining the first well exploration location. 
 
(c) Proved property 

 
Property August 31, 

2007 
Addition Depletion for 

the period 
Write down in 
carrying value 

August 31, 
2008 

      
Canada-Proved property  $   203,658  $110,231 $      (141,596) $    (45,352) $    126,941  

 
(d) Unproved property 
 

Property August 31, 
2007 

Addition Cost added to 
capitalized cost 

August 31, 
2008 

     
Canada –Unproved Property $          - $3,524,217 $              -  $      3,524,217  

 
The additions of the unproved property was resulted of the business acquisition occurred during the period.  The 
acquired unproven oil and gas properties of $ 2,615,139 have been recorded at amounts necessary to reflect 
temporary differences associated with the differences between their accounting and tax bases. As a result, these 
properties are recorded in the consolidated balance sheet at $ 3,377,843 with a corresponding deferred tax 
liability of $ 762,704 at the date of business acquisition.  Subsequent to the business acquisition, the Company 
incurred further $146,374 in the unproved property. 

Glen Park, Alberta 

On May 14, 2008 the Company was successful in acquiring one land parcel of 160 acres in the Glen Park area 
of central Alberta, Canada. The Company subsequently created a 50/50 Joint Venture with Vanguard 
Exploration to explore and develop the joint lands on Alberta Petroleum and Natural Gas Lease No. 
0408050364. The joint venture owns the Petroleum and Natural Gas rights below the base of the Mannville 
GRP to basement.  

On June 11, 2008 the Company was successful in acquiring two land parcels of 160 acres each in the Glen Park 
area of central Alberta, Canada. These 320 acres are believed to be prospective for reef development and the 
potential accumulation of oil deposits. Productive wells in the area have had production rates in excess of 200 
bop/d and in some cases with little associated water. The Company currently has a 100% interest in these two 
prospects. The Company continues to evaluate other opportunities in this and other areas. 
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7.  RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTION 

During the fiscal year ended August 31, 2008, the Company paid $24,000 (August 31, 2007: $19,080) 
consulting fees to two directors of the Company.  The Company incurred $6,155 (August 31, 2007: $6,365) 
office rent to companies controlled by directors of the Company. The Company paid $20,565 (August 31, 2007: 
$nil) to a company control by a director of the Company pursuant to a controller agreement entered with the 
related company.   

The amount due to related parties represents amount owed to a company controlled by a director of the 
Company in connection with the acquisition of working interest in Queensdale, Saskatchewan Project.  The 
amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and no specific term of repayment.  

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, $2,340 (August 31, 2007: $3,710) are payable to directors 
of the Company. 

8.   COMMON STOCK AND WARRANTS 
Common Stock      

On March 6, 2007, the Company issued total of 185,480 units at $0.25 per unit to directors of the Company. 
Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant with exercise price of $0.40 per share, 
expires on December 1, 2008. Units issued were revalued to their fair market value of common shares and share 
purchase warrants. The fair value of warrants has been estimated as of the date of issue using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model with expected volatility: 104.11%, risk-free interest rate: 3.77%, expected life: 1.75 years 
and dividend yield: 0.00%.  The fair value of each warrant has been estimated as $0.33 per warrant. For the year 
ended August 31, 2007, the Company recorded a total of $116,959 for stock based compensation expenses in 
connection with the revaluation of the units issued.  

On April 18, 2007, pursuant to an Assignment Agreement, the Company issued 500,000 shares to a director of 
the Company at market value $0.55 per share for a total value of $275,000.  (See Note 6) 

On April 19, 2007, the Company issued total of 200,000 units at $0.25 per unit to an arm’s length party. Each 
unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant with exercise price of $0.40 per share, 
expires on December 1, 2008.  

On August 31, 2007, the Company issued total of 1,200,000 units at $0.25 per unit for total proceeds of 
$300,000. Each unit is comprised of one restricted common share and one warrant to purchase one additional 
share of common stock at a price of $0.40, exercisable for a period of two years from the closing of this 
offering.  

On October 15, 2007, the Company entered into a share exchange agreement with Target Energy (“Target”), a 
private Nevada corporation, and the former shareholders of Target.  On November 30, 2007, the Company 
issued 13,810,000 shares of its common stock to the shareholders of Target and in so doing acquired 100% of 
all issued Target shares from those shareholders who had owned 13,810,000 shares of Target.   
Warrants 
A summary of the changes in share purchase warrants for the period ended August 31, 2008 is presented below: 

 Warrants Outstanding 
  Weighted Average 
 Number of Shares Exercise Price 
Balance, August 31, 2007   1,585,480   $    0.40 
Issued - - 
Balance, August 31, 2008 1,585,480 $    0.40 

 
The Company has the following warrants outstanding and exercisable.   
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August 31, 2008 Warrants outstanding and exercisable 
  Weighted Weighted 
  average average 
 Number remaining exercise 
Exercise price of shares contractual life price  
 
$0.40 

 
385,480 

 
0.25 years 

 
$     0.40 

$0.40 1,200,000 1.00 years $     0.40 
 
 
9.    STOCK OPTIONS 

 
On December 14, 2007, the Company granted 1,785,000 stock options to directors, officers, and consultants of 
the Company with exercise prices of $0.35 per share, expires over 5 years.  The vesting dates of options are as 
below: 

Vesting Dates Percentage of options granted 
December 14, 2007 25%  
December 14, 2008 25% 
December 14, 2009 25% 
December 14, 2010 25% 

 
For the year ended August 31, 2008, the Company recorded a total of $104,257 for stock based compensation 
expenses which has been included in consulting fees. 
A summary of the changes in stock options for the period ended August 31, 2008 is presented below: 

 Options Outstanding 
  Weighted Average 
 Number of Shares Exercise Price 
Balance, August 31, 2007 - $          - 
Granted 1,785,000 0.35 
   
Balance, August 31, 2008 1,785,000 $    0.35 

 
The fair value of each option granted has been estimated as of the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model with the following assumptions:  

 Period ended August 31, 2008 
Expected volatility 84.67% 
Risk-free interest rate 3.98% 
Expected life 5 years 
Dividend yield 0.0% 

 
A summary of weighted average fair value of stock options granted during the period ended August 31, 2008 is 
as follows: 

 
 
 
 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

Weighted 
Average 

Fair  
Value 

Exercise price is more than  the market price at grant date: 
$    0.35 $   0.12 

 
       The Company has the following options outstanding and exercisable:  
August 31, 2008 Options outstanding Options exercisable 
      
  Weighted Weighted  Weighted 
  average Average  Average 
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Range of Number remaining Exercise Number Exercise 
exercise prices of shares contractual life Price of shares Price  
      
$0.35 1,785,000 4.21 years 0.35 446,250 0.35 
      
 

10. COMMITMENTS - OTHER 

(a) The Company has entered into a month-to-month rental arrangement for office space in Kelowna, British 
Columbia, Canada for $525 (including $25 GST) per month.  

(b) On December 1, 2007, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with the president of the 
Company for corporate administration and oil and gas exploration and production consulting services for 
$2,000 per month on a continuing basis.  

(c) On March 2, 2008, the Company entered into a controller agreement with CAB Financial Services, a 
corporation organized under the laws of the Province of British Columbia.  CAB Financial Services is a 
consulting company controlled by the chairman of the board and chief financial officer of the Company. 

Pursuant to the controller agreement, CAB Financial Services will provide corporate accounting and 
controller services to the Company in consideration for the payment of CAD$3,675 (including $175 GST) 
per month, together with reimbursement for all travel and other expenses incurred by it.  

(d) On July 11, 2008, the Company entered into a Letter of Intent (“LOI”) which the Company wishes to 
purchase remaining ownership (91.75%) of Pro Eco Energy USA Ltd. and 100% ownership of Swiss Solar 
Tech for a total purchase price of $2,000,000 and 3,000,000 common shares of the Company.  As the date 
of the report, the Company has not yet entered into a definite agreement regarding to the above noted LOI. 
 
 

11. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 
 
The Company’s provision for income taxes is comprised of the following: 

      2008    2007   
             
  Current Tax Provision  $  Nil  $  Nil   
  Deferred Tax Provision  $  Nil  $  Nil   
  Tax Expense  $  Nil  $  Nil   
 

Rate Reconciliation  
Income taxes vary from the amount that would be computed by applying the statutory federal income tax 
rate of 34% for the following reasons:  

      2008   2007   
            
  U.S. Federal Statutory Rate  $  126,700  $  213,000   
  Non-deductible items   (36,800)   (137,000)  
  Changes in Valuation Allowance   (89,900)   (76,000)  
             
  Tax Expenses  $  -  $  -  

 
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to the Company’s deferred tax asset (liability) are as 
follows:  

      2008   2007   
            
  Net Operating Loss Carryforward  $  348,000   $  198,000   
  Tax Basis Less Than Accounting Basis For Oil and Gas Properties  (762,704)     -  
  Long term Investment  1,400     -  
  Valuation Allowance  (349,400)     (198,000)  
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  Deferred Tax Assets  $  (762,704)   $  -  

 
For tax purpose, as of August 31, 2008 the Company has operating loss carry forwards of approximately 
$1,025,000 which expire in 2025 through 2028.  

12. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

The Company’s business is considered as operating in one segment (Canada) based upon the Company’s 
organizational structure, the way in which the operation is managed and evaluated, the availability of 
separate financial results and materiality considerations. 

13. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

 Certain 2007 comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the financial statements 
presentation adopted for 2008. 

14. SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION ON NATURAL GAS AND OIL EXPLORATION, 
DEVELOPMENT AND PRODUCTION ACTIVITIES (UNAUDITED): 

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to proved oil and gas reserve quantities: 

The following summarizes the policies the Company used in the preparation of the accompanying natural 
gas and oil reserve disclosures, standardized measures of discounted future net cash flows from proved 
natural gas and oil reserves and the reconciliations of standardized measures from year to year. The 
information disclosed, as prescribed by the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 69, is an 
attempt to present the information in a manner comparable with industry peers. 

The information is based on estimates of proved reserves attributable to our interest in natural gas and oil 
properties as of August 31, 2008. These estimates were prepared by independent petroleum consultants, 
Chapman Petroleum Engineering Ltd.  Proved reserves are estimated quantities of natural gas and crude oil 
which geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future 
years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions. 

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows from production of proved reserves was 
developed as follows: 

  1.  Estimates are made of quantities of proved reserves and future periods during which they are expected 
to be produced based on year-end economic conditions. 

      
  2.  The estimated future cash flows are compiled by applying year-end prices of natural gas and oil 

relating to our proved reserves to the year-end quantities of those reserves. 
      
  3.  The future cash flows are reduced by estimated production costs, costs to develop and produce the 

proved reserves and abandonment costs, all based on year-end economic conditions. 
      
  4.  Future net cash flows are discounted to present value by applying a discount rate of 10%. 

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows does not purport, nor should it be interpreted, 
to present the fair value of our natural gas and oil reserves. An estimate of fair value would also take into 
account, among other things, the recovery of reserves not presently classified as proved, anticipated future 
changes in prices and costs, and a discount factor more representative of the time value of money and the 
risks inherent in reserve estimates. 
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The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to proved natural gas and oil reserves 
is as follows:  

     USD$  
  Future cash inflows  293,374  
  Future production costs  (140,105)  
  Future development costs  (6,582) 
  Future net cash flows  146,687  
  10% annual discount for estimated timing of cash flows  (19,746)  
  Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows  126,941  

Year-end price per Bbl of oil used in making these same calculations was $97.79.  

Estimated Net quantities of Natural Gas and Oil Reserves:  

The following table sets forth our proved reserves, including changes, and proved developed reserves at the 
end of August 31, 2008.  

              Natural     Crude Oil   
       Crude 

Oil
    Gas      Equivalents   

       (MBbls)     (MMcf)     (MBbls)   
  Proved reserves:                       
   Beginning of the year reserve    6.60     9.10     8.12   
   Purchases of reserves in place    2.74     -     2.74  
  Reserve Revision  (2.31)   (0.18)   

 

 (2.34)   
   Productions    (4.03)    (8.92)    (5.52)  
   End of year reserves    3.00     -     3.00   
                          
  Proved developed reserves:                       
   Beginning of the year reserve    6.60     9.10     8.12   
   End of year reserves    3.00     -     3.00   
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CERTIFICATE OF THE COMPANY 

Dated: July 31, 2010 

This prospectus constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities 
previously issued by the Issuer as required by the securities legislation of British Columbia 

“Robert McAllister”  “Bal Bhullar”  
Robert McAllister  Bal Bhullar 
President  Chief Financial Officer 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

“Chris Bunka”  “Robert McAllister”  
Chris Bunka  Robert McAllister 
Director  Director 

 
“Gerald Carlson”  
Gerald Carlson 
Director 

 
CERTIFICATE OF THE PROMOTER 

Dated: July 31, 2010 

This prospectus constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities 
previously issued by the Issuer as required by the securities legislation of British Columbia. 

“Chris Bunka”  
Chris Bunka 
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Schedule B 

Enertopia Corp. 

Additional Information 
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14. CAPITALIZATION 

14.1 Prepare and file the following chart for each class of securities to be listed:  

 
Issued Capital 
 Number of 

Securities 
(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully-
diluted) 

% of 
Issued 
(non-
diluted) 

% of 
Issued  
(fully diluted) 

Public Float 
 

    

Total outstanding (A)  15,710,240 18,310,240 85.8% 100% 
     
Held by Related Persons or 
employees of the Issuer or 
Related Person of the 
Issuer, or by persons or 
companies who beneficially 
own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% 
voting position in the Issuer 
(or who would beneficially 
own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% 
voting position in the Issuer 
upon exercise or conversion 
of other securities held) (B) 

 
 
 
5,714,573 
Mgmt 
 
7,983,323 
Total 
 
 
 

 
 
 
7,548,906 
Mgmt 
 
9,817,656 
Total 

 
 
 
36.4% 
 
 
50.8% 
 

 
 
 
41.2% 
 
 
53.6% 

     
Total Public Float (A-B) 7,726,917 8,492,584 49.2% 46.4% 

 
    

Freely-Tradeable Float 
 

    

Number of outstanding 
securities subject to resale 
restrictions, including 
restrictions imposed by 
pooling or other 
arrangements or in a 
shareholder agreement and 
securities held by control 
block holders (C)  

5,714,573 
management 
shares subject 
director/officer 
provisions; 
otherwise none. 

558,500 
shares 
issuable w/r 
to  warrants; 
2,042,500 
shares 
issuable w/r 
to options 

  

     

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 9,996,667 15,711,240 100% 100% 
 
 



D-1 

{WLMLAW W0063670.DOC} 

Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons other 
than persons enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. List registered holders 
only. 
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities
     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities  2  1,383 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  58  60,360 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  6  21,250 
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  4  39,532 
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  1  50,000 
     
5,000 or more  securities  81  15,537,715 
     
  152  15,710,240 
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Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 
 

Instruction: Include (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as 
registered shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an 
intermediary where the Issuer has been given written confirmation of shareholdings. For 
the purposes of this section, it is sufficient if the intermediary provides a breakdown by 
number of beneficial holders for each line item below; names and holdings of specific 
beneficial holders do not have to be disclosed. If an intermediary or intermediaries will 
not provide details of beneficial holders, give the aggregate position of all such 
intermediaries in the last line. 
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities
     
1 – 99 securities  We are not aware of 

any beneficial 
relationships. N/A 

  

     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities     
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     
     
5,000 or more  securities     
     
Unable to confirm     
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Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "non-public securityholders" are persons 
enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital  chart.  
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities
     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities     
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  1  1,000 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     
     
5,000 or more  securities  6  5,713,573  or 7,548,906fd 
     
    5,714,573  or 7,548,906fd 

 
14.2 Provide the following details for any securities convertible or exchangeable into any 

class of listed securities 
 
Description of Security 
(include conversion /  exercise 
terms, including conversion / 
exercise price) 

Number of convertible / 
exchangeable securities 
outstanding 

Number of listed securities 
issuable upon conversion / 
exercise 

Options Expiring December 
14, 2012 with $0.20 exercise 
price. 
 
Options Expiring October 22, 
2014 with $0.10 exercise 
price. 
 
Options Expiring December 
30, 2014 with $0.10 exercise 
price. 
 
Warrants Expiring May 31, 
2012 with $0.30 exercise price 
 

892,500 
 
 
 
500,000 
 
 
 
650,000 
 
 
 
558,500 

892,500 Common Shares 
 
 
 
500,000 Common Shares 
 
 
 
650,000 Common Shares 
 
 
 
558,500 Common Shares 
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14.3 Provide details of any listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included in 

section 14.2. 
 
 There are no options reserved for issuance at this time, nor any other securities not 

disclosed above. 
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CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, (full legal name of the 
Issuer), hereby applies for the listing of the above mentioned securities on CNSX.  The 
foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to 
(full legal name of the Issuer). It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and 
does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to 
prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the 
circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Kelowna BC and Vancouver BC 

this 31st  day of July, 2010. 

 

/s/ Robert McAllister  /s/ Bal Bhullar 

President  Chief Financial Officer 

   

/s/ Chris Bunka  /s/ Robert McAllister 

Promoter (if applicable)  Director 

   

/s/ Chris Bunka   

Director   

[print or type names beneath signatures] 

 




